University of Nottingham



School of Mathematical Sciences

# Homological and motivic invariants of torsors

Fabio Tanania

A thesis submitted to the University of Nottingham for the degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

06/01/2020

Alla mia famiglia

# Abstract

Many interesting objects in algebraic geometry arise as torsors of linear algebraic groups over a field. Some notable examples are provided by vector bundles, quadratic forms, Hermitian forms, octonion algebras, Severi-Brauer varieties and many others. The main aim of this thesis is to investigate torsors from a motivic homotopic perspective, by using Nisnevich classifying spaces and their characteristic classes. In order to do so, we will need a Gysin long exact sequence induced by fibrations with motivically invertible reduced fiber. The leading example is provided by the work of Smirnov and Vishik where they introduce subtle Stiefel-Whitney classes, by computing the motivic cohomology of the Nisnevich classifying spaces of orthogonal groups, with the purpose of studying quadratic forms.

In this work, we will mainly deal with spin groups and unitary groups. In particular, we will give descriptions of the motivic cohomology rings of their Nisnevich classifying spaces. These will provide us with subtle characteristic classes for *Spin*-torsors and for Hermitian forms. As a result, we will obtain information about the kernel invariant of quadratic forms belonging to  $I^3$  on the one hand, and of quadratic forms divisible by a one-fold Pfister form on the other. Moreover, in order to approach the case of Severi-Brauer varieties, we will develop a Serre spectral sequence induced by fibrations with motivically cellular fiber. This could be a successful approach to compute the motivic cohomology of the Nisnevich classifying spaces of projective general linear groups.

## Acknowledgements

First, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my PhD supervisor Alexander Vishik for his precious help and constant encouragement throughout these three years. He has generously shared with me his knowledge, experience and time, and I will always be grateful to him for this. Not a single sentence of this thesis would have been written without his careful support.

Then, I would like to thank all the amazing people I have met in Nottingham and that have made my experience here unforgettable. A special thanks goes to Casa Napoli: to Carmine, for our countless Tressette games (by the way, he is slowly getting better), to Eliana, for our dance, which I will never forget, and because doing crosswords with her is the funniest thing in the world, and to Mariele, who is probably the person most similar to me I have ever met. A warm thanks goes also to Davide, for his energetic vitality that was able to cheer me up even in the worst moments, to Giorgio, whom I have met in Nottingham only for a little time, but who has shown to be a true friend even in Naples, to Marco, with whom I share uncountable whisky drinking, to Mauro, who is one of the first persons I have met in Nottingham and is probably not aware of how much he has helped me with his friendship during these years, and to Nico, whose "epic" optimism has affected even a person like me, at least sometimes (although I will never forget our experience at the Lake District!).

I would also like to thank all friends back in Naples that have supported me for many years. In particular, a special thanks to Betty, who is the best friend a person could desire and I am so honored to be one of hers, to Davide, who, every time I go back to Naples, makes me feel like I have never left, to Fabri, for our neverending conversations about movies and music, to Mavi, whom I know since I was born and who has been my friend longer than anyone else, and to Vivi, for having helped me a lot facing my distance from home (I hope to have done the same for her).

Above all, I would like to thank my family that has always been by my side in every step I have taken: my mother and father, Teresa and Ciro, for being the solid pillars of my life and for their unconditional love, my sister Sara, with whom the bond of affection becomes stronger and stronger each year, and I am sure it will always be like this, and Dafne, for her infinite sweetness.

# CONTENTS

In	TRODUCTION	1
1	HOMOTOPIC AND MOTIVIC CATEGORIES	7
	1.1 Motivic spaces	8
	1.2 Simplicial homotopy category	10
	1.3 Unstable $A^1$ -homotopy category	12
	1.4 Stable $A^1$ -homotopy category	13
	1.5 Triangulated category of motives	15
	1.6 The motivic Steenrod algebra	18
2	CLASSIFYING SPACES AND CHARACTERISTIC CLASSES FOR TOR-	
	SORS	22
	2.1 Motives over a simplicial base	23
	2.2 Gysin long exact sequences in motivic cohomology	25
	2.3 Torsors and classifying spaces	30
	2.4 Subtle Stiefel-Whitney classes	36
3	SUBTLE CHARACTERISTIC CLASSES FOR SPIN-TORSORS	40
	3.1 The cohomology of $BSpin_n$ in topology	41
	3.2 The fibration $BSpin_n \rightarrow BSO_n \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	42
	3.3 The action of some Steenrod squares on $u_2$	44
	3.4 The motivic cohomology ring of $BSpin_n$	46
	3.5 Relations among subtle classes for $Spin_n$ -torsors	54
	3.6 The motivic cohomology of $BG_2$	56
4	SUBTLE CHARACTERISTIC CLASSES AND HERMITIAN FORMS	59
	4.1 Some generalities on Hermitian forms	60
	4.2 Cech simplicial scheme and Rost motive of a quadratic extension	1 61
	4.3 The motivic cohomology ring of $BU_n(E/k)$	66
	4.4 Comparison between $BU_n(E/k)$ and $BO(h_n)$	70
	4.5 Applications to Hermitian forms	76
5	A SPECTRAL SEQUENCE FOR MORPHISMS WITH MOTIVICALLY	
	CELLULAR FIBER	80
	5.1 Some general facts about spectral sequences	80
	5.2 A Serre spectral sequence for motivic cohomology	83
	5.3 The case of $PGL_n$	91
6	THE ACTION OF THE MOTIVIC STEENROD ALGEBRA ON ROST	
	MOTIVES	93

## Contents

6.1	Pfister quadrics and Rost motives	94	
6.2	The action of Steenrod operations on $\gamma$	96	
6.3	The action of the motivic Steenrod algebra	99	
Bibliography			

Motivic homotopy theory finds its roots in the groundbreaking work of Morel and Voevodsky (see [36]). It has been developed in the attempt of studying algebraic varieties with a certain flexibility, similar in some ways to the one of topological spaces. Indeed, due to the development of this theory, many topological techniques have been introduced in the algebro-geometric world, leading to undoubtedly extraordinary results. As a remarkable example of the power of this rather recent theory we can mention of course the proof of the Milnor conjecture (see [64]) and subsequently of the Bloch-Kato conjecture (see [65]) by Voevodsky jointly with Rost. In this new motivic homotopic environment one can find represented different cohomology theories for algebraic varieties, such as motivic cohomology, algebraic K-theory of Quillen (see [44]) and algebraic cobordism of Voevodsky, whose pure part is the algebraic cobordism of Levine and Morel (see [29]), corresponding respectively to ordinary cohomology, topological K-theory and complex cobordism in the classical topological world. Motivic homotopy theory has seen since its birth the development of surprisingly sophisticated techniques in a relatively short period of time. This is certainly a demonstration of the high potential of this theory to shed light on many longstanding problems in algebra, geometry and topology and to exploit and discover the deep interconnections among these mathematical areas, leading to new and interesting directions of research.

In this thesis, we will focus on a tiny but very interesting part of this vast universe, namely the classification of torsors of linear algebraic groups. Many newsworthy objects in algebra and geometry arise as torsors of some algebraic groups, for example vector bundles, quadratic forms, Hermitian forms, octonion algebras, Severi-Brauer varieties and so on. Therefore, having a robust theory to approach the classification of torsors would certainly bring in turn various interesting results about the above mentioned objects and many others.

In topology, the investigation of principal bundles of topological groups is of fundamental importance. Much study has been dedicated to it and several approaches have been implemented. One of these, which has shown incredible advantages, is the study of characteristic classes. In few words, for any topological group *G* one can construct a topological space *BG* such that all homotopic maps from the base space *X* to *BG* are in one-to-one correspondence with principal *G*-bundles over *X*. For this reason, *BG* deserves

the name of classifying space of the group G. Now, in order to produce invariants which are rich enough to detect interesting properties but sufficiently computable to provide an actual advantage, one can apply cohomological funtors to the homotopic maps representing the principal bundles. Essentially, for any cohomological functor and any pricipal G-bundle over X, one has a morphism from the cohomology of BG to the cohomology of X. The images of the cohomology classes of BG in the cohomology of Xprovide the needed invariants of the principal G-bundles, which are called characteristic classes. Hence, in order to produce these invariants, one first needs to compute the cohomology of the classifying space for a chosen cohomology theory.

Pursuing the classification of torsors of algebraic groups, one could follow the path indicated by topology. The first natural question to ask is: what is the space that deserves the name of classifying space? It turns out that the answer to this question in the motivic world is not univocal. Indeed, we have two candidates, the Nisnevich and the étale classifying spaces, both introduced by Morel and Voevodsky in [36], and in principle many others corresponding to different topologies on the site of smooth schemes over a certain base. These two types of classifying spaces are, in general, different from each other. Indeed, it has been proven that they coincide only for special algebraic groups, namely groups with no non-trivial torsors over the point. In practice, it is particularly interesting to study étale locally trivial torsors. For example, torsors over the point are all étale locally trivial for smooth algebraic groups. Then, the space that actually classifies them is the étale classifying space. So, one can obtain characteristic classes for étale locally trivial torsors by applying some cohomological functor to it.

From this perspective, much attention has been devoted to study étale classifying spaces and their Chow rings. In particular, the Chow rings of general linear groups, special linear groups and symplectic groups over complex numbers have been computed by Totaro in his enlightening work (see [53]). Then, the Chow rings of orthogonal groups over complex numbers appear in works of Totaro and Pandharipande (see [53] and [41]). Pandharipande also computed the Chow rings of odd special orthogonal groups and  $SO_4$  over complex numbers in [41]. Field completed the picture by computing in [13] the Chow rings of all even special orthogonal groups over complex numbers. Several results about the Chow rings of finite groups are provided by works of Guillot, Totaro and Yagita (see [18], [53] and [67]). The projective general linear case is notoriously more difficult. The Chow ring of the first non-trivial case, namely PGL<sub>3</sub>, over complex numbers has been computed, almost completely, by Vezzosi in [54]. Subsequently, using his stratification method, Molina and Vistoli computed in [33] the Chow rings of general linear groups, special linear groups and symplectic groups

over any field and of orthogonal groups and special orthogonal groups over fields of characteristic different from 2. Going back to the projective general linear case, Vistoli has given in [57] an almost complete description of the Chow ring of  $PGL_p$  over complex numbers, for p prime. Regarding the spin groups, Guillot computed almost completely the Chow ring of the first non-trivial case, namely  $Spin_7$ , together with the one of  $G_2$ , over complex numbers in [19]. Next, Molina obtained the almost complete description of the Chow ring of  $Spin_8$  over complex numbers in [32].

The situation for motivic cohomology is much more complicated. Very few results are known about the motivic cohomology rings of étale classifying spaces. The complete description is known for general linear groups, special linear groups and symplectic groups over any field from the work of Smirnov and Vishik (see [47]), since these are special algebraic groups and their étale and Nisnevich classifying spaces coincide. Yagita computed in [69] the motivic cohomology of the étale classifying spaces of orthogonal groups over complex numbers. Moreover, the case of the special orthogonal groups has been handled by Harada and Nakada in [20]. Besides, new studies on Chow-Witt theory have lead to interesting results about the Chow-Witt rings of special linear groups and symplectic groups by Hornbostel and Wendt in [21].

On the other hand, a systematic investigation of torsors by using Nisnevich classifying spaces instead of étale ones has been carried out by Smirnov and Vishik in [47]. In particular, with the purpose of classifying quadratic forms, they compute the motivic cohomology rings of the Nisnevich classifying spaces of orthogonal groups over fields of characteristic different from 2. These motivic cohomology rings are shown to be, exactly as in topology, polynomial rings over the cohomology of the point in some generators, called subtle Stiefel-Whitney classes. Unlike characteristic classes from the étale space, for any quadratic form, these subtle invariants take values in the cohomology of the Čech simplicial scheme associated to the respective quadratic form, which is highly non-trivial. The advantage is that in this way subtle Stiefel-Whitney classes see much more than the respective étale characteristic classes. However, they have the drawback to take values in different cohomology rings which makes it difficult to compare different quadratic forms. Anyway, these new invariants have proven to be powerful enough to see the triviality of a quadratic form, more precisely they see the power of the fundamental ideal of the Witt ring a quadratic form belongs to. Moreover, they are surprisingly related to the *J*-invariant of quadrics defined in [56] and they allow to give a description of the motive of the torsor associated to a quadratic form in terms of simpler pieces, namely motives of Čech simplicial schemes. Nisnevich classifying spaces have also been investigated from a motivic homotopic point of view

by Asok, Hoyois and Wendt in [3], [2] and [66], where they study in particular octonion algebras and *Spin*-torsors over low-dimensional schemes.

In this thesis, we will proceed further in the direction indicated by Smirnov and Vishik in [47]. In particular, we will generalise their technique for computing the motivic cohomology rings of the Nisnevich classifying spaces of orthogonal groups in order to produce Gysin long exact sequences for morphisms of simplicial schemes with fibers whose reduced motives are invertible. These will provide us with the major tool we will use throughout this work to prove our main results.

On the one hand, after noticing that the special orthogonal case does not differ much from the orthogonal one, in the sense that the motivic cohomology rings of the Nisnevich classifying spaces of special orthogonal groups are polynomial in all subtle Stiefel-Whitney classes except the first, we will move to the study of spin groups. This case is drastically more challenging since relations appear related to the action of the motivic Steenrod algebra on the second subtle Stiefel-Whitney class. In topology, the singular cohomology of the classifying spaces of spin groups has been completely determined by Quillen in [43]. With his result in mind, we will be able to compute a large part of the motivic cohomology of the Nisnevich classifying spaces of spin groups, which happens to be the same as in topology, and reduce the whole description to checking the regularity of a certain sequence in a polynomial ring over  $\mathbb{Z}$  /2. Moreover, from this result, we will deduce information on the kernel invariant of quadratic forms with trivial discriminant and Clifford invariant, namely Spin-torsors. Furthermore, from the motivic cohomology of the Nisnevich classifying space of Spin7 we will reconstruct the motivic cohomology of the Nisnevich classifying space of  $G_2$ .

On the other hand, we will get a complete description of the motivic cohomology rings of the Nisnevich classifying spaces of unitary groups of a quadratic extesion. We will see that these are not polynomial, in contrast to the respective topological counterparts. The main reason relies on the fact that the classifying space of the unitary group is not cellular and the Rost motive of the quadratic extension appears in the picture. This computation provides us with subtle invariants for torsors of the unitary group, namely hermitian forms. We will then compare these invariants to subtle Stiefel-Whitney classes and deduce information about the kernel invariant of quadratic forms divisible by a one-fold Pfister form. Moreover, we will show that, as subtle Stiefel-Whitney classes do for quadratic forms, these new subtle classes see the triviality of a hermitian form. Furthermore, we will express the motive of the torsor associated to a hermitian form in terms of its subtle characteristic classes. We want to notice now that we expect these subtle invariants for hermitian forms to be related to the *J*-invariant

of hermitian forms studied by Fino in [14], in analogy to the orthogonal picture.

If we want to approach the case of projective general linear groups, the Gysin long exact sequence in motivic cohomology is not enough anymore. With this in mind, we generalise the Gysin sequence to some spectral sequence for morphisms of simplicial schemes with fibers which are motivically cellular, in the sense that their motives are sum of Tates. This spectral sequence is similar to the Serre spectral sequence associated to a fibration in topology since it allows to reconstruct the motivic cohomology of the total simplicial scheme from the cohomology of the base and of the fiber. The main difference resides in how the filtrations inducing the spectral sequences are obtaind. In fact, while the Serre spectral sequence in topology is built up by filtering the base, our spectral sequence is instead obtained by filtering the fiber. We will see that this spectral sequence applies to the case of the projective general linear group. However, although we believe it could be a successful tool for getting some information about the motivic cohomology of the Nisnevich classifying spaces of projective general linear groups, we do not perform any of these computations in this thesis, since this research is still at an embryonic stage.

Slightly off the main topic of this work that, as we have discussed, mainly deals with torsors and subtle characteristic classes, at the end we will focus on Rost motives and Čech simplicial schemes of Pfister quadrics. In particular, we will investigate their deep connection with the motivic Steenrod algebra. Rost motives, Pfister quadrics and cohomology operations have shown to be fundamental for the proof of the Milnor conjecture (see [62]). At the end of this thesis, we will describe completely the action of the motivic Steenrod algebra on the motivic cohomology of the Čech simplicial scheme associated to a Pfister quadric. Due to this description, we will be able to present the motivic Steenrod algebra by a left ideal generated by some special cohomology operations. This could be the first step towards the analysis of some stable motivic homotopy groups of objects related to Rost motives.

We would like to finish this introduction by quickly summarising the contents of each chapter of this thesis. In the first chapter, we will just introduce all the homotopic and motivic categories we will need next. More precisely, we will present the category of motivic spaces, the simplicial homotopy category, the unstable and stable motivic homotopy categories and the triangulated category of motives. We will end this chapter by recalling the structure of the motivic Steenrod algebra together with some of its main features. The second chapter is devoted to the introduction of the

main techniques and objects we will study in this thesis. We will start by recalling the triangulated category of motives over a simplicial scheme, in order to be able to produce Gysin long exact sequences for morphisms with motivically invertible reduced fibers. Then, we will talk about torsors and classifying spaces, focusing in particular on the Nisnevich classifying space. At the end, we will concentrate on the orthogonal case, introducing subtle Stiefel-Whitney classes, as a leading example for everything we will do in the remaining part of this work. In the third chapter we will perform the computation for spin groups. We will recall Quillen's results in topology which we are inspired by, then prove some results on the action of the motivic Steenrod algebra on the second subtle Stiefel-Whitney class. This will lead us to the main theorem of this chapter, which describes a large part of the motivic cohomology rings of the Nisnevich classifying spaces of spin groups, reducing the complete computation to assessing the regularity of a certain sequence of polynomials. We will finish the chapter by finding some very simple relations for subtle Stiefel-Whitney classes of quadratic forms belonging to the cube of the fundamental ideal of the Witt ring. Moreover, we will describe the motivic cohomology of the Nisnevich classifying space of the exceptional group  $G_2$ . The fourth chapter is instead devoted to unitary groups. We will first recall well known results about Pfister quadrics and Rost motives of quadratic extensions and then compute some cohomology rings related to them. We will then move to the main result of the chapter, namely the computation of the motivic cohomology rings of the Nisnevich classifying spaces of unitary groups. Next, we will compare the new subtle classes arising from these cohomology rings to subtle Stiefel-Whitney classes. This will provide us with some information on the kernel invariant of quadratic forms divisible by a one-fold Pfister form. We will conclude with a few applications on hermitian forms. In the fifth chapter, we will generalise the above mentioned Gysin sequence by constructing a spectral sequence in some sense of Serre's type for morphisms with motivically cellular fibers. Then, we will see that this spectral sequence applies in particular to the case of projective general linear groups leading to a possibly helpful tool for computing the motivic cohomology of their Nisnevich classifying spaces, at least in some cases. The sixth chapter is devoted to describe completely the action of the motivic Steenrod algebra on Rost motives and Čech simplicial schemes of Pfister quadrics. In particular, we will present some well known cohomology rings as left-modules over the motivic Steenrod algebra.

## HOMOTOPIC AND MOTIVIC CATEGORIES

We start in this chapter by providing an introduction of the main categories we will work with. First, we will recall the construction of the category of *motivic spaces* (see [36]), which is the analogous in algebraic geometry of the category of topological spaces. Then, the *simplicial homotopy category* will be introduced, built up from the category of motivic spaces by inverting a special class of morphisms, called simplicial weak equivalences (see [36]). Next, we will deal with the unstable motivic homotopy category of Morel and Voevodsky (see [36]), constructed by, roughly speaking, contracting the affine line, in the same fashion as the unit interval is contracted in the topological homotopy category. We will continue on this path in parallel to topology by recalling the stable motivic homotopy category (see [25] and [9]), obtained by stabilising with respect to the projective line and, then, the triangulated category of motives (see [60]), which is a substitute in the motivic world of the derived category of abelian groups. These are all natural environments to study algebro-geometric problems from a homotopic perspective, since they allow, at different levels of complexity, richness and computability, to deal with algebraic varieties in a sufficiently flexible way, similar in some sense to the one characteristic of topological spaces. Furthermore, at the end, we will recall the structure and main properties of the *motivic Steenrod algebra* (see [22] and [61]), namely the algebra of bistable motivic cohomology operations, which will provide a fundamental tool we shall use frequently throughout this thesis.

Essentially, this chapter will serve the purpose of producing the right background and language for studying torsors of *linear algebraic groups over a field* by motivic homotopic means, such as classifying spaces and characteristic classes. In this sense, it contains well known definitions and results in the field of motivic homotopy theory that we will exploit in the following chapters.

#### 1.1 MOTIVIC SPACES

We want to begin this chapter by defining the category of motivic spaces, which all the other categories we will present later on are constructed from. The general idea is that, in order to do homotopy theory in algebraic geometry, one would like to work in a "nicely behaving" category of spaces which should be deeply related to the category of smooth schemes over a certain base. This category is what we shall call the category of motivic spaces, and it will serve as a motivic counterpart of the category of CW-complexes in topology. We will now recall a construction of this category on the lines of the groundbreaking work of Morel and Voevodsky (see [36]).

Let Y be a Noetherian scheme of finite Krull dimension. The category of smooth schemes of finite type over Y, which we will denote by Sm/Y, is not a good category on its own for homotopical purposes. One of the main reasons is that it is not closed under small colimits, which means in particular that it is not possible to do quotients in it. A standard way to solve this problem is to consider the category of presheaves on Sm/Y, which we will denote by Pre(Sm/Y). We know by Yoneda embedding that Sm/Y sits inside Pre(Sm/Y) by sending a smooth scheme X to the presheaf  $U \mapsto Hom_{Sm/Y}(U, X)$ . This category is large enough to contain all small colimits (and limits) but it does not pay any attention to any particular topology. For this reason, one would like first to choose a topology, which could be for example Zariski, Nisnevich or étale, and then consider sheaves in the respective site. This way one would add more colimits to the category of presheaves. We will be mainly interested in the Nisnevich topology, therefore we will focus on the category of Nisnevich sheaves over Sm/Y, which we will denote by  $Shv_{Nis}(Sm/Y)$ . Nisnevich sheaves are essentially presheaves which send elementary distinguished squares to cartesian squares of sets. We now recall the definition of elementary distinguished square.

**Definition 1.1.1.** An elementary distinguished square in Sm/Y is a square



where *j* is an open embedding, *p* is an étale morphism and the restriction of *p* to the complement of *U*, namely  $p^{-1}(X - U) \rightarrow X - U$ , is an isomorphism for the reduced structure.

Note that elementary distinguished squares are also pushout squares. It is desirable to work with a category of sheaves that send these pushout squares to cartesian squares of sets. This observation leads to the following definition of Nisnevich sheaves.

**Definition 1.1.2.** A presheaf F on Sm/Y is a Nisnevich sheaf if: 1)  $F(\emptyset) = pt$ ;

2) F sends elementary distinguished squares to pullback squares of sets



The category of Nisnevich sheaves is still not big enough to do homotopy. For example, we would like to have a simplicial category to work with. Hence, we enlarge  $Shv_{Nis}(Sm/Y)$  by considering the category of simplicial Nisnevich sheaves over Sm/Y.

**Definition 1.1.3.** The category of motivic spaces over the base scheme Y is the category  $\Delta^{op}Shv_{Nis}(Sm/Y)$  of simplicial Nisnevich sheaves over Sm/Y. We will simply denote this category by Spc(Y).

This category naturally contains Nisnevich sheaves over Y as constant simplicial Nisnevich sheaves and simplicial sets as simplicial constant Nisnevich sheaves. In particular, it contains algebraic varieties X over Y, which are represented in Spc(Y) by the simplicial Nisnevich sheaves whose simplicial components are all given by  $U \mapsto Hom_{Sm/Y}(U, X)$ .

Notice that, as we have already mentioned, this construction is possible with other topologies leading to different categories of motivic spaces, and subsequently to different homotopy theories.

Following the parallel with topology, there is a natural way to construct a category of pointed motivic spaces. Indeed, it is enough to consider the category of pointed simplicial Nisnevich sheaves.

**Definition 1.1.4.** The category of pointed motivic spaces over the base scheme Y is the category  $\Delta^{op}Shv_{Nis}(Sm/Y)_*$  of pointed simplicial Nisnevich sheaves over Sm/Y, i.e. simplicial Nisnevich sheaves F endowed with a morphism  $pt \rightarrow F$ . We will simply denote this category by  $Spc_*(Y)$ .

For any unpointed space *F*, we can consider its associated pointed space  $F_+ = F \amalg pt$ , obtained just by adding a point. Once we have pointed spaces we can define a smash product, just as in topology. More precisely, for any couple of pointed motivic spaces *F* and *G*, the simplicial sheaf  $F \land G$  is defined as the Nisnevisch sheafification of the presheaf  $U \mapsto F(U) \land G(U)$ . With the smash product just defined,  $Spc_*(Y)$  becomes a symmetric monoidal category with unit object  $S^0 = Y_+$ .

### **1.2 SIMPLICIAL HOMOTOPY CATEGORY**

The next natural step one needs to take in order to do homotopy in algebraic geometry is to provide Spc(Y) (and  $Spc_*(Y)$ ) with a model structure. In principle, there are several model structures available which will give at the end the same homotopy category. What follows is a recollection of the model structure considered in [36].

By a point *x* of the site Sm/Y endowed with the Nisnevich topology we mean a functor  $x^* : Shv_{Nis}(Sm/Y) \rightarrow Set$  from the category of Nisnevich sheaves over *Y* to the category of sets which commutes with finite limits and all colimits. We present now one of the possible definitions of a model structure on the category of motivic spaces.

**Definition 1.2.1.** A morphism  $f : F \to G$  in Spc(Y) is:

1) a weak equivalence if  $x^*f : x^*F \to x^*G$  is a weak equivalence of simplicial sets for any point x of Sm/Y;

2) a cofibration if it is a monomorphism;

*3) a fibration if it has the right lifting property respect to all acyclic cofibrations.* 

The following key result assures that, with the previous definition, motivic spaces are actually endowed with a model structure.

**Theorem 1.2.2.** The classes of weak equivalences, cofibrations and fibrations as defined above give Spc(Y) the structure of a proper model category.

*Proof.* See [36, Theorem 1.4], [24, Corollary 2.7] and [23].

This model structure on the category of motivic spaces is often called the simplicial model structure.

**Definition 1.2.3.** The homotopy category of the simplicial model category, obtained by inverting weak equivalences, is called the simplicial homotopy category over Y. We will denote this category by  $\mathcal{H}_s(Y)$  or  $\mathcal{H}_s((Sm/Y)_{Nis})$  if we want to stress the topology we are working with.

Analogously, it is possible to provide  $Spc_*(Y)$  with a simplicial model structure, by considering as weak equivalences, fibrations and cofibrations those morphisms of pointed motivic spaces which are respectively weak equivalences, fibrations and cofibrations of motivic spaces without base points. The resulting pointed simplicial homotopy category obtained by inverting weak equivalences will be denoted by  $\mathcal{H}_{s,*}(Y)$ . The smash product defined in the previous section provides  $\mathcal{H}_{s,*}(Y)$  with the structure of a symmetric monoidal category.

For any X in Sm/Y and any point x of X, let us denote by  $O_{X,x}^h$  the henselization of the local ring of X at x. Then, for any motivic space F,

 $F(Spec(O_{X,x}^{h}))$  is defined to be the colimit  $colim_{U}F(U)$ , where U runs over all the Nisnevich neighborhoods of x in X, i.e. étale morphisms  $g: U \to X$ endowed with a point  $u \in g^{-1}(x)$  such that the induced map on residue fields  $k(x) \to k(u)$  is an isomorphism. The next important result tells us that we can check simplicial weak equivalences by evaluating them on local henselian rings.

**Lemma 1.2.4.** A morphism  $f : F \to G$  in Spc(Y) is a simplicial weak equivalence if and only if for any X in Sm/Y and any point x of X the induced map  $F(Spec(O_{X,x}^{h})) \to G(Spec(O_{X,x}^{h}))$  is a weak equivalence of simplicial sets.

*Proof.* See [36, Lemma 1.11].

At this point we are ready to provide examples of simplicial weak equivalences that involve a very important class of simplicial schemes, notably Čech simplicial schemes.

**Definition 1.2.5.** For any smooth scheme X over Y the Čech simplicial scheme of X is the simplicial scheme  $\check{C}(X)$  with simplicial components given by  $\check{C}(X)_n = X_Y^{n+1}$  and face and degeneracy maps given by partial projections and partial diagonals respectively.

A fundamental property of Čech simplicial schemes we will often use in this thesis is the following.

**Lemma 1.2.6.** If  $Hom_{Sm/Y}(V, U) \neq \emptyset$ , then  $\check{C}(U) \times V \to V$  is a simplicial weak equivalence.

*Proof.* See [62, Lemma 9.2].

From the previous lemma one obtains the following useful result that holds if the base scheme *Y* is a point, i.e. Y = Spec(k) for some field *k*.

**Proposition 1.2.7.** For any pair of smooth schemes X and X' over k, we have that the following conditions are equivalent:  $X(E) = \int Q dx dx dx dx dx$ 

1)  $X(E) \neq \emptyset$  if and only if  $X'(E) \neq \emptyset$ , for each field extension E/k; 2)  $\check{C}(X) \cong \check{C}(X')$  in  $\mathcal{H}_s(k)$ .

*Proof.* See [47, 2.3.10 and 2.3.11].

In particular, the previous proposition assures that all Čech simplicial schemes are projectors in  $\mathcal{H}_s(k)$ , namely we have an isomorphism in the simplicial homotopy category  $\check{C}(X) \times \check{C}(X) \cong \check{C}(X)$  for any *X*.

# 1.3 UNSTABLE $A^1$ -Homotopy category

In topology, the homotopy category is obtained, roughly speaking, by contracting the interval [0, 1]. Till now we did not care about contracting any interval in the simplicial homotopy category. The core idea at the base of the  $A^1$ -homotopy theory of Morel and Voevodsky is that, pursuing this parallel path to topology, a good and natural candidate to consider as a substitute of the unit interval is the affine line  $A^1_Y$ , which for brevity we will denote by  $A^1$ . In this section we will recall their construction of the unstable  $A^1$ homotopy category. In order to do so, we need to define an  $A^1$ -structure in  $\mathcal{H}_s(Y)$ . First, we define  $A^1$ -local objects following [36].

**Definition 1.3.1.** A motivic space G is  $A^1$ -local if for any motivic space F we have a bijection

 $Hom_{\mathcal{H}_{s}(Y)}(F,G) \to Hom_{\mathcal{H}_{s}(Y)}(F \times A^{1},G)$ 

induced by the projection  $F \times A^1 \to F$ .

We are now ready to introduce  $A^1$ -weak equivalences.

**Definition 1.3.2.** A morphism  $f : F \to F'$  is an  $A^1$ -weak equivalence if for any  $A^1$ -local space G we have that the induced map

$$Hom_{\mathcal{H}_{s}(Y)}(F',G) \to Hom_{\mathcal{H}_{s}(Y)}(F,G)$$

is a bijection.

With this definition of weak equivalences in mind, it is possible to define a model structure on Spc(Y) which actually takes into account the affine line.

**Theorem 1.3.3.** The category Spc(Y) with weak equivalences given by  $A^1$ -weak equivalences, cofibrations given by monomorphisms and fibrations given by morphisms with the right lifting property respect to acyclic cofibrations is a proper model category.

*Proof.* See [36, Theorem 3.2]

**Definition 1.3.4.** The homotopy category we obtain from this model structure is called the unstable motivic or  $A^1$ -homotopy category. We will denote this category by  $\mathcal{H}_{A^1}(Y)$ .

As for the simplicial homotopy category, we have an analogous model structure on  $Spc_*(Y)$  which gives rise to a pointed  $A^1$ -homotopy category denoted by  $\mathcal{H}_{A^1,*}(Y)$ . The smash product on pointed motivic spaces defines a symmetric monoidal structure on  $\mathcal{H}_{A^1,*}(Y)$ .

At this stage, we are ready to present the characters that play the role of the spheres in this motivic setting. First, we need to mention that, unlike

the topological situation, in the motivic environment there are two types of circles, the simplicial circle  $S_s^1$  and the Tate circle  $S_t^1$ . The simplicial circle is just the pointed simplicial set  $\Delta^1/\partial\Delta^1$  sitting inside  $Spc_*(Y)$  while the Tate circle is the punctured affine line  $G_m = A^1 - 0$  pointed by 1. Smashing these two kinds of circles one obtains bigraded spheres  $S^{p,q} = S_s^{p-q} \wedge S_t^q$ .

On the other hand, let us consider the quotient  $A^1/(A^1 - 0)$ , which we will shortly denote by **T**. Namely, **T** is defined by the following pushout square of pointed simplicial Nisnevich sheaves

$$\begin{array}{c} A^1 - 0 \longrightarrow A^1 \\ \downarrow & \downarrow \\ Spec(k) \longrightarrow \mathbf{T} \end{array}$$

A classical result in motivic homotopy theory tells us that the space **T** is  $A^1$ -homotopy equivalent to the projective line  $P^1$  and to the bigraded sphere  $S^{2,1}$ . Namely, we have the following proposition.

**Proposition 1.3.5.**  $S^{2,1} \cong \mathbf{T} \cong P^1$  in  $\mathcal{H}_{A^1,*}(Y)$ .

Proof. See [36, Lemma 2.15 and Corollary 2.18].

## 1.4 STABLE $A^1$ -Homotopy category

Once one has an unstable homotopy category, the natural following step would be to stabilise it respect to a certain suspension in order to get a triangulated category. With this in mind, we want to achieve a stable motivic homotopy category by stabilising with respect to  $P^1$ , which plays the role of the sphere in topology, as we have already noticed in the previous section. A possible approach, following [59] or [25], is to obtain the pursued stabilisation by considering the category of **T**-spectra.

**Definition 1.4.1.** *A* **T**-spectrum is a collection of pointed motivic spaces  $E = \{E_m\}$  endowed with structure morphisms

$$\sigma_m:\mathbf{T}\wedge E_m\to E_{m+1}$$

A morphism  $f : E \to F$  of **T**-spectra is a collection of morphisms of pointed motivic spaces  $\{f_m : E_m \to F_m\}$  such that, for any m, the following square commutes

*The category of* **T***-spectra will be denoted by* Spt(Y)*.* 

For any pointed space *F* we will denote by  $\Sigma^{\infty}F$  the corresponding suspension **T**-spectrum, defined by  $(\Sigma^{\infty}F)_m = \mathbf{T}^m \wedge F$ .

**Definition 1.4.2.** *For any* **T***-spectrum E, the stable homotopy groups of E are the presheaves of groups defined by* 

$$\pi_{p,q}(E)(U) = \operatorname{colim}_n \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{H}_{A^1}(Y)}(S_s^{p-q+n} \wedge S_t^{q+n}, E_n(U))$$

This definition of stable homotopy groups allows to define a model structure on the category of motivic spectra.

**Definition 1.4.3.** A morphism  $f : E \to F$  of **T**-spectra is: 1) a stable weak equivalence if the induced morphism on stable homotopy groups  $\pi_{p,q}(E) \to \pi_{p,q}(F)$  is an isomorphism of presheaves of groups for any p and q; 2) a cofibration if it is a monomorphism at each level; 3) a fibration if it has the right lifting property with respect to all acyclic cofibrations.

The classes of stable weak equivalences, cofibrations and fibrations just defined actually provide the category of **T**-speactra Spt(Y) with a stable model structure.

**Theorem 1.4.4.** *The category of* **T***-spectra, together with stable weak equivalences, cofibrations and fibrations defined above, is a proper simplicial model category.* 

*Proof.* See [25, Theorem 2.9 and Lemma 3.7].

In a nutshell, by inverting stable weak equivalences we get the stable  $A^1$ -homotopy category.

**Definition 1.4.5.** The homotopy category associated to the stable model structure on the category of **T**-spectra is called the stable motivic or  $A^1$ -homotopy category over Y and will be denoted by  $SH_{A^1}(Y)$ .

From the fact  $S_s^1$  is a cogroup object in  $\mathcal{H}_{A^1}(Y)$  one has that hom-sets in  $\mathcal{SH}_{A^1}(Y)$  are always abelian groups since each **T**-spectrum is a two-fold simplicial suspension. It follows that the stable motivic homotopy category is additive and, moreover, triangulated. Indeed, one gets a triangulated structure by considering as shift the simplicial suspension, namely  $E[1] = S_s^1 \wedge E$ , and as distinguished triangles the triangles isomorphic to the cofiber sequences

$$E \xrightarrow{f} F \to Cone(f) \to S^1_s \wedge E$$

where Cone(f) is defined in Spt(Y) by the following pushout square



Among other advantages, the stable motivic homotopy category is the natural environment to deal with homology and cohomology. The main reason is that, actually, homology and cohomology theories are represented in  $SH_{A^1}(Y)$ . More precisely, we have that for any **T**-spectrum *E* the corresponding homology and cohomology are defined respectively by

$$E_{p,q}(F) = Hom_{\mathcal{SH}_{A^1}(Y)}(S^{p,q}, E \wedge F)$$

and

$$E^{p,q}(F) = Hom_{\mathcal{SH}_{+1}(Y)}(F, E(q)[p])$$

where by E(q)[p] we mean the **T**-spectrum  $S^{p,q} \wedge E$ . All homology and cohomology theories arising in this way are called *"large" theories*.

In particular, motivic cohomology, which is the main cohomology theory we will consider throughout this thesis, is represented by the motivic Eilenberg-MacLane spectrum  $H\mathbb{Z}$ , defined by

$$(\mathbf{H}\mathbb{Z})_m = L(A^m)/L(A^m - 0) \cong L((P^1)^{\wedge m})$$

where by L(X) we mean the sheaf that sends any smooth scheme U over Y to the free abelian group generated by the closed irreducible subschemes of  $U \times_Y X$  which are finite and surjective over a connected component of U, provided that the base scheme Y is regular (we will discuss better this sheaf in the next section). The assembly morphisms are given by the compositions

$$\mathbf{T} \wedge (\mathbf{H} \mathbb{Z})_m \cong P^1 \wedge L((P^1)^{\wedge m}) \to L(P^1) \wedge L((P^1)^{\wedge m})$$
$$\to L((P^1)^{\wedge m+1}) \cong (\mathbf{H} \mathbb{Z})_{m+1}$$

#### 1.5 TRIANGULATED CATEGORY OF MOTIVES

We have till now introduced the motivic counterparts of homotopic categories. At this point, we would like to complete this picture by showing the construction of a triangulated category which replaces somehow in the motivic setting the derived category of abelian groups in topology. As we will see, this provides a natural environment to work with motivic cohomology.

Fix a commutative ring with identity *R* and a regular Noetherian scheme *Y*.

**Definition 1.5.1.** For any U and V in Sm/Y define c(U, V) by

 $c(U, V) = \bigoplus R \cdot \{W \mid W \text{ integral closed subscheme of } U \times_Y V \text{ finite over } U \\ and surjective over a connected component of } U \}$ 

*Elements of* c(U, V) *are called finite correspondences from* U *to* V*.* 

Let  $\phi$  be a finite correspondence from U to V and  $\psi$  a finite correspondence from V to W. Then, one can define the composition  $\psi \circ \phi$  as the finite correspondence from U to W obtained by  $(p_U \times p_W)_*((p_U \times p_V)^*(\phi) \cap (p_V \times p_W)^*(\psi))$ , where  $p_U$ ,  $p_V$  and  $p_W$  are the obvious projections. With this composition one can construct the category of finite correspondences.

**Definition 1.5.2.** The category of finite correspondences with R-coefficients is the category whose objects are smooth schemes over Y and morphisms are finite correspondences. We will denote this category, which is naturally R-linear, by Cor(Y, R).

Note that there exists a motivic functor from Sm/Y to Cor(Y, R) sending each smooth scheme U to itself and each smooth morphism  $f : U \to V$  to its graph  $\Gamma_f$ .

**Definition 1.5.3.** A presheaf with transfers on Sm/Y is an R-linear contravariant functor from Cor(Y, R) to the category of R-modules. It will be called Nisnevich sheaf with transfers if the underlying presheaf of R-modules on Sm/Y is a sheaf in the Nisnevich topology.

The category of presheaves with transfers will be denoted by PST(Y, R) while the category of Nisnevich sheaves with transfers will be denoted by  $ST_{Nis}(Y, R)$ . Every smooth scheme V over Y is represented in PST(Y, R) by the presheaf with transfers L(V) defined by  $U \rightarrow cor(U, V)$ . Indeed, L(V) is a Nisnevich sheaf for any  $V \in Sm/Y$ .

**Theorem 1.5.4.** *The category of Nisnevich sheaves with transfers is abelian.* 

*Proof.* See [60, Theorem 3.1.4] and [8, Proposition 10.3.9].

Hence, one can construct its derived category of complexes of Nisnevich sheaves with transfers bounded from above, which we will compactly denote by  $D^{-}(ST_{Nis}(Y, R))$ . Then, we can consider its smallest thick subcategory  $\mathcal{E}(Y)$  containing the morphisms  $L(U \times A^{1}) \rightarrow L(U)$  for any smooth scheme U and closed under direct sums. Notice that the quotient category  $D^{-}(ST_{Nis}(Y, R)) / \mathcal{E}(Y)$  is the localization  $D^{-}(ST_{Nis}(Y, R))[\mathcal{W}(Y)^{-1}]$ , where  $\mathcal{W}(Y)$  is the class of morphisms which have cone in  $\mathcal{E}(Y)$ . Morphisms in  $\mathcal{W}(Y)$  are called  $A^{1}$ -weak equivalences.

**Definition 1.5.5.** The localization  $D^{-}(ST_{Nis}(Y, R))[W(Y)^{-1}]$  is denoted simply by  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y, R)$  and is called the triangulated category of motives over Y with *R*-coefficients.

Let  $\Delta^{\bullet}$  be the standard cosimplicial object defined by

$$\Delta^n = Y \times_{Spec(\mathbb{Z})} Spec(\mathbb{Z}[t_0, \dots, t_n] / \sum_{i=0}^n t_i - 1)$$

Then, if *F* is a presheaf with transfers we can consider its Suslin complex  $C_*(F)$  defined by  $C_n(F)(U) = F(U \times \Delta^n)$  endowed with differentials given by  $\sum_i (-1)^i \delta_i^*$ , where the  $\delta_i^*$  correspond to the boundary maps of  $\Delta^{\bullet}$ . If *F* is a Nisnevich sheaf with transfers, then one can easily see that its Suslin complex is a complex of Nisnevich sheaves with transfers.

**Definition 1.5.6.** For any smooth scheme X over Y, the motive of X is the object M(X) in  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y, R)$  corresponding to the Suslin complex  $C_{*}(L(X))$ . Indeed, M defines a functor from Sm/Y to  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y, R)$ .

The category of motives is moreover tensor triangulated (see [60] and [8]) with a tensor product which will be denoted by  $\otimes$ .

**Definition 1.5.7.** The thick subcategory of  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y, R)$  generated by motives of smooth schemes is denoted by  $\mathcal{DM}_{gm}^{-}(Y, R)$  and is called the category of geometric motives.

We will now recall the main properties of the triangulated category of motives (see [60] and [8]):

1) ( $A^1$ -homotopy invariance) the projection  $U \times A^1 \to U$  induces an isomorphism  $M(U \times A^1) \cong M(U)$ ;

2) (Kunneth formula)  $M(U \times V) \cong M(U) \otimes M(V)$ ;

3) (Mayer-Vietoris triangle) for any open cover  $\{U, V\}$  of a smooth scheme *X* there is a distinguished triangle

$$M(U \cap V) \to M(U) \oplus M(V) \to M(X) \to M(U \cap V)[1]$$

4) (vector bundle) for any vector bundle  $E \to X$  the induced map on motives  $M(E) \to M(X)$  is an isomorphism;

5) (projective bundle) for any projective bundle  $P \rightarrow X$  of rank *n* there is an isomorphism

$$M(P) \cong \bigoplus_{i=0}^{n} M(X)(i)[2i]$$

6) (Gysin triangle) for any closed immersion  $Z \rightarrow X$  of pure codimension c between smooth separated schemes of finite type there is a distinguished triangle

$$M(X-Z) \rightarrow M(X) \rightarrow M(Z)(c)[2c] \rightarrow M(X-Z)[1]$$

7) (cancellation) If *Y* is a perfect field, then for any *M* and *N* in  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y, R)$  the natural map

$$Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y,R)}(M,N) \to Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y,R)}(M(1),N(1))$$

is an isomorphism;

8) (Chow motives) for any pair of smooth projective schemes U and V, where U has pure relative dimension d over Y, there is an isomorphism

$$Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y,R)}(M(U),M(V)) \cong CH^{d}(U \times V)$$

**Definition 1.5.8.** The motive of Y, considered over itself with the identity morphism, will be denoted by T and will be called the trivial Tate motive.

For any smooth scheme X over Y, we have a morphism  $M(X) \to T$  in  $\mathcal{DM}^-_{eff}(Y, R)$ . We define the reduced motive of X as  $Cone(M(X) \to T)[-1]$  and we will denote it by  $\widetilde{M}(X)$ .

As a particular case, we have a distinguished triangle

 $M(G_m) \to T \to \widetilde{M}(G_m)[1] \to M(G_m)[1]$ 

which is split since there is a morphism from Y to  $G_m$ . Then, we will define the Tate motive T(1) to be  $\widetilde{M}(G_m)[-1]$ . Hence,  $M(G_m) = T \oplus T(1)[1]$ . This leads to the definition of Tate motives with various shifts simply by imposing  $T(q) = T(1)^{\otimes q}$ .

The power of the triangulated category of motives is, for example, stressed by the fact that motivic cohomology is represented in  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y, R)$ . Indeed, we have that

$$H^{p,q}(X,R) = Hom_{\mathcal{DM}^-_{eff}(Y,R)}(M(X),T(q)[p])$$

The following fundamental result computes the motivic cohomology with  $\mathbb{Z}$  /2-coefficients of the point, which we will compactly denote by *H* for the rest of this thesis.

**Theorem 1.5.9.** We have that  $H = K^M(k)/2[\tau]$ , where  $K^M(k)$  is the Milnor *K*-theory of k and  $\tau$  is the non-trivial cohomology class in bidegree (1)[0].

*Proof.* See [62].

We end this section with a result that claims the triviality in certain regions of the motivic cohomology of a smooth simplicial scheme.

**Proposition 1.5.10.** Let  $X_{\bullet}$  be a smooth simplicial scheme over k. Then, the motivic cohomology group  $H^{p,q}(X_{\bullet}, \mathbb{Z})$  is zero in the following cases:

1) q < 0;2) q = 0 and p < 0;3) q = 1 and  $p \le 0.$ 

*Proof.* See [58, Corollary 2.2].

#### 1.6 THE MOTIVIC STEENROD ALGEBRA

Cohomology operations are pivotal tools for the study of algebro-geometric problems from a motivic homotopic point of view. As in topology, they enrich the structure of motivic cohomology rings, which are naturally left modules over the algebra of stable cohomology operations. This algebra is called motivic Steenrod algebra and shares some of its main features, which we will recall in this section, with its classical topological counterpart. Since in this thesis we will mainly consider motivic cohomology rings with  $\mathbb{Z}$  /2-coefficients, this section will report only results about the mod 2 motivic Steenrod algebra.

We fix for the rest of this section the base scheme Y to be a point Spec(k) for some field k of characteristic different from 2. We recall that in [61] there is a construction of Steenrod squares  $Sq^i$  for fields of characteristic 0 which is generalised to fields of any characteristic different from 2 in [22].

**Definition 1.6.1.** The motivic Steenrod algebra that we will denote by A is the subalgebra of the algebra of bistable operations in mod 2 motivic cohomology generated over H by the Steenrod squares  $Sq^i$  of bidegree ([i/2])[i] for any  $i \ge 0$ .

The following important result tells us that indeed A contains all bistable cohomology operations.

**Theorem 1.6.2.** A is the algebra of bistable cohomology operations in mod 2 motivic cohomology.

*Proof.* See [22, Theorem 1.1] and [64, Theorem 3.49].

Notice that, unlike in topology, the action of the motivic Steenrod algebra on the cohomology of the point is non-trivial. In fact, we have that  $Sq^1(\tau) = \rho$ , where  $\rho$  is the class of -1 in the first Milnor K-group of k modulo 2.

We have the following important result which describes essentially all relations between Steenrod squares.

**Theorem 1.6.3.** (Adem relations) In A we have the following relations for any a < 2b:

1) if a and b are even

$$Sq^{a}Sq^{b} = \sum_{c=0}^{[a/2]} \tau^{c \mod 2} {b-c-1 \choose a-2c} Sq^{a+b-c}Sq^{c}$$

2) if a is even and b is odd

$$Sq^{a}Sq^{b} = \sum_{c=0}^{[a/2]} {\binom{b-c-1}{a-2c}} Sq^{a+b-c}Sq^{c} + \sum_{c=0,c \text{ odd}}^{[a/2]} \rho {\binom{b-c-1}{a-2c}} Sq^{a+b-c-1}Sq^{c}$$

3) if a is odd and b is even

$$Sq^{a}Sq^{b} = \sum_{c=0}^{[a/2]} {\binom{b-c-1}{a-2c}} Sq^{a+b-c}Sq^{c} + \sum_{c=0,c \text{ odd}}^{[a/2]} \rho {\binom{b-c-1}{a-2c-1}} Sq^{a+b-c-1}Sq^{c}$$

4) if a and b are odd

$$Sq^{a}Sq^{b} = \sum_{c=0}^{\left[a/2\right]} {b-c-1 \choose a-2c} Sq^{a+b-c}Sq^{c}$$

*Proof.* See [22, Theorem 5.1] and [61, Theorem 10.2].

As in topology, it follows from Adem relations the following useful corollary that provides a set of generators of A as an *H*-algebra.

**Corollary 1.6.4.** *A* is generated as an algebra over *H* by the Steenrod squares  $Sq^{2^i}$  for any  $i \ge 0$ .

The following proposition describes the behaviour of Steenrod squares respect to the cup product in motivic cohomology.

**Proposition 1.6.5.** (*Cartan formula*)

$$Sq^{2n}(xy) = \sum_{i} \tau^{i \mod 2} Sq^{i}(x) Sq^{2n-i}(y)$$
$$Sq^{1}(xy) = Sq^{1}(x)y + xSq^{1}(y)$$

*Proof.* See [61, Proposition 9.7].

Other important properties that we are going to use in this thesis are summarised in the following two results.

**Lemma 1.6.6.** For any x in bidegree (n)[2n] one has that  $Sq^{2n}(x) = x^2$ .

*Proof.* See [61, Lemma 9.8].

**Lemma 1.6.7.** For any x in bidegree (q)[p] one has that  $Sq^{2n}(x) = 0$  for any n > p - q and  $n \ge q$ .

*Proof.* See [61, Lemma 9.9].

Now, we recall the structure of the dual of the motivic Steenrod algebra  $\mathcal{A}_{*,*}$ .

**Theorem 1.6.8.** The dual of the motivic Steenrod algebra  $A_{*,*}$  is isomorphic to the graded commutative H-algebra generated by elements  $\tau_i$ , for  $i \ge 0$ , in bidegree  $(2^i - 1)[2^{i+1} - 1]$  and  $\xi_i$ , for i > 0, in bidegree  $(2^i - 1)[2^{i+1} - 2]$  subject to relations  $\tau_i^2 = \tau \xi_{i+1} + \rho \tau_{i+1} + \rho \tau_0 \xi_{i+1}$  for any  $i \ge 0$ .

*Proof.* See [22, Theorem 5.6] and [61, Theorem 12.6].

In the Steenrod algebra there are very special operations, namely the Milnor operations  $Q_j$ , which have shown to be invaluable tools for the proof of the Milnor conjecture (see [62]) and of the Bloch-Kato conjecture (see [65]).

**Definition 1.6.9.**  $Q_j$  is the element in A dual with respect to the standard skewpolynomial basis to the element  $\tau_j$  in  $A_{*,*}$ .

Following [28, Remark 5], they can also be defined inductively by

$$Q_0 = Sq^1$$

and

$$Q_{j} = Sq^{2^{j}}Q_{j-1} + Q_{j-1}Sq^{2^{j}} + \rho Sq^{2^{j-1}}Q_{j-1}Q_{j-2}$$

The following result recapitulates the main features of Milnor operations.

**Proposition 1.6.10.**  $Q_j^2 = 0$  and  $[Q_i, Q_j] = 0$ , *i.e.* Milnor operations generate an exterior subalgebra in A.

*Proof.* See [61, Proposition 13.4].

We finish this section by noticing that, when -1 is a square in the base field, i.e.  $\rho = 0$  in *H*, the behaviour of the motivic Steenrod algebra is particularly similar to the topological one's. For example, when  $\rho$  is zero, the action of the motivic Steenrod algebra on the cohomology of the point is indeed trivial and the Milnor operations can be just defined by the usual recursive formula

$$Q_j = [Sq^{2^j}, Q_{j-1}]$$

well known from topology.

## CLASSIFYING SPACES AND CHARACTERISTIC CLASSES FOR TORSORS

The principal aim of this thesis is to make a few steps forward in the investigation of torsors from a motivic homotopic point of view. In a nutshell, we will compute the motivic cohomology rings of some classifying spaces where characteristic classes for torsors come from.

In order to do so, we first need to recall definitions and main properties of motivic categories over a simplicial base (see [63]). These triangulated categories of motives constitute the right environment to work with fibrations of simplicial schemes with reduced fibers which are motivically invertible. This study will lead us to the construction in good generality of long exact sequences in motivic cohomology of the same type of *Gysin long exact sequences* for spherical fibrations in topology.

After having dealt with the necessary general results that will enable further computations, we will present the main characters of this thesis, i.e. *torsors of linear algebraic groups*. Then, we will introduce *Nisnevich* and *étale classifying spaces* (see [36]). In particular, we will highlight their deep connection and prove some of their main features, which will be used often in the next chapters. We will see that some specific morphisms of classifying spaces meet exactly the conditions required to produce the above mentioned Gysin sequences. This will constitute the main technique we are going to use in order to obtain the description of the motivic cohomology rings of certain Nisnevich classifying spaces, which will provide us with *subtle invariants* for certain types of torsors.

At the end of this chapter, we will recall, as a leading example, the case of orthogonal groups, whose torsors over the point are *quadratic forms*, studied by Smirnov and Vishik in [47]. Our future results are modelled on and find their roots in the just mentioned orthogonal case.

#### 2.1 MOTIVES OVER A SIMPLICIAL BASE

The main purpose of this section is to recall some key definitions and results regarding the triangulated category of motives over a simplicial base, which will be a pivotal tool for our computations.

Let us fix a smooth simplicial scheme  $Y_{\bullet}$  over k and a commutative ring with identity R. Following [63], we will denote by  $Sm/Y_{\bullet}$  the category whose objects are given by pairs (U, j), where j is a non-negative integer and U is a smooth scheme over  $Y_j$ , and whose morphisms from (U, j) to (V, i) are given by pairs  $(f, \theta)$ , where  $\theta : [i] \to [j]$  is a simplicial map and  $f : U \to V$  is a morphism of schemes, such that the following diagram is commutative



The definition of motivic spaces over simplicial schemes then is essentially the same of spaces over schemes given in section 1.

**Definition 2.1.1.** We will denote by  $Spc(Y_{\bullet}) = \Delta^{op}Shv_{Nis}(Sm/Y_{\bullet})$  the category of motivic spaces over  $Y_{\bullet}$  and by  $Spc_*(Y_{\bullet})$  its pointed counterpart, consisting respectively of unpointed and pointed simplicial Nisnevich sheaves over  $Sm/Y_{\bullet}$ .

For any morphism  $f : F \to G$  in  $Spc_*(Y_{\bullet})$  there is a cofiber sequence

$$F \to G \to Cone(f) \to S^1_s \wedge F$$

where Cone(f) is defined by the following pushout diagram in  $Spc_*(Y_{\bullet})$ 



**Definition 2.1.2.** A presheaf with transfers on the simplicial scheme  $Y_{\bullet}$  is given by a collection  $\{F_i\}_{i\geq 0}$  of presheaves with transfers on  $Sm/Y_i$  respectively together with a morphism of presheaves with transfers  $F_{\theta} : Y_{\theta}^*(F_i) \to F_j$  for any simplicial map  $\theta : [i] \to [j]$ , such that  $F_{id} = id$  and  $F_{\phi\psi} : Y_{\phi\psi}^*(F_i) \to F_k$  is equal to the composition of  $Y_{\phi}^*F_{\psi} : Y_{\phi}^*Y_{\psi}^*(F_i) \to Y_{\phi}^*(F_j)$  and  $F_{\phi} : Y_{\phi}^*(F_j) \to F_k$ , where  $\phi : [j] \to [k]$  and  $\psi : [i] \to [j]$  are simplicial maps.

For any (V, i) in  $Sm/Y_{\bullet}$ , let L(V, i) be the presheaf with transfers on  $Y_{\bullet}$  whose *j*-th component is given by

$$L(V,i)_j = \bigoplus_{\theta:[i]\to[j]} L(V\times_{\theta} Y_j)$$

where  $V \times_{\theta} Y_i$  is defined via the pullback square



for any simplicial map  $\theta : [i] \to [j]$ .

We will denote by  $PST(Y_{\bullet}, R)$  the category of presheaves with transfers over  $Y_{\bullet}$  with *R*-coefficients and by  $Cor(Y_{\bullet}, R)$  its full subcategory generated by all possible direct sums of objects of the type L(V, i).

**Lemma 2.1.3.** The category  $PST(Y_{\bullet}, R)$  is naturally equivalent to the category of *R*-linear contravariant functors from  $Cor(Y_{\bullet}, R)$  to the category of *R*-modules.

*Proof.* See [63, Lemma 2.3].

For any *i* consider the functor  $r_i : Cor(Y_i, R) \to Cor(Y_{\bullet}, R)$  which sends *V* to L(V, i). These functors  $r_i$  induce in the standard way a pair of adjoint functors

$$PST(Y_{\bullet}, R)$$
$$r_{i,\#} \uparrow \downarrow r_i^*$$
$$PST(Y_i, R)$$

Sheafifying in the Nisnevich topology we get the category of Nisnevich sheaves with transfers over  $Y_{\bullet}$ , which we will denote by  $ST_{Nis}(Y_{\bullet}, R)$ . Let  $\mathcal{E}_i(Y_{\bullet})$  be the class in  $PST(Y_{\bullet})$  obtained as  $r_{i,\#}(\mathcal{E}(Y_i))$ , where  $\mathcal{E}(Y_i)$  has been defined in Section 1.5, and  $\mathcal{E}(Y_{\bullet})$  be the smallest thick subcategory of  $PST(Y_{\bullet})$  containing all  $\mathcal{E}_i(Y_{\bullet})$  and closed under direct sums. A morphism in  $D^-(ST_{Nis}(Y_{\bullet}, R))$  is called an  $A^1$ -weak equivalence if its cone lives in  $\mathcal{E}(Y_{\bullet})$ . Let us denote by  $\mathcal{W}(Y_{\bullet})$  the class of  $A^1$ -weak equivalences.

**Definition 2.1.4.** The triangulated category of motives over the simplicial scheme  $Y_{\bullet}$  is the localization of  $D^{-}(ST_{Nis}(Y_{\bullet}, R))$  with respect to  $A^{1}$ -weak equivalences, *i.e.*  $D^{-}(ST_{Nis}(Y_{\bullet}, R))[W(Y_{\bullet})^{-1}]$ . We will denote this category by  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_{\bullet}, R)$ .

This category of motives over a simplicial base is a tensor triangulated category. One of the main properties of this category is the following.

## Proposition 2.1.5.

$$H^{p,q}(Y_{\bullet}, R) = Hom_{\mathcal{DM}^-_{eff}(Y_{\bullet}, R)}(T, T(q)[p])$$

*Proof.* See [63, Proposition 5.3].

We notice that every cofiber sequence in  $Spc_*(Y_{\bullet})$  induces a distinguished triangle in  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^-(Y_{\bullet}, R)$ . Besides, attached to this category there is a sequence of restriction functors

$$r_i^*: \mathcal{DM}_{\rho ff}^-(Y_{\bullet}, R) \to \mathcal{DM}_{\rho ff}^-(Y_i, R)$$

induced by the funtors above defined on the categories of presheaves with transfers. The image of a motive  $N \in \mathcal{DM}^-_{eff}(Y_{\bullet}, R)$  under  $r_i^*$  will be simply denoted by  $N_i$ . Furthermore, we have the following adjunction for any morphism  $p: Y_{\bullet} \to Y'_{\bullet}$  of smooth simplicial schemes

$$\mathcal{DM}^{-}_{eff}(Y_{\bullet}, R)$$
$$Lp^{*} \uparrow \downarrow Rp_{*}$$
$$\mathcal{DM}^{-}_{eff}(Y'_{\bullet}, R)$$

In the case that p is smooth, together with the previous one, there is also the following adjunction

$$\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_{\bullet}, R)$$
$$Lp_{\#} \downarrow \uparrow p^{*}$$
$$\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_{\bullet}', R)$$

We finish this section by noticing that, for any smooth simplicial scheme  $Y_{\bullet}$  over k, we have a pair of adjoint functors

$$\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_{\bullet}, R)$$
$$Lc_{\#} \downarrow \uparrow c^{*}$$
$$\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(k, R)$$

where  $c : Y_{\bullet} \to Spec(k)$  is the projection to the base. Then,  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_{\bullet}, R)$  contains Tate objects which are defined by  $T(q)[p] = c^{*}(T(q)[p])$ . In general, for any motive M in  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(k, R)$  we will also denote by M its image  $c^{*}(M)$  in  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_{\bullet}, R)$ .

#### 2.2 GYSIN LONG EXACT SEQUENCES IN MOTIVIC COHOMOLOGY

We report below some results about the category of motives over a simplicial base which will be central throughout this thesis in order to deal with fibrations with motivically invertible reduced fibers.

First of all, we recall some facts about coherence taken from [47].

**Definition 2.2.1.** A smooth coherent morphism is a smooth morphism  $\pi : X_{\bullet} \to Y_{\bullet}$  such that there is a cartesian diagram



for any simplicial map  $\theta : [i] \rightarrow [j]$ .

**Definition 2.2.2.** A motive N in  $\mathcal{DM}^-_{eff}(Y_{\bullet}, R)$  is said to be coherent if all simplicial morphisms  $\theta : [i] \to [j]$  induce structural isomorphisms  $N_{\theta} : LY^*_{\theta}(N_i) \to N_j$ .

The full subcategory of  $\mathcal{DM}^-_{eff}(Y_{\bullet}, R)$  whose objects are coherent motives will be denoted by  $\mathcal{DM}^-_{coh}(Y_{\bullet}, R)$ . The fact that  $LY^*_{\theta}$  is a triangulated functor implies that  $\mathcal{DM}^-_{coh}(Y_{\bullet}, R)$  is closed under taking cones and arbitrary direct sums. On the other hand, we have that  $L\pi_{\#}$  maps coherent objects to coherent ones for any smooth coherent morphism  $\pi$ . Hence,  $M(X_{\bullet} \xrightarrow{\pi} Y_{\bullet})$ is a coherent motive, where by  $M(X_{\bullet} \xrightarrow{\pi} Y_{\bullet})$  we mean the image  $L\pi_{\#}(T)$  of the trivial Tate motive.

We are now ready to report some technical propositions which will enable us to work quite confidently with fibrations of simplicial schemes with motivically invertible reduced fibers. Before stating the results, we define the simplicial set  $CC(Y_{\bullet})$  by applying to  $Y_{\bullet}$  the functor *CC* which sends each connected component of each  $Y_i$  to the point and commutes with colimits.

**Proposition 2.2.3.** Suppose that  $H^1(CC(Y_{\bullet}), R^{\times}) = 0$ . Let *T* be the trivial Tate motive and  $N \in \mathcal{DM}^-_{coh}(Y_{\bullet}, R)$  be such a motive that its graded components  $N_i \in \mathcal{DM}^-_{eff}(Y_i, R)$  are isomorphic to *T*. Then *N* is isomorphic to *T*.

Proof. See [47, Proposition 3.1.5].

From the previous proposition we immediately deduce the following corollary which is a generalisation for all invertible motives.

**Corollary 2.2.4.** Suppose that  $H^1(CC(Y_{\bullet}), R^{\times}) = 0$ . Let M be an invertible motive in  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^-(k, R)$  and  $N \in \mathcal{DM}_{coh}^-(Y_{\bullet}, R)$  be such a motive that its graded components  $N_i \in \mathcal{DM}_{eff}^-(Y_i, R)$  are isomorphic to M. Then N is isomorphic to M.

*Proof.* Consider the motive  $N \otimes M^{-1}$  in  $\mathcal{DM}^{-}_{eff}(Y_{\bullet}, R)$ . We notice that

 $(N \otimes M^{-1})_i \cong N_i \otimes M^{-1} \cong M \otimes M^{-1} \cong T$ 

and, for any simplicial map  $\theta : [i] \rightarrow [j]$ , the morphisms

$$LY^*_{\theta}((N \otimes M^{-1})_i) \to (N \otimes M^{-1})_i$$

are nothing else but the isomorphisms  $(LY^*_{\theta}(N_i) \to N_j) \otimes M^{-1}$ . Then, it follows from Proposition 2.2.3 that  $N \otimes M^{-1} \cong T$ , which completes the proof.

Notice that the condition  $H^1(CC(Y_{\bullet}), R^{\times}) = 0$  is automatically satisfied if  $R = \mathbb{Z}/2$ , which is the case we will be mainly interested in.

Recall that, in topology, for a spherical fibration

$$S^{n-1} \to E \to B$$

there exists a long exact sequence of cohomology groups

$$\cdots \to H^{*-1}(E) \to H^{*-n}(B) \to H^*(B) \to H^*(E) \to \dots$$

called *Gysin sequence*, where the middle morphism is the multiplication by a certain class in the cohomology of the base space (see for example [50, Section 15.30]).

Now, we want to present the core technique inspired by [47] we will use in this thesis. This result allows to generate long exact sequences in motivic cohomology associated to fibrations with reduced fibers which are motivically invertible, of the same nature of Gysin sequences for sphere bundles in topology.

**Proposition 2.2.5.** Let  $\pi : X_{\bullet} \to Y_{\bullet}$  be a smooth coherent morphism of smooth simplicial schemes over k and A a smooth k-scheme such that:

1) over the 0th simplicial component  $\pi$  is isomorphic to the projection  $Y_0 \times A \rightarrow Y_0$ ; 2)  $H^1(CC(Y_{\bullet}), R^{\times}) = 0$ ;

3)  $\widetilde{M}(A)$  is an invertible motive in  $\mathcal{DM}^{-}_{eff}(k, R)$ .

Then,  $M(Cone(\pi)) \cong \widetilde{M}(A)[1] \in \mathcal{DM}^{-}_{eff}(Y_{\bullet}, R)$  where  $Cone(\pi)$  is the cone of  $\pi$  in  $Spc_{*}(Y_{\bullet})$ .

*Proof.* In  $Spc_*(Y_{\bullet})$  we have a cofiber sequence

$$X_{\bullet} \xrightarrow{\pi} Y_{\bullet} \to Cone(\pi) \to S^1_s \wedge X_{\bullet}$$

which induces a distinguished triangle

$$M(X_{\bullet} \xrightarrow{\pi} Y_{\bullet}) \to T \to M(Cone(\pi)) \to M(X_{\bullet} \xrightarrow{\pi} Y_{\bullet})[1]$$

in the motivic category  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_{\bullet}, R)$ . Since  $\pi$  is smooth coherent we have by 1) that it is the projection over any simplicial component. It immediately follows that  $\pi_i : Y_i \times A \cong X_i \to Y_i$  induces the morphism  $M(A) \to T$  in  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_i, R)$  for any *i*, from which we get that  $M(Cone(\pi))_i \cong \widetilde{M}(A)[1]$  in  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_i, R)$ . Moreover, we point out that  $M(Cone(\pi))$  is in  $\mathcal{DM}_{coh}^{-}(Y_{\bullet}, R)$ , since both  $M(X_{\bullet} \xrightarrow{\pi} Y_{\bullet})$  and *T* are coherent objects. Hence, Proposition 2.2.3 implies that  $M(Cone(\pi)) \cong \widetilde{M}(A)[1]$  in  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_{\bullet}, R)$ , and the proof is complete.  $\Box$  Moreover, we get a *Thom isomorphism* of  $H(Y_{\bullet}, R)$ -modules

$$H^{*-s,*'-r}(Y_{\bullet},R) \rightarrow H^{*,*'}(Cone(\pi),R)$$

in the case that the reduced motive of *A* is the Tate motive T(r)[s-1].

**Definition 2.2.6.** *The image of* 1 *under the Thom isomorphism will be called Thom class and it will be denoted by*  $\alpha$ *.* 

In order to understand exactly why the previous proposition generates sequences of Gysin type we need to find the right substitute for the topological sphere  $S^{n-1}$  in the motivic setting. The character that plays the role of the sphere in our case is, indeed, the split affine quadric  $A_{q_n}$  defined by the equation  $q_n = 1$ , where  $q_n$  is the standard split *n*-dimensional quadratic form. As we will see better lately, the reduced motive of  $A_{q_n}$  is the Tate motive  $T(\lfloor n/2 \rfloor)\lfloor n-1 \rfloor$ . Hence, by the Thom isomorphism, we get a long exact sequence of motivic cohomology groups

$$\cdots \to H^{*-1,*'}(X_{\bullet}, R) \to H^{*-n,*'-[n/2]}(Y_{\bullet}, R) \to H^{*,*'}(Y_{\bullet}, R) \to H^{*,*'}(X_{\bullet}, R) \to \dots$$

which completes the analogy with Gysin sequences.

Later, we will also need the following result about functoriality of the isomorphism found in the previous proposition.

**Proposition 2.2.7.** Let  $\pi : X_{\bullet} \to Y_{\bullet}$  and  $\pi' : X'_{\bullet} \to Y'_{\bullet}$  be smooth coherent morphisms of smooth simplicial schemes over k and A a smooth k-scheme that satisfies all conditions from the previous proposition with respect to  $\pi'$  and such that the following diagram is cartesian with all morphisms smooth

$$\begin{array}{c|c} X_{\bullet} & \xrightarrow{\pi} & Y_{\bullet} \\ p_X & & \downarrow p_Y \\ X'_{\bullet} & \xrightarrow{\pi'} & Y'_{\bullet} \end{array}$$

Then, the induced square of motives in the category  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y'_{\bullet}, R)$  extends uniquely to a morphism of triangles where  $Lp_{Y\#}M(Cone(\pi)) \to M(Cone(\pi'))$  is given by  $M(p_Y) \otimes id_{\widetilde{M}(A)[1]}$ .

*Proof.* We start by noticing that in  $Spc_*(Y'_{\bullet})$  we can complete our commutative diagram to a morphism of cofiber sequences

$$\begin{array}{c|c} X_{\bullet} & \xrightarrow{\pi} & Y_{\bullet} & \longrightarrow Cone(\pi) & \longrightarrow S^{1}_{s} \wedge X_{\bullet} \\ p_{X} & & \downarrow^{p_{Y}} & \downarrow^{p} & & \downarrow^{id \wedge p_{X}} \\ X'_{\bullet} & \xrightarrow{\pi'} & Y'_{\bullet} & \longrightarrow Cone(\pi') & \longrightarrow S^{1}_{s} \wedge X'_{\bullet} \end{array}$$

which induces a morphism of distinguished triangles in  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y'_{\bullet}, R)$ 

$$\begin{split} Lp_{Y\#}M(X_{\bullet} \xrightarrow{\pi} Y_{\bullet}) &\longrightarrow Lp_{Y\#}T \longrightarrow Lp_{Y\#}Cone(\pi) \cong Lp_{Y\#}\widetilde{M}(A)[1] \longrightarrow Lp_{Y\#}M(X_{\bullet} \xrightarrow{\pi} Y_{\bullet})[1] \\ M(p_X) & \downarrow M(p_Y) & \downarrow M(p) & \downarrow M(p_X)[1] \\ M(X'_{\bullet} \xrightarrow{\pi'} Y'_{\bullet}) \longrightarrow T \longrightarrow Cone(\pi') \cong \widetilde{M}(A)[1] \longrightarrow M(X'_{\bullet} \xrightarrow{\pi'} Y'_{\bullet})[1] \end{split}$$

where the isomorphisms in the third column follow by Proposition 2.2.5. If we restrict our previous diagrams to the 0th simplicial component we obtain in  $Spc_*(Y'_0)$ 

$$\begin{array}{c|c} Y_0 \times A \xrightarrow{\pi_0} Y_0 \longrightarrow Cone(\pi_0) \longrightarrow S^1_s \wedge (Y_0 \times A) \\ p_{Y_0} \times id & & \downarrow p_{Y_0} & \downarrow p_0 & & \downarrow id \wedge (p_{Y_0} \times id) \\ Y'_0 \times A \xrightarrow{\pi'_0} Y'_0 \longrightarrow Cone(\pi'_0) \longrightarrow S^1_s \wedge (Y'_0 \times A) \end{array}$$

and in  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_0', R)$ 

$$\begin{array}{c|c} Lp_{Y_0\#}M(A) \longrightarrow Lp_{Y_0\#}T \longrightarrow Lp_{Y_0\#}\widetilde{M}(A)[1] \longrightarrow Lp_{Y_0\#}M(A)[1] \\ M(p_{Y_0}) \otimes id_{M(A)} & & & \downarrow M(p_{Y_0}) & & \downarrow M(p_0) \\ M(A) \longrightarrow T \longrightarrow \widetilde{M}(A)[1] \longrightarrow M(A)[1] \end{array}$$

Note that

$$Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_{0}^{\prime},R)}(Lp_{Y_{0}}\#\widetilde{M}(A)[1],T) \cong Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_{0},R)}(\widetilde{M}(A)[1],p_{Y_{0}}^{*}T) \cong Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_{0},R)}(\widetilde{M}(A)[1],T) \cong Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(k,R)}(\widetilde{M}(Y_{0}\times A)[1],T) \cong 0$$

since  $Y_0 \times A$  is a smooth scheme over k, so has no cohomology in bidegree (0)[-1] by Proposition 2.4.8, and  $H^{0,0}(Spec(k), R) \to H^{0,0}(Y_0 \times A, R)$ is injective. From this we deduce that  $M(p_0)$  must be  $M(p_{Y_0}) \otimes id_{\widetilde{M}(A)[1]}$ , as  $M(p_{Y_0}) \otimes id_{\widetilde{M}(A)[1]}$  is the only possible map extending the commutative square on the left.

At this point we notice that both M(p) and  $M(p_Y) \otimes id_{\widetilde{M}(A)[1]}$  belong to

$$Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_{\bullet},R)}(Lp_{Y\#}\widetilde{M}(A)[1],\widetilde{M}(A)[1]) \cong$$
$$Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_{\bullet},R)}(\widetilde{M}(A),p_{Y}^{*}\widetilde{M}(A)) \cong$$
$$Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_{\bullet},R)}(\widetilde{M}(A),\widetilde{M}(A)) \cong H^{0,0}(Y_{\bullet},R)$$

since  $\widetilde{M}(A)$  is an invertible motive. Similarly  $M(p_0) = M(p_{Y_0}) \otimes id_{\widetilde{M}(A)[1]}$ belongs to

$$Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_{0}^{\prime},R)}(Lp_{Y_{0}}\#\widetilde{M}(A)[1],\widetilde{M}(A)[1]) \cong$$
$$Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_{0},R)}(\widetilde{M}(A),p_{Y_{0}}^{*}\widetilde{M}(A)) \cong$$
$$Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_{0},R)}(\widetilde{M}(A),\widetilde{M}(A)) \cong H^{0,0}(Y_{0},R)$$

Now, recall that  $H^{0,0}(Y_{\bullet}, R)$  is the free *R*-module with rank equal to the number of connected components of  $Y_{\bullet}$  and  $H^{0,0}(Y_0, R)$  is the free *R*-module with rank equal to the number of connected components of  $Y_0$ . The set of connected components of  $Y_{\bullet}$  is obtained from the set of connected components of  $Y_0$  by identifying all the couples of components of  $Y_0$  linked by a connected component of  $Y_1$  via the face maps. In other words,  $H^{0,0}(Y_{\bullet}, R)$  is just the kernel of the morphism  $H^{0,0}(Y_0, R) \to H^{0,0}(Y_1, R)$  induced by the simplicial data. It follows that the restriction

$$r_0^*: H^{0,0}(Y_{\bullet}, R) \to H^{0,0}(Y_0, R)$$

is injective, hence  $M(p) = M(p_Y) \otimes id_{\widetilde{M}(A)[1]}$ , which is what we aimed to prove.

In particular, from the previous proposition it immediately follows the next corollary about functoriality of Thom classes.

**Corollary 2.2.8.** Under the hypothesis of Proposition 2.2.7 with M(A) being a *Tate motive, the homomorphism of*  $H(Y'_{\bullet}, R)$ *-modules* 

$$p^*: H^{*,*'}(Cone(\pi'), R) \to H^{*,*'}(Cone(\pi), R)$$

sends  $\alpha'$  to  $\alpha$ , where  $\alpha'$  and  $\alpha$  are the respective Thom classes.

#### 2.3 TORSORS AND CLASSIFYING SPACES

We introduce in this section the objects of investigation of this thesis which is essentially devoted to the analysis of torsors from a motivic homotopic point of view.

Let  $X_{\bullet}$  be a motivic space (with Nisnevich or étale topology) over k and G a linear algebraic group over k. A right action of G on  $X_{\bullet}$  is a morphism  $a : X_{\bullet} \times G \to X_{\bullet}$ . The action is free if the morphism  $X_{\bullet} \times G \to X_{\bullet} \times X_{\bullet}$  defined by  $(x,g) \mapsto (a(x,g),x)$  is a monomorphism. For any right G-action on  $X_{\bullet}$  one can define the quotient  $X_{\bullet}/G$  as the coequilizer of the projection  $X_{\bullet} \times G \to X_{\bullet}$  and the action.

**Definition 2.3.1.** A *G*-torsor over a motivic space  $Y_{\bullet}$  is a morphism  $X_{\bullet} \to Y_{\bullet}$  endowed with a free right action of *G* on  $X_{\bullet}$  over  $Y_{\bullet}$  such that  $X_{\bullet}/G \to Y_{\bullet}$  is an isomorphism.
We will denote by  $P(Y_{\bullet}, G)_{Nis \text{ or } \acute{e}t}$  the set of isomorphism classes of *G*-torsors over  $Y_{\bullet}$  in the Nisnevich or étale topology.

In this thesis we will focus in particular on Nisnevich classifying spaces of linear algebraic groups over Spec(k). In fact, their motivic cohomology is used to produce invariants of torsors which should supply an efficient tool for their classification. In this section we recall some of their properties and relations with étale classifying spaces.

Given a linear algebraic group *G* over *k*, let us denote by *EG* the simplicial scheme defined on simplicial components by  $(EG)_n = G^{n+1}$  with partial projections and partial diagonals as face and degeneracy maps respectively. In few words, *EG* is the Čech simplicial scheme of the algebraic group *G*. The operation in *G* induces a natural action on *EG*.

**Definition 2.3.2.** The Nisnevich classifying space BG is obtained by taking the quotient of EG respect to the natural right G-action, i.e. BG = EG/G.

Moreover, from the morphism of sites  $\pi : (Sm/k)_{\acute{e}t} \rightarrow (Sm/k)_{Nis}$  we obtain the following adjunction

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{H}_{s}((Sm/k)_{\acute{e}t}) \\ \pi^{*} \uparrow \downarrow R\pi_{*} \\ \mathcal{H}_{s}((Sm/k)_{Nis}) \end{aligned}$$

where  $\pi_*$  is the restriction to Nisnevich topology and  $\pi^*$  is étale sheafification.

**Definition 2.3.3.** The étale classifying space of G is defined by  $B_{\acute{e}t}G = R\pi_*\pi^*BG$ .

Although this definition presents étale classifying spaces as objects of  $\mathcal{H}_s((Sm/k)_{Nis})$ , there exists a geometric construction for their  $A^1$ -homotopy type (see [36]) obtained from a faithful representation  $\rho : G \hookrightarrow GL(V)$  by taking the quotient respect to the diagonal action of G on an open subscheme of an infinite-dimensional affine space  $\bigoplus_{i=1}^{\infty} V$  where G acts freely.

The Nisnevich and étale classifying spaces are generally different from each other. The following result gives a sufficient and necessary condition for them to become equivalent.

**Lemma 2.3.4.** The canonical morphism  $BG \to B_{\acute{e}t}G$  is an isomorphism in  $\mathcal{H}_s(k)$  if and only if G is a sheaf in the étale topology and for any smooth scheme U over k one has  $H^1_{Nis}(U,G) = H^1_{\acute{e}t}(U,G)$ .

*Proof.* See [36, Lemma 1.18].

Now, let H be an algebraic subgroup of G. Then, we can define two simplicial objects related to BH.

**Definition 2.3.5.** By  $\tilde{B}H$  we denote the bisimplicial scheme  $(EH \times EG)/H$  and by  $\hat{B}H$  the simplicial scheme EG/H, where the quotients are understood as étale quotients.

We highlight that the obvious morphism of simplicial schemes  $\pi : \widehat{B}H \to BG$  is trivial over each simplicial component with G/H-fibers. At this point, let us call by  $\phi : \widetilde{B}H \to BH$  and  $\psi : \widetilde{B}H \to \widehat{B}H$  the two natural projections. Notice that  $\phi$  is always trivial over each simplicial component with contractible fiber EG, therefore an isomorphism in  $\mathcal{H}_s(k)$ . The behaviour of  $\psi$  is somewhat different. Indeed, we need to impose a precise condition in order to make it an isomorphism.

**Proposition 2.3.6.** *If the map* 

$$Hom_{\mathcal{H}_{s}(k)}(Spec(R), B_{\acute{e}t}H) \to Hom_{\mathcal{H}_{s}(k)}(Spec(R), B_{\acute{e}t}G)$$

is injective for any henselian local ring R over k, then  $\psi$  is an isomorphism in  $\mathcal{H}_s(k)$ . In particular,  $BH \cong \widehat{B}H$  in  $\mathcal{H}_s(k)$ .

*Proof.* We start by noticing that the restriction of  $\psi$  over any simplicial component is given by the morphism  $(EH \times G^{n+1})/H \to G^{n+1}/H$ . The simplicial scheme  $(EH \times G^{n+1})/H$  is nothing else but the Čech simplicial scheme  $\check{C}(G^{n+1} \to G^{n+1}/H)$  associated to the *H*-torsor  $G^{n+1} \to G^{n+1}/H$  which becomes split once extended to *G*. In order to check that

$$\check{C}(G^{n+1} \to G^{n+1}/H) \to G^{n+1}/H$$

is a simplicial weak equivalence it is enough, by Lemma 1.2.4, to evaluate on henselian local rings. Therefore, we need to look at the morphism of simplicial sets

$$\check{C}(G^{n+1}(R) \to G^{n+1}/H(R)) \to G^{n+1}/H(R)$$

for any henselian local ring *R* over *k*. Now, the fiber of  $G^{n+1} \rightarrow G^{n+1}/H$ over any point Spec(R) of  $G^{n+1}/H$  is given by a *H*-torsor  $P \rightarrow Spec(R)$ whose extension to *G* is split, so split itself by hypothesis. In other words, this fiber is nothing else but the split *H*-torsor  $H \times Spec(R) \rightarrow Spec(R)$ . In this way we have found a splitting of  $G^{n+1}(R) \rightarrow G^{n+1}/H(R)$  which proves that  $\check{C}(G^{n+1}(R) \rightarrow G^{n+1}/H(R)) \rightarrow G^{n+1}/H(R)$  is a weak equivalence of simplicial sets, for any henselian local ring *R*. This implies that  $\psi$  is a weak equivalence over any simplicial component, hence an isomorphism in  $\mathcal{H}_s(k)$ .

In practice, due to results from [12], [38], [39] and [42], in most cases we can check if  $\psi$  is a simplicial weak equivalence just by looking at field extensions of *k*. In fact, we have the following theorems which we are going to use later.

**Theorem 2.3.7.** Let R be a local ring of a smooth variety over a field k of characterisitic different from 2 and K the field of fractions of R. Let q be a quadratic space over R. If  $q_K$  is hyperbolic, then q is hyperbolic.

Proof. See [39, Theorem 5.1].

**Theorem 2.3.8.** Let R be a local ring containing a field k of characterisitic different from 2 and K the field of fractions of R. Let  $(A, \sigma)$  be an Azumaya algebra with involution over R and h a hermitian space over  $(A, \sigma)$ . If  $h_K$  is hyperbolic, then h is hyperbolic.

Proof. See [39, Theorem 9.2].

More generally, one has the following result.

**Theorem 2.3.9.** *Let R be a regular semi-local domain containing a field, and let K be its field of fractions. Let G be a reductive group scheme over R. Then the map* 

$$H^1_{\ell t}(R,G) \to H^1_{\ell t}(K,G)$$

induced by the inclusion of R into K has a trivial kernel.

Proof. See [12, Theorem 1] and [42, Theorem 1.1].

In a nutshell, rationally trivial torsors of the othogonal group, the unitary group and, in general, any other reductive group are locally trivial.

The natural embedding of algebraic groups  $H \hookrightarrow G$  induces two morphisms  $j : BH \to \widehat{B}H$  and  $g : BH \to BG$ . The following result tells us that, under the hypothesis of the previous proposition, j identifies BH and  $\widehat{B}H$  in  $\mathcal{H}_s(k)$ .

**Proposition 2.3.10.** Under the hypothesis of Proposition 2.3.6, *j* is an isomorphism in  $\mathcal{H}_s(k)$ .

*Proof.* We already know that in this case the morphisms of bisimplicial schemes  $\phi$  and  $\psi$  become weak equivalences once restricted to simplicial components. It follows that the morphisms they induce on the respective diagonal simplicial objects, namely  $\phi : \Delta(\widetilde{B}H) \to BH$  and  $\psi : \Delta(\widetilde{B}H) \to \widehat{B}H$ , are weak equivalences. So, in order to get the result, it is enough to provide a simplicial homotopy  $F_i^{(n)} : (H^{n+1} \times G^{n+1})/H \to G^{n+2}/H$  between  $j\phi$  and  $\psi$ . One is given by

$$F_i^{(n)}(h_0,\ldots,h_n,g_0,\ldots,g_n)=(h_0,\ldots,h_i,g_i,\ldots,g_n)$$

for any *n* and any  $0 \le i \le n$ .

33

Moreover, from the fact that  $g = \pi j$ , we obtain that  $j^* : H(\widehat{B}H) \to H(BH)$  is an isomorphism of H(BG)-modules.

We want to point out at this stage that the main reason why we would like to work with  $\pi : \widehat{B}H \to BG$  instead of  $g : BH \to BG$  is that  $\pi$  is a smooth coherent morphism which is trivial over the 0th simplicial component with fiber G/H. This is particularly desirable since, provided the reduced G/His motivically invertible, we are entitled to use Proposition 2.2.5 in order to get information on H(BG) out of H(BH). This is essentially how we will be able to reconstruct in some cases the cohomology of the Nisnevich classifying space of an algebraic group inductively by looking at some natural filtration of it.

The following crucial result assures us that actually classifying spaces classify torsors in the respective topology.

Proposition 2.3.11. There exist bijections

$$Hom_{\mathcal{H}_s(k)}(Y_{\bullet}, BG) = P(Y_{\bullet}, G)_{Nis}$$

and

$$Hom_{\mathcal{H}_s(k)}(Y_{\bullet}, B_{\acute{e}t}G) = P(Y_{\bullet}, G)_{\acute{e}t}$$

*Proof.* See [36, Proposition 1.15].

We note that the torsors which are often worthy to be studied are the ones in the étale topology. As an example, étale locally trivial torsors of the orthogonal group over the point are all quadratic forms while there is only one Nisnevich locally trivial torsor. For this reason, for the rest of this thesis, by torsor we will automatically mean torsor in the étale topology.

Although from the previous proposition it is clear that torsors are classified by étale classifying spaces anyway it is convenient in certain situations to investigate Nisnevich classifying spaces. The reason is clarified by the following proposition.

**Proposition 2.3.12.** *There exists a commutative square in*  $\mathcal{H}_{s}(k)$ 



for any torsor X over the point.

Proof. See [47, 2.5.3].

If we apply the motivic cohomology functor to the previous square we obtain



Then, it is clear that characteristic classes coming from the étale classifying spaces take value in a much simpler object, namely H, than the one where the characteristic classes coming from the Nisnevich classifying spaces land, namely  $H(\check{C}(X))$ , which is infinite-dimensional. As a result, we deduce that these invariants coming from H(BG), also called *subtle characteristic classes*, may carry more information in principle about *G*-torsors than the corresponding étale ones. Moreover, since the cohomology of the point is trivial over the 0th diagonal we have that all subtle characteristic classes coming from the étale classifying space in the above 0th diagonal part trivialise in  $H(\check{C}(X))$ . Unfortunately, as a drawback, we have that subtle characteristic classes of different torsors take values in principle in different places making it more difficult to compare them. On the other hand, following [47], one can define the kernel invariant of a torsor which can be used to make helpful comparisons.

**Definition 2.3.13.** For any G-torsor X over Spec(k), the kernel invariant of X is defined as

$$Ker(X) = Ker(H(BG) \rightarrow H(\check{C}(X)))$$

where  $H(\check{C}(X)) \rightarrow H(BG)$  is the morphism induced by  $\check{C}(X) \rightarrow BG$  from Proposition 2.3.12.

In this thesis, from the computation of the cohomology of certain classifying spaces, we will be able to deduce some information on the kernel invariant for some classes of quadratic forms.

We finish this section by recalling an important result which will be useful in the next chapters. First, we need to define torsor triples which are triples (G, X, G') where G and G' are linear algebraic groups over a field k and X is both a left G-torsor and a right G'-torsor. Then, we have the following proposition.

**Proposition 2.3.14.** *For any torsor triple* (G, X, G') *there is a natural isomorphism in*  $\mathcal{H}_{s}(k)$ 



Proof. See [47, Proposition 2.6.1].

Moreover, we notice that, by looking at the proof of the previous proposition, it is clear that the claimed isomorphism is functorial, i.e. for any morphism of torsor triples  $(H, Z, H') \rightarrow (G, X, G')$  there exists a commutative diagram in  $\mathcal{H}_s(k)$ 

$$\begin{split}
\check{C}(Z) \times BH' &\stackrel{\cong}{\longleftrightarrow} BH \times \check{C}(Z) \\
& \downarrow & \downarrow \\
\check{C}(X) \times BG' &\stackrel{\cong}{\longleftrightarrow} BG \times \check{C}(X)
\end{split}$$

#### 2.4 SUBTLE STIEFEL-WHITNEY CLASSES

We now move our attention to one particular case which is of main interest for the purposes of this thesis, i.e. the case of *orthogonal groups*. This case has been deeply studied by Smirnov and Vishik in [47]. In this section we will report their main results, which will be fundamental throughout the rest of this work. In particular, we will recall what subtle Stiefel-Whitney classes are and summarise some of their main applications.

First, note that, since  $O_n$ -torsors correspond to quadratic forms, for which Witt cancellation theorem holds over any field,  $O_{n-1}$ -torsors inject in  $O_n$ torsors via the map  $q \mapsto q \perp \langle (-1)^{n-1} \rangle$ . Then, due to Theorem 2.3.7, it is possible to apply Propositions 2.3.6 and 2.3.10 to the case that *G* and *H* are respectively  $O_n$  and  $O_{n-1}$ . Moreover, we recall that

$$A_{q_n} \cong O_n / O_{n-1}$$

where  $A_{q_n}$  is the affine quadric defined by the equation  $q_n = 1$ , where  $q_n$  is the standard split quadratic form  $\perp_{i=1}^n \langle (-1)^{i-1} \rangle$ . The motive of this split affine quadric is provided by the following proposition.

**Proposition 2.4.1.** In  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(k)$  we have that

$$M(A_{q_n}) = T \oplus T([n/2])[n-1]$$

Proof. See [47, Proposition 3.1.3].

Hence, we can apply Proposition 2.2.5 to the morphism  $\widehat{B}O_{n-1} \rightarrow BO_n$ , which we have already noticed to be coherent and trivial over simplicial components with fiber  $O_n/O_{n-1}$ .

Indeed, by exploiting the results above mentioned and by an induction argument starting from the fact that  $O_1 \cong \mu_2$ , the following description of the motivic cohomology rings of the Nisnevich classifying spaces of orthogonal groups can be obtained.

**Theorem 2.4.2.** Let k be a field of characteristic different from 2. Then, there is a unique set  $u_1, \ldots, u_n$  of classes in the motivic  $\mathbb{Z}$  /2-cohomology of BO<sub>n</sub> such that  $deg(u_i) = ([i/2])[i]$ ,  $u_i$  vanishes when restricted to  $H(BO_{i-1})$  for any  $2 \le i \le n$  and

$$H(BO_n) = H[u_1, \ldots, u_n]$$

*Proof.* See [47, Theorem 3.1.1].

Moreover, we have the following generalisation of the previous theorem.

**Proposition 2.4.3.** For any simplicial scheme X.

$$H(X_{\bullet} \times BO_n) = H(X_{\bullet})[u_1, \ldots, u_n]$$

*Proof.* See [47, Proposition 3.2.4].

**Definition 2.4.4.** The generators  $u_i$  are called subtle Stiefel-Whitney classes. For any quadratic form q, their images in  $H(\check{C}(X_q))$  will be denoted by  $u_i(q)$ , where  $X_q$  is the torsor associated to q, i.e.  $X_q = Iso(q \leftrightarrow q_n)$ .

As shown in [47], these classes provide very interesting and informative invariants for quadratic forms. In particular, as we have already noticed in the previous section, they see more than their étale counterparts since they take value in the motivic cohomology of a Čech simplicial scheme which is highly non-trivial respect to the cohomology of the point. Most importantly, the étale characteristic classes are expressible through subtle classes. Furthermore, it is possible to describe the motive of  $X_q$  in terms of subtle Stiefel-Whitney classes. More precisely, we have the following two results.

**Proposition 2.4.5.** In  $\mathcal{DM}^{-}_{eff}(BO_n, \mathbb{Z}/2)$  we have that

$$M(EO_n \to BO_n) = \bigotimes_{1 \le i \le n} Cone[-1](T \xrightarrow{u_i} T([i/2])[i])$$

*Proof.* See [47, Proposition 3.1.11].

**Theorem 2.4.6.** For any n-dimensional quadratic form q we have that

$$M(X_q) = \bigotimes_{1 \le i \le n} Cone[-1](\mathfrak{X}_q \xrightarrow{u_i(q)} \mathfrak{X}_q([i/2])[i])$$

in  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(k, \mathbb{Z}/2)$ , where  $\mathfrak{X}_q$  is the motive of  $\check{C}(X_q)$ .

*Proof.* See [47, Theorem 3.2.2].

Moreover, subtle Stiefel-Whitney classes are able to see the power of the fundamental ideal I of the Witt ring W(k) where a quadratic form belongs. Indeed, we have the following theorem.

**Theorem 2.4.7.** For any quadratic form q, we have that  $q \in I^n$  if and only if  $u_{2^r}(q) = 0$  for any  $0 \le r \le n-2$ .

*Proof.* See [47, Theorem 3.2.27].

From the previous theorem, one gets the following result which states essentially that subtle Stiefel-Whitney classes see the triviality of quadratic forms. More precisely, the following corollary holds.

**Corollary 2.4.8.**  $q \cong q_n$  if and only if  $u_{2^r}(q) = 0$  for any r.

Proof. See [47, Corollary 3.2.32].

By the very same arguments exploited for the orthogonal groups it is possible to get the same description for  $H(BSO_n)$  with the only difference given by the fact that  $u_1 = 0$ . More precisely, from the short exact sequence of algebraic groups

$$1 \rightarrow SO_n \rightarrow O_n \rightarrow \mu_2 \rightarrow 1$$

we get that

$$A_{q_n} \cong SO_n / SO_{n-1}$$

and by recalling that  $SO_n$ -torsors correspond to *n*-dimensional quadratic forms with trivial discriminant and  $SO_1$  is the point we obtain the following theorem.

**Theorem 2.4.9.** Let k be a field of characteristic different from 2. Then, the motivic cohomology ring of  $BSO_n$  is described by

$$H(BSO_n) = H[u_2, \ldots, u_n]$$

In the following chapters, we will also use the action of the motivic Steenrod algebra on subtle classes which is given by the following Wu formula as in the classical case at least when  $\rho = 0$ .

**Proposition 2.4.10.** (Wu formula) Suppose  $\rho = 0$ . Then, the following formula holds

$$Sq^{k}u_{m} = \begin{cases} \sum_{j=0}^{k} {m+j-k-1 \choose j} u_{k-j}u_{m+j}, & 0 \le k < m \\ u_{m}^{2}, & k = m \\ 0, & k > m \end{cases}$$

*Proof.* See [47, Proposition 3.1.12].

From the previous result we immediately deduce the following corollary which will be helpful in the next chapters.

**Corollary 2.4.11.** Suppose  $\rho = 0$  and let w be a monomial of bidegree  $([\frac{m}{2}])[m]$  in the polynomial ring  $\mathbb{Z}/2[\tau, u_2, ..., u_{n+1}]$ . Then,  $Sq^mw = w^2$  and  $Sq^jw = 0$  for any j > m.

*Proof.* If *m* is even, by Lemmas 1.6.6 and 1.6.7 and by noticing that  $Sq^{2h+1} = Sq^1Sq^{2h}$ , there is nothing to prove since *w* is on the slope 2 diagonal. Consider *m* odd, then  $w = \tau^{\frac{r-1}{2}} xu_{h_1} \cdots u_{h_r}$  where *x* is a monomial in even subtle classes and  $u_{h_i}$  are odd subtle classes (notice that *r* must be odd by degree reason). Therefore, by Cartan formula we have that

$$Sq^{m}w = Sq^{m}(\tau^{\frac{r-1}{2}}xu_{h_{1}}\cdots u_{h_{r}}) = Sq^{m-h_{r}}(\tau^{\frac{r-1}{2}}xu_{h_{1}}\cdots u_{h_{r-1}})Sq^{h_{r}}u_{h_{r}} = (\tau^{\frac{r-1}{2}}xu_{h_{1}}\cdots u_{h_{r-1}})^{2}u_{h_{r}}^{2} = w^{2}$$

since the monomial  $\tau^{\frac{r-1}{2}} x u_{h_1} \cdots u_{h_{r-1}}$  is on the slope 2 diagonal in bidegree  $(\frac{m-h_r}{2})[m-h_r]$ , so  $Sq^j(\tau^{\frac{r-1}{2}} x u_{h_1} \cdots u_{h_{r-1}}) = 0$  for  $j > m - h_r$ , and  $Sq^k u_{h_r} = 0$  for  $k > h_r$  by Wu formula. Moreover,  $Sq^jw = 0$  for j > m for the same reason.

## SUBTLE CHARACTERISTIC CLASSES FOR SPIN-TORSORS

In this chapter we will compute a large part of the motivic cohomology ring of the Nisnevich classifying space of  $Spin_n$ , the spin group of the standard split quadratic form  $q_n$ . This will provide us with *subtle characteristic classes* for *Spin*-torsors or, which is the same, *quadratic forms from I*<sup>3</sup>, where *I* is the fundamental ideal of the Witt ring.

The topological counterpart of this computation has been obtained by Quillen in [43]. In the first section of this chapter we will recall Quillen's main result which relies on two key tools: 1) the regularity of a certain sequence in a polynomial ring; 2) the Serre spectral sequence associated to a fibration. With reference to the first one, unfortunately we do not have a proof of the regularity of the corresponding motivic sequence. Anyway, using the regularity of Quillen's sequence in topology we will still be able to obtain a large part of the motivic cohomology of  $BSpin_n$ . Regarding the second point, we may have a sort of Serre spectral sequence available for our case (see Section 5 for more details), but, as we will show, techniques reported in previous chapters, as Gysin sequences, will be sufficient and, in fact, more suitable to deal with this case.

All in all, we will describe completely the motivic cohomology of  $BSpin_n$  in bidegrees (\*')[\*] satisfying the condition  $* \le 2*' + 1$  and reduce the complete computation to the question whether the motivic sequence is regular or not. Moreover, in the last sections we will get very nice and simple relations among subtle Stiefel-Whitney classes of *quadratic forms with trivial discriminant and Clifford invariant*. These relations will give information on their kernel invariant and highlight the deep connection with the *J*-invariant.

On another side, we will apply our main result to compute the motivic cohomology ring of  $BG_2$ , the Nisnevich classifying space of the split exceptional algebraic group  $G_2$ , providing *subtle invariants* for *octonion algebras*.

#### 3.1 THE COHOMOLOGY OF $BSpin_n$ in topology

In this section we will present Quillen's main results on the computation of the singular cohomology of the classifying space of the spin group associated to the real euclidean quadratic form. These results will lead us in the aim of finding a similar description in the motivic world. More precisely, in [43] the following two theorems are proved.

**Theorem 3.1.1.** *The sequence* 

$$w_2, Sq^1w_2, \ldots, Sq^{2^{k-2}}Sq^{2^{k-3}}\cdots Sq^4Sq^2Sq^1w_2$$

is a regular sequence in  $H^*(BSO_n) = \mathbb{Z}/2[w_2, ..., w_n]$ , where k depends on n as in the following table

n	k
8l+1	4l
8l+2	4 <i>l</i> +1
8l+3	4 <i>l</i> +2
<i>8l</i> +4	4 <i>l</i> +2
8l+5	4 <i>l</i> +3
<i>81+6</i>	4 <i>l</i> +3
<i>8l</i> +7	4 <i>l</i> +3
<i>81</i> + <i>8</i>	4 <i>l</i> +3

and  $w_i$  is the *i*-th Stiefel-Whitney class.

*Proof.* See [43, Theorem 6.3].

Moreover, we recall that the values written in the previous table are related to the dimension of spin representations of  $Spin_n$ .

**Theorem 3.1.2.** Let  $I_k$  be the ideal in  $H^*(BSO_n)$  generated by the previous regular sequence and  $\Delta$  be a spin representation of  $Spin_n$ . Then the canonical homomorphism

$$H^*(BSO_n)/I_k \otimes \mathbb{Z}/2[w_{2^k}(\Delta)] \to H^*(BSpin_n)$$

*is an isomorphism.* 

*Proof.* See [43, Theorem 6.5].

From Theorem 3.1.1 and Theorem 3.1.2 it follows that

$$k(n+1) = \begin{cases} k(n), & Sq^{2^{k(n)-1}} \cdots Sq^{1}w_{2} \in I_{k(n)} \\ k(n)+1, & Sq^{2^{k(n)-1}} \cdots Sq^{1}w_{2} \notin I_{k(n)} \end{cases}$$

where here by  $I_{k(n)}$  we mean the ideal in  $H(BSO_{n+1}) = \mathbb{Z}/2[w_2, ..., w_{n+1}]$ generated by the elements  $w_2, Sq^1w_2, ..., Sq^{2^{k(n)-2}} \cdots Sq^1w_2$ .

Furthermore, we notice that Theorem 3.1.2 relies on the Serre spectral sequence for the fibration  $B\mathbb{Z}/2 \rightarrow BSpin_n \rightarrow BSO_n$ . We will use instead techniques developed in the previous chapters.

3.2 THE FIBRATION  $BSpin_n \rightarrow BSO_n$ 

We have already noticed that the special orthogonal case does not differ much from the orthogonal one, at least from the cohomological perspective, in the sense that their motivic cohomology rings are both polynomial over the cohomology of the point in subtle Stiefel-Whitney classes. This is not true anymore for spin groups. The main reason is that in this case there are much more complicated relations among subtle classes given by the action of the motivic Steenrod algebra on  $u_2$  which make the cohomology rings not polynomial in subtle Stiefel-Whitney classes anymore (precisely for n > 9) and, moreover, new classes appear. For this reason, in order to get our main result, together with an inductive argument we will need to consider the fibration  $BSpin_n \rightarrow BSO_n$ . More precisely, in order to investigate the motivic cohomology of  $BSpin_n$ , we will need to consider for any  $n \ge 2$  the cartesian square

$$\begin{array}{c|c} \widehat{B}Spin_{n} \xrightarrow{\widehat{a}_{n}} & \widehat{B}SO_{n} \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ BSpin_{n+1} \xrightarrow{a_{n+1}} & BSO_{n+1} \end{array}$$

where  $\pi$  and  $\tilde{\pi}$  are smooth coherent morphisms, trivial over simplicial components, with fiber isomorphic to the affine quadric  $A_{q_{n+1}}$  defined by the equation  $q_{n+1} = 1$ .

In  $Spc_*(BSO_{n+1})$  we can complete the previous diagram to the following one, which is commutative up to a sign in the right bottom square, where each row and each column is a cofiber sequence

$$\begin{split} \widehat{B}Spin_{n} & \xrightarrow{\widehat{a}_{n}} \widehat{B}SO_{n} & \xrightarrow{\widehat{b}_{n}} Cone(\widehat{a}_{n}) & \xrightarrow{\widehat{c}_{n}} S_{s}^{1} \wedge \widehat{B}Spin_{n} \\ & \xrightarrow{\widetilde{\pi}} \bigvee \qquad & \downarrow \pi \qquad & \downarrow \overline{\pi} \qquad & \downarrow \\ BSpin_{n+1} & \xrightarrow{a_{n+1}} BSO_{n+1} & \xrightarrow{b_{n+1}} Cone(a_{n+1}) & \xrightarrow{c_{n+1}} S_{s}^{1} \wedge BSpin_{n+1} \\ & \overbrace{f} \bigvee \qquad & \downarrow f \qquad & \downarrow \overline{f} \qquad & \downarrow \\ Cone(\widetilde{\pi}) & \longrightarrow Cone(\pi) & \longrightarrow Cone(\overline{\pi}) & \longrightarrow S_{s}^{1} \wedge Cone(\widetilde{\pi}) \\ & \downarrow \qquad & \downarrow \qquad & \downarrow \qquad & \downarrow \\ S_{s}^{1} \wedge \widehat{B}Spin_{n} & \longrightarrow S_{s}^{1} \wedge \widehat{B}SO_{n} & \longrightarrow S_{s}^{1} \wedge Cone(\widehat{a}_{n}) & \longrightarrow S_{s}^{2} \wedge \widehat{B}Spin_{n} \end{split}$$

The previous induces, in turn, a commutative diagram of long exact sequences in motivic cohomology with  $\mathbb{Z}$  /2-coefficients, where all the homomorphisms are compatible with Steenrod operations and respect the  $H(BSO_{n+1})$ -module structure. This remark comes from the fact that the following diagram of categories

is commutative up to a natural equivalence and both functors in the right bottom corner have adjoints from the right, so we have the action of Steenrod operations on the motivic cohomology of objects belonging to the image of  $Spc_*(BSO_{n+1})$  in  $\mathcal{DM}^-_{eff}(BSO_{n+1}, \mathbb{Z}/2)$  pulled from  $\mathcal{H}_{A^1,*}(k)$ .

All in all, using Propositions 2.3.6 and 2.3.10 and Theorem 2.3.7, which one is allowed to use since *Spin*-torsors are quadratic forms from  $I^3$  and for quadratic forms we have Witt cancellation, we have the following infinite grid of long exact sequences (#)



where all the homomorphisms are compatible with Steenrod operations and respect the  $H(BSO_{n+1})$ -module structure.

We recall that, by applying Proposition 2.2.5 to the smooth coherent morphism  $\pi : \widehat{BSO}_n \to BSO_{n+1}$ , which has fiber isomorphic to  $A_{q_{n+1}}$  whose reduced motive is Tate, there is a Thom isomorphism

$$H^{p-n-1,q-\lfloor \frac{n+1}{2} \rfloor}(BSO_{n+1}) \rightarrow H^{p,q}(Cone(\pi))$$

which sends 1 to the Thom class  $\alpha$  from Definition 2.2.6. By Theorem 2.4.2, modulo this isomorphism  $f^*$  is just the multiplication by the subtle Stiefel-Whitney class  $u_{n+1}$ , since it is the only class of its bidegree vanishing in

 $H(BO_n)$ . Since  $Spin_{n+1}/Spin_n \cong A_{q_{n+1}}$ , Proposition 2.2.5 applies also to the smooth coherent morphism  $\tilde{\pi} : \widehat{B}Spin_n \to BSpin_{n+1}$ . Therefore, we have a Thom isomorphism

$$H^{p-n-1,q-[\frac{n+1}{2}]}(BSpin_{n+1}) \to H^{p,q}(Cone(\widetilde{\pi}))$$

and a Thom class  $\tilde{\alpha} \in H^{n+1,\left[\frac{n+1}{2}\right]}(Cone(\tilde{\pi}))$ . We notice that, by Corollary 2.2.8,  $\tilde{\alpha}$  is nothing else but the restriction of  $\alpha$  from  $H^{n+1,\left[\frac{n+1}{2}\right]}(Cone(\pi))$  to  $H^{n+1,\left[\frac{n+1}{2}\right]}(Cone(\tilde{\pi}))$ . Hence, modulo the Thom isomorphism,  $\tilde{f}^*$  is multiplication by  $u_{n+1}$ . Moreover, from Propositions 2.2.7 we have that

$$M(Cone(\overline{\pi})) \cong M(Cone(a_{n+1}))([(n+1)/2])[n+1]$$

in  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(BSO_{n+1}, \mathbb{Z}/2)$  which induces an isomorphism

$$H^{p-n-1,q-\left[\frac{n+1}{2}\right]}(Cone(a_{n+1})) \to H^{p,q}(Cone(\overline{\pi}))$$

Note that, from Theorem 2.4.2,  $h^*$  is always the 0 homomorphism, which means at the same time that  $g^*$  is surjective and  $f^*$  is injective. From these remarks we obtain the next proposition.

**Proposition 3.2.1.**  $Sq^m \alpha = u_m \alpha$  for any  $m \le n+1$  and 0 otherwise. The same holds for  $\tilde{\alpha}$ .

*Proof.* We just notice that  $f^*(Sq^m\alpha) = Sq^m f^*(\alpha) = Sq^m u_{n+1} = u_m u_{n+1} = u_m f^*(\alpha) = f^*(u_m\alpha)$ . The result follows by injectivity of  $f^*$ .

#### 3.3 The action of some steenrod squares on $u_2$

Our first aim is to prove a result similar to Theorem 3.1.1. Our proof will basically consist in deducing the motivic case from the topological one. However, this method does not provide a proof of the regularity of Quillen's sequence in the motivic case. We notice that the main result we get in this section will be enough to compute a large part of the motivic cohomology of  $BSpin_n$  but not the whole, which, as we will see, would be possible by exactly the same methods of the next section if we knew the regularity of Quillen's sequence. For the rest of this section, the base field *k* will always be of characteristic different from 2 containing  $\sqrt{-1}$ .

We start by defining the elements  $\theta_j$  in  $H(BSO_n)$  inductively by the following formulas:

$$\theta_0 = u_2$$
$$\theta_{j+1} = Sq^{2^j}\theta_j$$

Similarly, define the elements  $\rho_j$  in  $H_{top}(BSO_n) = \mathbb{Z}/2[w_2, \dots, w_n]$  starting from  $w_2$ .

At this point, let us consider three homomorphisms  $i : H_{top}(BSO_n) \rightarrow H(BSO_n)$ ,  $h : H_{top}(BSO_n) \rightarrow H(BSO_n)$  and  $t : H(BSO_n) \rightarrow H_{top}(BSO_n)$ , where i is defined by imposing  $i(w_i) = u_i$  and extending to a ring homomorphism, h by imposing, for any monomial x,  $h(x) = \tau \left[\frac{p_{i(x)}}{2} - q_{i(x)}\right]i(x)$ , where  $(q_{i(x)})[p_{i(x)}]$  is the bidegree of i(x), and extending linearly and t by imposing  $t(u_i) = w_i$ ,  $t(\tau) = 1$  and  $t(K_r^M(k)/2) = 0$  for any r > 0 and extending to a ring homomorphism.

We start by describing some properties of these homomorphisms. First of all, *i* and *h* are graded with respect to the usual grading in  $H_{top}(BSO_n)$  and the square grading in  $H(BSO_n)$ . Besides, by the very definition of *h*, h(x) has bidegree  $\left(\left[\frac{p_{i(x)}}{2}\right]\right)[p_{i(x)}]$  for any homogeneous polynomial *x*. On the other hand, we notice that *h* is not a ring homomorphism. Anyway, we have the following lemmas.

**Lemma 3.3.1.** For any homogeneous polynomials x and y in  $H_{top}(BSO_n)$ , we have that  $h(xy) = \tau^{\epsilon}h(x)h(y)$ , where  $\epsilon$  is 1 if  $p_{i(x)}p_{i(y)}$  is odd and 0 otherwise.

*Proof.* At first consider two monomials *x* and *y*. Then, we get

$$h(xy) = \tau^{\left[\frac{p_{i(x)} + p_{i(y)}}{2} - q_{i(x)} - q_{i(y)}\right]}i(xy) =$$
  
$$\tau^{\epsilon + \left[\frac{p_{i(x)}}{2} - q_{i(x)}\right] + \left[\frac{p_{i(y)}}{2} - q_{i(y)}\right]}i(x)i(y) = \tau^{\epsilon}h(x)h(y)$$

where  $\epsilon$  is 1 if  $p_{i(x)}p_{i(y)}$  is odd and 0 otherwise. For homogeneous polynomials  $x = \sum_{j=0}^{l} x_j$  and  $y = \sum_{k=0}^{m} y_k$ , where  $x_j$  and  $y_k$  are monomials, we have

$$h(xy) = h(\sum_{j=0}^{l} \sum_{k=0}^{m} x_j y_k) = \sum_{j=0}^{l} \sum_{k=0}^{m} h(x_j y_k) = \sum_{j=0}^{l} \sum_{k=0}^{m} \tau^{\epsilon_{jk}} h(x_j) h(y_k)$$

where  $\epsilon_{jk}$  is 1 if  $p_{i(x_j)}p_{i(y_k)}$  is odd and 0 otherwise. Now, we recall that  $p_{i(x_j)} = p_{i(x)}$  and  $p_{i(y_k)} = p_{i(y)}$  for any *j* and *k*, from which it immediately follows that  $h(xy) = \tau^{\epsilon} \sum_{j=0}^{l} \sum_{k=0}^{m} h(x_j)h(y_k) = \tau^{\epsilon}h(x)h(y)$ , where  $\epsilon$  is 1 if  $p_{i(x)}p_{i(y)}$  is odd and 0 otherwise.

**Lemma 3.3.2.** For any homogeneous (respect to bidegree)  $z \in \mathbb{Z}/2[\tau, u_2, ..., u_n]$ , we have that  $ht(z) = \tau^{\left[\frac{p_z}{2} - q_z\right]} z$  (where  $\left[\frac{p_z}{2} - q_z\right]$  can possibly be negative).

*Proof.* Write z as  $\sum_{j=0}^{m} z_j$ , where  $z_j$  are monomials in  $\mathbb{Z} / 2[\tau, u_2, \dots, u_n]$ . Then,  $ht(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{m} ht(z_j) = \sum_{j=0}^{m} \tau^{\left[\frac{p_{it}(z_j)}{2} - q_{it}(z_j)\right]} it(z_j)$ . Notice that  $z_j = \tau^{n_j} x_j$ , for some monomials  $x_j$  in  $\mathbb{Z} / 2[u_2, \dots, u_n]$ . By the very definition of i and t we get that  $it(z_j) = x_j$ . Thus,

$$ht(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{m} \tau^{\left[\frac{p_{x_j}}{2} - q_{x_j}\right]} x_j = \sum_{j=0}^{m} \tau^{\left[\frac{p_{x_j}}{2} - q_{x_j} - n_j\right]} z_j = \tau^{\left[\frac{p_z}{2} - q_z\right]} z_j$$

since  $p_{x_i} = p_{z_i} = p_z$  and  $q_{x_i} + n_j = q_{z_i} = q_z$ .

**Lemma 3.3.3.** For any *j*,  $t(\theta_i) = \rho_i$  and  $h(\rho_i) = \theta_i$ .

*Proof.* Since a Wu formula holds even in the motivic case by 2.4.10, we get that  $t(\theta_j) = \rho_j$  by the very definition of t. Then,  $h(\rho_j) = ht(\theta_j) = \theta_j$  by Lemma 3.3.2 and by recalling that  $\theta_j$  is in bidegree  $(2^{j-1})[2^j + 1]$ .

At this point, denote by  $I_j$  the ideal in  $H(BSO_n)$  generated by  $\theta_0, \ldots, \theta_{j-1}$ and by  $I_j^{top}$  the ideal in  $H_{top}(BSO_n)$  generated by  $\rho_0, \ldots, \rho_{j-1}$ . We are now ready to prove the main result of this section.

**Proposition 3.3.4.** For any  $j \le k - 1$  and any homogeneous (respect to bidegree)  $z \in \mathbb{Z}/2[\tau, u_2, ..., u_n], z\theta_j \in I_j$  implies  $\tau^{\lfloor \frac{p_z}{2} - q_z \rfloor} z \in I_j$ . Moreover,  $\theta_k \in I_k$ , where k depends on n as in the table of Theorem 3.1.1.

*Proof.* From  $z\theta_j \in I_j$  we deduce that  $t(z)\rho_j \in I_j^{top}$ . Therefore, by Theorem 3.1.1 we have that  $t(z) = \sum_{l=0}^{j-1} \psi_l \rho_l$  for some homogeneous  $\psi_l \in H_{top}(BSO_n)$  and after applying h we obtain  $\tau^{\lfloor \frac{p_z}{2} - q_z \rfloor} z = \sum_{l=0}^{j-1} \tau^{\epsilon_l} h(\psi_l) \theta_l$  by Lemmas 3.3.1, 3.3.2 and 3.3.3. In order to finish the proof we only need to notice that, since  $\rho_k \in I_k^{top}$  by Theorem 3.1.2, then  $\theta_k = h(\rho_k) \in h(I_k^{top}) \subset I_k$ .

#### 3.4 THE MOTIVIC COHOMOLOGY RING OF $BSpin_n$

In this section we will prove a motivic version of Theorem 3.1.2 which unfortunately does not give the whole description of  $H(BSpin_n)$  since, as we have already pointed out in the previous section, we do not have a proof of the regularity of Quillen's sequence in the motivic case. Anyway, even without the regularity of this sequence, just by using Proposition 3.3.4 and the infinite diagram (#), it is possible to get the complete description of the motivic cohomology of  $BSpin_n$  over quadratically closed fields in bidegrees (\*')[\*] satisfying the condition  $* \leq 2*' + 1$ .

For now, let *k* be any field of characteristic different from 2. We start by showing that, as in topology, the second subtle Stiefel-Whitney class is trivial in the motivic cohomology ring  $H(BSpin_n)$ .

**Lemma 3.4.1.** For any  $n \ge 2$ ,  $u_2$  is trivial in  $H(BSpin_n)$ . Moreover, there exists a unique element  $x_0$  in  $H(Cone(a_n))$  such that  $b_n^*(x_0) = u_2$ .

*Proof.* Recall that  $SO_2 \cong Spin_2 \cong G_m$ , where  $G_m$  is the multiplicative group, and the morphism from  $Spin_2$  to  $SO_2$  is the double cover  $G_m \xrightarrow{(\cdot)^2} G_m$ . Then, for n = 2 the homomorphism

$$a_2^*: H(BG_m) = H[u_2] \to H(BG_m) = H[v_2]$$

sends  $u_2$  to  $2v_2$ , hence  $u_2 = 0$  in  $H(BSpin_2)$ .

Now, suppose  $u_2 = 0$  in  $H(BSpin_n)$ , then  $u_2$  should be divisible by  $u_{n+1}$  in  $H(BSpin_{n+1})$ , which forces  $u_2$  to be trivial by degree reasons. Therefore, by induction,  $u_2 = 0$  in  $H(BSpin_n)$  for any n. It immediately follows that there exists  $x_0$  in  $H(Cone(a_n))$  such that  $b_n^*(x_0) = u_2$  for any  $n \ge 2$ . We will prove its uniqueness by showing that  $b_n^*$  is a monomorphism in bidegree (1)[2]. First of all we notice that, for any  $n \ge 2$ ,  $H^{1,1}(BSpin_n) = K_1^M(k)/2$  by induction on n and by observing that  $\tilde{g}^*$  is an isomorphism in bidegree (1)[1]. Hence,  $c_n^* : H^{1,1}(BSpin_n) \to H^{2,1}(Cone(a_n))$  is the zero homomorphism, since the composition  $H^{1,1} \to H^{1,1}(BSO_n) \to H^{1,1}(BSpin_n)$  is surjective and, therefore, so is the second map. It follows that  $b_n^* : H^{2,1}(Cone(a_n)) \to H^{2,1}(BSO_n)$  is a monomorphism, as we aimed to show.

From the previous lemma, for any  $n \ge 2$ , we have a canonical set of elements  $x_j$  in  $H(Cone(a_n))$  defined by  $x_j = Sq^{2^{j-1}} \cdots Sq^1 x_0$  for any j > 0. Denote by  $\langle x_0, \ldots, x_{j-1} \rangle$  the  $H(BSO_n)$ -submodule of  $H(Cone(a_n))$  generated by  $x_0, \ldots, x_{j-1}$ . Before proceeding we need the following lemma.

**Lemma 3.4.2.**  $x_j \notin \langle x_0, ..., x_{j-1} \rangle$  in  $H(Cone(a_2))$ , and consequently in any  $H(Cone(a_n))$ , for any j.

*Proof.* We start by considering the Bockstein homomorphism  $\beta$  associated to the short exact sequence  $0 \rightarrow \mathbb{Z} \rightarrow \mathbb{Z} \rightarrow \mathbb{Z} / 2 \rightarrow 0$ . The homomorphism  $a_2^*$  on cohomology with integer coefficients sends  $u_2$  to  $2v_2$  where  $v_2$  is the generator of  $H(BSpin_2) = H(BG_m)$  and so is injective, hence  $b_2^*$  is the 0 homomorphism on cohomology with integer coefficients, from which it follows that  $x_0$  cannot come from any integral cohomology class. Thus,  $y = \beta(x_0) \neq 0$ . Moreover, since  $u_2$  comes from an integral cohomology class, we have  $b_2^*(y) = 0$ , so  $y = mc_2^*(v_2)$  for some integer *m*. At this point we notice that  $mv_2$  is covered by  $a_2^*$  for any even *m*, so *m* must be odd, which implies that *y* is not divisible by 2, since  $v_2 \mod(2)$  is not covered by  $a_2^*$ . This is enough to conclude that

$$x_1 = Sq^1x_0 = \beta(x_0) \mod(2) = y \mod(2) \neq 0$$

Hence,  $x_1 = c_2^*(v_2)$  from which we deduce that

$$x_j = Sq^{2^{j-1}} \dots Sq^2 x_1 = c_2^* (Sq^{2^{j-1}} \dots Sq^2 v_2) = c_2^* (v_2^{2^{j-1}})$$

Now, suppose that  $x_j \in \langle x_0, ..., x_{j-1} \rangle$ , in other words  $x_j = \sum_{i=0}^{j-1} \phi_i x_i$  for some  $\phi_i \in H[u_2]$ . Then, we would have that

$$\phi_0 u_2 = b_2^*(x_j + \sum_{i=0}^{j-1} \phi_i x_i) = 0$$

which implies  $\phi_0 = 0$ . Moreover, since positive powers of  $u_2$  act trivially on  $H[v_2]$  (with  $\mathbb{Z}$  /2-coefficients), we have that

$$c_{2}^{*}(v_{2}^{2^{j-1}}) = c_{2}^{*}(v_{2}^{2^{j-1}} + \sum_{i=1}^{j-1}\phi_{i}v_{2}^{2^{i-1}}) = 0$$

that is impossible since  $c_2^*$  is injective on the slope 2 line (above zero), which comes from the fact that  $H(BSO_2) = H[u_2]$  and  $a_2^*(u_2) = 0$ .

At this point, we are ready to prove our main result which provides the complete description of the  $* \le 2 *' + 1$  part of the motivic cohomology of *BSpin<sub>n</sub>* over quadratically closed fields.

**Theorem 3.4.3.** Let k be a quadratically closed field of characteristic different from 2. Then, for any  $n \ge 2$ , there exists a cohomology class  $v_{2^k}$  of bidegree  $(2^{k-1})[2^k]$  such that the natural homomorphism of H-algebras

$$H(BSO_n)/I_k \otimes_H H[v_{2^k}] \to H(BSpin_n)$$

is an isomorphism in bidegrees (\*')[\*] for any  $* \le 2*'+1$  and a monomorphism for \* = 2\*'+2, where  $I_k$  is the ideal generated by  $\theta_0, \ldots, \theta_{k-1}$  and k depends on n as in the table of Theorem 3.1.1.

*Proof.* Note that, since *k* is quadratically closed,  $K^M(k)/2$  is just  $\mathbb{Z}/2$ . Hence,  $H = \mathbb{Z}/2[\tau]$ . This remark will be used only in Lemma 3.4.7 in order to apply Proposition 3.3.4.

Our proof will go by induction on *n*, starting from n = 2.

*Base case*: For n = 2,  $H(BSpin_2) = H(BG_m) = H[v_2]$  provides our induction base.

*Inductive step*: We will denote by  $\theta'_j$  and  $\theta_j$  the class  $Sq^{2^{j-1}} \cdots Sq^1u_2$  in  $H(BSO_n)$  and  $H(BSO_{n+1})$  respectively, by  $I'_k$  the ideal generated by the elements  $u_2, \theta'_1, \ldots, \theta'_{k-1}$ , by  $I_k$  the ideal generated by  $u_2, \theta_1, \ldots, \theta_{k-1}$ , by  $x'_0$  and  $x_0$  the unique lifts of  $u_2$  to  $H(Cone(a_n))$  and  $H(Cone(a_{n+1}))$  respectively, by  $x'_j$  the class  $Sq^{2^{j-1}} \cdots Sq^1x'_0$  and by  $x_j$  the class  $Sq^{2^{j-1}} \cdots Sq^1x_0$ .

Now, suppose by induction hypothesis that we have a homomorphism

$$H(BSO_n)/I'_k \otimes_H H[v_{2^k}] \to H(BSpin_n)$$

which is an isomorphism in the  $* \le 2 *' + 1$  part and a monomorphism for \* = 2 \*' + 2, where k = k(n) according to the table of Theorem 3.1.1. From now on we will always consider, unless otherwise specified, bidegrees such that  $* \le 2 *' + 1$ .

Looking at the long exact sequence

$$\dots \to H^{*-1,*'}(BSpin_n, R) \to H^{*-n-1,*'-[(n+1)/2]}(BSpin_{n+1}, R) \xrightarrow{\cdot u_{n+1}} H^{*,*'}(BSpin_{n+1}, R) \to H^{*,*'}(BSpin_n, R) \to \dots$$

from the diagram (#) in Section 3.2 and by induction on degree we know that, in square degrees less than  $2^k$ , in  $H(BSpin_{n+1})$  there are only subtle Stiefel-Whitney classes, i.e. the homomorphism  $a_{n+1}^* : H(BSO_{n+1}) \rightarrow$  $H(BSpin_{n+1})$  is surjective in these degrees. Let w be a cohomology class in  $H^{2^k-n,2^{k-1}-[\frac{n+1}{2}]}(BSO_{n+1})$  such that  $a_{n+1}^*(w)\tilde{\alpha} = \tilde{h}^*(v_{2^k})$ , where  $\tilde{\alpha}$  is the Thom class of the morphism  $\tilde{g}$ . We point out that

$$a_{n+1}^*(u_{n+1}w) = u_{n+1}a_{n+1}^*(w) = \tilde{f}^*h^*(v_{2^k}) = 0$$

The following result enables to complete the induction step. It is indeed the core proposition that permits to conduct the proof of our main theorem.

**Proposition 3.4.4.** Suppose we have a commutative diagram

such that v is a lift from  $H(BSpin_n)$  to  $H(BSpin_{n+1})$  of a monic homogeneous polynomial c in  $v_{2^k}$  with coefficients in  $H(BSO_n)$ , l(v) = c and  $\tilde{h}^*(c) = 0$ .

If  $Im(\tilde{h}^*) = Im(p_{n+1}) \cdot \tilde{h}^*(v_{2^k})$  in the  $* \leq 2 *' + 2$  part, then  $ker(p_{n+1}) = J_k + (u_{n+1}w)$  in the  $* \leq 2 *' + 2$  part, where  $J_k$  is  $I_k \otimes_H H[v]$ .

If moreover  $ker(\tilde{h}^*) = Im(\tilde{g}^*p_{n+1})$  in the  $* \leq 2*'+1$  part, we get that the homomorphism

$$H(BSO_{n+1})/(I_k+(u_{n+1}w))\otimes_H H[v] \to H(BSpin_{n+1})$$

is an isomorphism in bidegrees (\*')[\*] such that  $* \le 2*'+1$  and a monomorphism in bidegrees (\*')[\*] such that \* = 2\*'+2.

*Proof.* We want to prove that  $p_{n+1}(x) = 0$  implies  $x \in J_k + (u_{n+1}w)$  for any x in bidegrees satisfying the condition  $* \le 2 *' + 2$ . We proceed by induction on the square degree of x. The induction base is guaranteed by the fact that the degree 2 part of the kernel is generated by  $u_2$  and  $u_2 \in I_k$ . Now, suppose that the claim is true for square degrees less than the square degree of x. We can write x as  $\sum_{j=0}^{m} \phi_j v^j$  for some  $\phi_j \in H(BSO_{n+1})$  in bidegrees satisfying  $* \le 2 *' + 2$ . Notice that  $p_n(g^* \otimes l)(x) = \tilde{g}^* p_{n+1}(x) = 0$ , therefore  $\sum_{j=0}^{m} p_n g^*(\phi_j) c^j = 0$ . From this we deduce that  $p_n g^*(\phi_j) = 0$  for any j since

by hypothesis *c* is a monic polynomial in  $v_{2^k}$  in  $H(BSpin_n)$ , so  $g^*(\phi_j) \in I'_k$ . Then,  $\phi_j \in I_k + (u_{n+1})$  since  $\phi_j + ig^*(\phi_j) \in (u_{n+1})$  and  $i(I'_k) \subset I_k + (u_{n+1})$ , where *i* is the inclusion of  $H(BSO_n)$  in  $H(BSO_{n+1})$  sending  $u_l$  to  $u_l$ . Hence, there are  $\psi_j \in H(BSO_{n+1})$  such that  $\phi_j + u_{n+1}\psi_j \in I_k$ , from which it follows that  $x + u_{n+1}z \in J_k$  where  $z = \sum_{j=0}^m \psi_j v^j$ . Hence,  $u_{n+1}p_{n+1}(z) = 0$  which implies that

$$p_{n+1}(z)\widetilde{\alpha} \in Im(\widetilde{h}^*) = Im(p_{n+1}) \cdot \widetilde{h}^*(v_{2^k}) = Im(p_{n+1}) \cdot p_{n+1}(w)\widetilde{\alpha}$$

from which we deduce that there exists an element y in  $H(BSO_{n+1}) \otimes_H H[v]$ such that  $p_{n+1}(z) = p_{n+1}(yw)$ . Therefore,  $z + yw \in J_k + (u_{n+1}w)$  by induction hypothesis. It follows that  $z \in J_k + (w)$  and  $x \in J_k + (u_{n+1}w)$ .

In order to prove the last part of the proposition we will show by induction on degree that, if  $ker(\tilde{h}^*) = Im(\tilde{g}^*p_{n+1})$ , then  $p_{n+1}$  is surjective in the  $* \leq 2*'+1$  part. The induction basis comes from the fact that, in square degree  $\leq 2$ ,  $H(BSpin_{n+1})$  is the same as the cohomology of the point. Take an element x and suppose that  $p_{n+1}$  is surjective in square degrees less than the square degree of x. From  $\tilde{g}^*(x) \in ker(\tilde{h}^*) = Im(\tilde{g}^*p_{n+1})$  it follows that there is an element  $\chi$  in  $H(BSO_{n+1}) \otimes_H H[v]$  such that  $\tilde{g}^*(x) = \tilde{g}^*p_{n+1}(\chi)$ . Therefore,  $x + p_{n+1}(\chi) = u_{n+1}z$  for some  $z \in H(BSpin_{n+1})$ . By induction hypothesis  $z = p_{n+1}(\zeta)$  for some element  $\zeta \in H(BSO_{n+1}) \otimes_H H[v]$ , hence  $x = p_{n+1}(\chi + u_{n+1}\zeta)$ , which is what we aimed to show.

So, in order to finalise the proof we only need to find a cohomology class v which does the job. There are two possible cases: 1)  $\tilde{h}^*(v_{2^k}) = 0$ ; 2)  $\tilde{h}^*(v_{2^k}) \neq 0$ .

*Case 1*: In this case  $v_{2^k}$  can be lifted to  $H(BSpin_{n+1})$  so w = 0 and we can choose  $c = v_{2^k}$ . It follows that  $Im(\tilde{h}^*) = 0 = Im(p_{n+1}) \cdot \tilde{h}^*(v_{2^k})$  in the  $* \leq 2 *' + 2$  part and  $ker(\tilde{h}^*) = H(BSpin_n) = Im(p_n) = Im(p_n(g^* \otimes l)) = Im(\tilde{g}^*p_{n+1})$  in the  $* \leq 2 *' + 1$  part, since in this case  $p_n$  and  $g^* \otimes l$  are surjective in the respective bidegrees. So, by Proposition 3.4.4, we have that the homomorphism

$$H(BSO_{n+1})/I_k \otimes_H H[v_{2^k}] \rightarrow H(BSpin_{n+1})$$

is an isomorphism in bidegrees (\*')[\*] such that  $* \le 2*'+1$  and a monomorphism for \* = 2\*'+2. Furthermore, we observe that k(n+1) = k(n) = k is the value predicted by the table of Theorem 3.1.1 since  $\theta_k \in I_k$  as it is zero in  $H(BSpin_{n+1})$  (because  $u_2$  is). Note that the bidegree of  $\theta_k$  satisfies \* = 2\*'+1. This completes the first case.

*Case* 2: In this case we notice that the element w such that  $a_{n+1}^*(w)\tilde{\alpha} = \tilde{h}^*(v_{2^k})$  must be different from 0. Moreover, since  $H(BSpin_n)$  is generated

by  $v_{2^k}^i$  as a  $H(BSO_n)$ -module (and, so, as a  $H(BSO_{n+1})$ -module) in the  $* \le 2*'+1$  part by induction hypothesis, we have that  $Im(\tilde{h}^*)$  is generated by  $\tilde{h}^*(v_{2^k}^i)$  as a  $H(BSO_{n+1})$ -module in the  $* \le 2*'+2$  part. At this point, we need the following lemmas.

**Lemma 3.4.5.**  $Sq^{m}a_{n+1}^{*}(w) \in \langle a_{n+1}^{*}(w) \rangle$  for any *m*, where  $\langle a_{n+1}^{*}(w) \rangle$  is the  $H(BSO_{n+1})$ -submodule of  $H(BSpin_{n+1})$  generated by  $a_{n+1}^{*}(w)$ .

*Proof.* We proceed by induction on *m*. For m = 0 there is nothing to prove and for  $m > 2^k - n$  we have that  $Sq^mw = 0$  by Corollary 2.4.11. Suppose the statement is true for integers less than  $m \le 2^k - n$ . Then,

$$Sq^{m}(u_{n+1}w) = \sum_{j=0}^{m} \tau^{j \mod 2} Sq^{j} u_{n+1} Sq^{m-j} w = \sum_{j=0}^{m} \tau^{j \mod 2} u_{j} u_{n+1} Sq^{m-j} w$$

from which it follows by applying  $a_{n+1}^*$ , by induction (on *m*) hypothesis and by recalling that  $u_{n+1}a_{n+1}^*(w) = 0$  that

$$0 = Sq^{m}(u_{n+1}a_{n+1}^{*}(w)) = \sum_{j=0}^{m} \tau^{j \mod 2} u_{j}u_{n+1}Sq^{m-j}a_{n+1}^{*}(w) = u_{n+1}Sq^{m}a_{n+1}^{*}(w)$$

Hence,  $\tilde{f}^*(Sq^m a_{n+1}^*(w)\tilde{\alpha}) = 0$ , from which it follows that  $Sq^m a_{n+1}^*(w)\tilde{\alpha} \in Im(\tilde{h}^*)$ . Now, note that  $Sq^m a_{n+1}^*(w)\tilde{\alpha}$  lies in the  $* \leq 2*'+2$  part. Therefore, by the remark just before this lemma, we obtain that  $Sq^m a_{n+1}^*(w)\tilde{\alpha} = \sum_{i\geq 1}\phi_i\tilde{h}^*(v_{2^k}^i)$  for some  $\phi_i \in H(BSO_{n+1})$ . But, for any i > 1, the square degree of  $\tilde{h}^*(v_{2^k}^i)$  is greater than that of  $Sq^m a_{n+1}^*(w)\tilde{\alpha}$ . We deduce that  $Sq^m a_{n+1}^*(w)\tilde{\alpha} = \phi_1\tilde{h}^*(v_{2^k})$ , from which it follows that

$$Sq^{m}a_{n+1}^{*}(w) = \phi_{1}a_{n+1}^{*}(w) \in \langle a_{n+1}^{*}(w) \rangle$$

which is what we aimed to prove.

**Lemma 3.4.6.** For any m > 1 there exist elements  $\lambda_m$  and  $\mu_m$  in  $H(BSpin_{n+1})$  such that  $\tilde{h}^*(v_{2^k}^m) = \lambda_m \tilde{h}^*(v_{2^k})$ ,  $\tilde{g}^*(\mu_m) = v_{2^k}^m + \tilde{g}^*(\lambda_m)v_{2^k}$ ,  $\lambda_m$  and  $\mu_m$  are in the image of  $H(BSO_{n+1}) \otimes_H H[\mu_2]$  and  $\mu_m$  is divisible by  $\mu_2$ .

*Proof.* We notice that by Proposition 3.2.1 and Corollary 2.4.11

$$\widetilde{h}^*(v_{2^k}^2) = \widetilde{h}^*(Sq^{2^k}v_{2^k}) = Sq^{2^k}(a_{n+1}^*(w)\widetilde{\alpha}) =$$
$$(\tau^{n \mod 2}Sq^{2^k-n}a_{n+1}^*(w)u_n + \tau^{(n+1) \mod 2}Sq^{2^k-n-1}a_{n+1}^*(w)u_{n+1})\widetilde{\alpha}$$

which belongs to  $\langle \tilde{h}^*(v_{2^k}) \rangle$  by Lemma 3.4.5. In other words, there is an element  $\lambda_2$  in  $H(BSO_{n+1})$  such that  $\tilde{h}^*(v_{2^k}^2) = \lambda_2 \tilde{h}^*(v_{2^k})$ . Indeed, recalling that  $a_{n+1}^*(w)u_{n+1} = 0$ , the element  $\lambda_2$  can be obtained in this way: first, note that  $Sq^{2^k-n}a_{n+1}^*(w) = ra_{n+1}^*(w)$  by previous lemma, then  $\lambda_2 = \tau^{n \mod 2} ru_n$ .

Denote by  $\mu_2$  a lift of  $v_{2^k}^2 + \tilde{g}^*(\lambda_2)v_{2^k}$  to  $H(BSpin_{n+1})$ . Suppose the statement is true for *m*, so, taking into account that  $\tilde{h}^*$  is  $H(BSpin_{n+1})$ -linear, we have  $\tilde{h}^*(v_{2^k}^{m+1}) = \tilde{h}^*((v_{2^k}^m + \tilde{g}^*(\lambda_m)v_{2^k})v_{2^k} + \tilde{g}^*(\lambda_m)v_{2^k}^2) = \mu_m \tilde{h}^*(v_{2^k}) + \lambda_m \lambda_2 \tilde{h}^*(v_{2^k})$ Denote by  $\lambda_{m+1}$  the element  $\mu_m + \lambda_m \lambda_2$  and by  $\mu_{m+1}$  the element  $\lambda_m \mu_2$ .

$$\begin{split} \tilde{g}^{*}(\mu_{m+1}) &= \tilde{g}^{*}(\lambda_{m}\mu_{2}) = \tilde{g}^{*}(\lambda_{m})(v_{2^{k}}^{2} + \tilde{g}^{*}(\lambda_{2})v_{2^{k}}) = \tilde{g}^{*}(\lambda_{m})v_{2^{k}}^{2} + \\ \tilde{g}^{*}(\lambda_{m+1} + \mu_{m})v_{2^{k}} &= (\tilde{g}^{*}(\lambda_{m})v_{2^{k}} + \tilde{g}^{*}(\lambda_{m+1}) + v_{2^{k}}^{m} + \tilde{g}^{*}(\lambda_{m})v_{2^{k}})v_{2^{k}} = \\ v_{2^{k}}^{m+1} + \tilde{g}^{*}(\lambda_{m+1})v_{2^{k}} \end{split}$$

and the proof is complete.

Then,

Now consider the following commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{c|c} H(BSO_{n+1}) \otimes_H H[\mu_2] \xrightarrow{g^* \otimes l} H(BSO_n) \otimes_H H[v_{2^k}^2 + \tilde{g}^*(\lambda_2)v_{2^k}] \\ & p_{n+1} \downarrow & \downarrow p_n \\ H(BSpin_{n+1}) \xrightarrow{\tilde{g}^*} H(BSpin_n) \end{array}$$

From the previous lemma and from the remark before Lemma 3.4.5 we get that  $Im(\tilde{h}^*) = Im(p_{n+1}) \cdot \tilde{h}^*(v_{2^k})$  in the  $* \le 2 *' + 2$  part. Then, by Proposition 3.4.4, we obtain that  $ker(p_{n+1}) = J_k + (u_{n+1}w)$  in the  $* \le 2 *' + 2$  part.

Recall that, by looking at diagram (#) and by induction on degree, the cohomology group  $H^{2^k,2^{k-1}}(BSpin_{n+1})$  consists only of subtle Stiefel-Whitney classes, since we are studying the case that  $v_{2^k}$  is not covered by  $\tilde{g}^*$ . Hence,

$$c_{n+1}^*: H^{2^k, 2^{k-1}}(BSpin_{n+1}) \to H^{2^k+1, 2^{k-1}}(Cone(a_{n+1}))$$

is the zero homomorphism and  $b_{n+1}^*$  is injective in the bidegree of  $x_k$ , from which we deduce that  $\theta_k \notin I_k$  since  $x_k \notin \langle x_0, \dots, x_{k-1} \rangle$  by Lemma 3.4.2. Therefore, by observing that  $ker(p_{n+1}) = J_k + (u_{n+1}w)$  in the  $* \leq 2 *' + 2$ part and  $p_{n+1}(\theta_k) = 0$  we get that  $\theta_k + u_{n+1}w \in I_k$  which implies that  $ker(p_{n+1}) = J_{k+1}$  in the same bidegrees.

In order to finish, we need the following lemma.

**Lemma 3.4.7.**  $ker(\tilde{h}^*) = Im(\tilde{g}^*p_{n+1})$  in the  $* \le 2 *' + 1$  part.

*Proof.* Let us set  $\mu_1 = \lambda_0 = 0$  and  $\mu_0 = \lambda_1 = 1$ . Let *x* be an element of the kernel. We can write *x* as  $\sum_{j=0}^{m} \gamma_j v_{2^k}^j$  with  $\gamma_j \in H(BSO_{n+1})$ . Then, by Lemma 3.4.6,

$$x = \sum_{j=0}^{m} \gamma_j(\tilde{g}^*(\mu_j) + \tilde{g}^*(\lambda_j)v_{2^k})$$

from which it follows by applying  $\tilde{h}^*$  that  $\sum_{j=0}^m \gamma_j \lambda_j \tilde{h}^*(v_{2^k}) = 0$ . Denote by  $\sigma$  the element  $\sum_{j=0}^m \gamma_j \lambda_j$  in  $H(BSO_{n+1}) \otimes_H H[\mu_2]$ . From

$$p_{n+1}(\sigma w)\widetilde{\alpha} = p_{n+1}(\sigma)a_{n+1}^*(w)\widetilde{\alpha} = p_{n+1}(\sigma)\widetilde{h}^*(v_{2^k}) = 0$$

we get  $\sigma w \in J_{k+1}$ , since  $ker(p_{n+1}) = J_{k+1}$  in the  $* \leq 2*'+2$  part. Thus,  $\sigma w = \sum_{j=0}^{k} \sigma_{j} \theta_{j}$  for some  $\sigma_{j} \in H(BSO_{n+1}) \otimes_{H} H[\mu_{2}]$  and, multiplying by  $u_{n+1}$ , we obtain that  $u_{n+1}\sigma w + u_{n+1}\sigma_{k}\theta_{k} \in J_{k}$ . On the other hand,  $\theta_{k} + u_{n+1}w \in I_{k}$ , from which it follows by multiplying by  $\sigma$  that  $\sigma \theta_{k} + u_{n+1}\sigma w \in J_{k}$ . Hence,  $(\sigma + u_{n+1}\sigma_{k})\theta_{k} \in J_{k}$ . By Proposition 3.3.4 we deduce that  $\tau^{m}(\sigma + u_{n+1}\sigma_{k}) \in J_{k}$  for some m which in this case is non positive since  $\sigma$  is in the  $* \leq 2*'+1$  part of  $H(BSO_{n+1}) \otimes_{H} H[\mu_{2}]$ , from which it follows that  $\sigma \in J_{k} + (u_{n+1})$ . Therefore,  $\tilde{g}^{*}p_{n+1}(\sigma) = 0$  in  $H(BSpin_{n})$  and

$$x = \sum_{j=0}^{m} \gamma_j \tilde{g}^*(\mu_j) \in Im(\tilde{g}^*p_{n+1})$$

as we aimed to show.

Denote by  $v_{2^{k+1}}$  the class  $\mu_2$ , then by Proposition 3.4.4 we get that the homomorphism

$$H(BSO_{n+1})/I_{k+1} \otimes_H H[v_{2^{k+1}}] \rightarrow H(BSpin_{n+1})$$

is an isomorphism in bidegrees (\*')[\*] such that  $* \le 2*'+1$  and a monomorphism for \* = 2\*'+2. Moreover, since  $\theta_k \notin I_k$  we have that  $\rho_k \notin I_k^{top}$  from which it follows that k(n+1) = k(n) + 1 = k + 1 by the remark just after Theorem 3.1.2. This completes the proof of the second case.

Notice that Proposition 3.4.4 works completely fine without any restriction on degrees. This means that the only obstruction in the proof of the previous theorem to conclude that the homomorphism

$$H(BSO_n)/I_k \otimes_H H[v_{2^k}] \to H(BSpin_n)$$

is an isomorphism everywhere lies in Lemma 3.4.7 which is the only place where the restriction to bidegrees that satisfy the condition  $* \le 2 *' + 1$  is really needed. Indeed, this restriction is necessary in the above mentioned lemma since we do not have a proof of the regularity of the sequence considered by Quillen. Anyway, it is reasonable to formulate the following question.

**Question 3.4.8.** *Is the sequence*  $u_2, \theta_1, \ldots, \theta_{k-1}$  *a regular sequence in the polynomial ring*  $\mathbb{Z}/2[\tau, u_2, \ldots, u_n]$ *, where k depends on n as in the table of Theorem 3.1.1?* 

The answer to the previous question is easily proved to be positive for  $n \leq 12$ . Moreover, we notice that the regularity of Quillen's sequence in topology implies the regularity of the sequence  $1 + \tau, u_2, \theta_1, \ldots, \theta_{k-1}$  in  $H(BSO_n)$ , which unfortunately does not imply the regularity of our sequence since  $1 + \tau$  is not a homogeneous polynomial of positive degree. For this reason, one would rather work with the sequence  $\tau, u_2, \theta_1, \ldots, \theta_{k-1}$  which is made of homogeneous elements, but this happens to be not regular already for n = 11. Besides, we would like to mention that Quillen's method to prove Theorem 3.1.1 does not immediately apply to our situation since the homomorphism he considered  $H(BSO_n) \hookrightarrow H(BO_1^{\times n})$  is not faithfully flat in the motivic case, so it does not in principle preserve regular sequences.

Nevertheless, we would like to conclude this section by highlighting that, by exactly the same arguments of Theorem 3.4.3 (just by substituting Proposition 3.3.4 with the regularity of Quillen's sequence in the motivic case in the proof of Lemma 3.4.7), the following conditional result holds.

**Theorem 3.4.9.** Let k be a field of characteristic different from 2 containing  $\sqrt{-1}$ . *If the answer to Question 3.4.8 is affirmative, then we have an isomorphism* 

$$H(BSpin_n) \cong H(BSO_n) / I_k \otimes_H H[v_{2^k}]$$

where k depends on n as in the table of Theorem 3.1.1.

As we have pointed out, at the end, everything is reduced to answer Question 3.4.8. Once one has the regularity of the needed sequence in  $\mathbb{Z}/2[\tau, u_2, ..., u_n]$  it is possible to obtain the complete description of the motivic cohomology ring of  $BSpin_n$  over any field of characteristic different from 2 containing  $\sqrt{-1}$ . In fact, in the previous theorem, we do not require k to be quadratically closed anymore, since the regularity of the motivic sequence in  $\mathbb{Z}/2[\tau, u_2, ..., u_n]$  would imply the regularity of the same sequence in  $H[u_2, ..., u_n]$ . Moreover, since one can easily check the regularity of the sequence for  $n \leq 12$ , our main theorem provides the whole computation of  $H(BSpin_n)$  over any field of characteristic different from 2 containing  $\sqrt{-1}$  for any  $n \leq 12$ .

#### 3.5 RELATIONS AMONG SUBTLE CLASSES FOR $Spin_n$ -torsors

In this section we deduce, just from the triviality of  $u_2$  in the motivic cohomology of  $BSpin_n$ , some very simple relations among subtle classes in the motivic cohomology of the Čech simplicial scheme associated to a  $Spin_n$ -torsor. Here, we work over a base field k of characteristic different from 2 containing  $\sqrt{-1}$ .

We start by recalling that  $Spin_n$ -torsors over the point correspond to *n*-dimensional quadratic forms from  $I^3$ , where *I* is the fundamental ideal in the Witt ring. Moreover, we have the following commutative diagram



for any *n*-dimensional  $q \in I^3$  and all above-diagonal classes in  $H(BSpin_n)$  coming from étale classifying space trivialize in  $H(\check{C}(X_q))$ , since the abovediagonal cohomology of a point is zero. Here  $\check{C}(X_q)$  is the Čech simplicial scheme associated to the torsor q. In particular Chern classes  $c_i(q) = \tau^{i \mod 2} u_i(q)^2$  are zero, as these are coming from the étale space.

From previous remarks we obtain the following proposition, which provides us with relations among subtle characteristic classes for quadratic forms from  $I^3$ .

**Proposition 3.5.1.** For any *n*-dimensional  $q \in I^3$ , the following relations hold in  $H(\check{C}(X_q))$ 

$$\sum_{h=0}^{2^{j}} u_{2^{j}-h}(q) u_{2^{j}+1+h}(q) = 0$$

for any *j* satisfying  $2^j + 1 \le n$ .

Proof. We will actually prove that

$$\theta_{j+1}(q) = \sum_{h=0}^{2^{j}} u_{2^{j}-h}(q) u_{2^{j}+1+h}(q)$$

and the result will follow by recalling that  $u_2(q) = 0$ . For j = 0 and j = 1 we have respectively  $\theta_1(q) = u_3(q)$  and  $\theta_2(q) = u_2(q)u_3(q) + u_5(q)$ , which provide our induction basis. Suppose the statement holds for  $\theta_j(q)$  with  $j \ge 2$ , then by Cartan formula and Proposition 2.4.10 we have that

$$\begin{split} \theta_{j+1}(q) &= Sq^{2^{j}}\theta_{j}(q) = Sq^{2^{j}}\sum_{h=0}^{2^{j-1}}u_{2^{j-1}-h}(q)u_{2^{j-1}+1+h}(q) \\ &= \sum_{h=0}^{2^{j-1}-1}(\tau^{h\,mod2}u_{2^{j-1}-h}(q)^{2}Sq^{2^{j-1}+h}u_{2^{j-1}+1+h}(q) \\ &+ \tau^{(h+1)\,mod2}Sq^{2^{j-1}-h-1}u_{2^{j-1}-h}(q)u_{2^{j-1}+1+h}(q)^{2}) + Sq^{2^{j}}u_{2^{j}+1}(q) \\ &= \sum_{h=0}^{2^{j-1}-1}(c_{2^{j-1}-h}(q)Sq^{2^{j-1}+h}u_{2^{j-1}+1+h}(q) + Sq^{2^{j-1}-h-1}u_{2^{j-1}-h}(q)c_{2^{j-1}+1+h}(q)) \\ &+ \sum_{h=0}^{2^{j}}u_{2^{j}-h}(q)u_{2^{j}+1+h}(q) = \sum_{h=0}^{2^{j}}u_{2^{j}-h}(q)u_{2^{j}+1+h}(q) \end{split}$$

In other words, we obtain that

$$u_{2^{j}+1}(q) = \sum_{h=0}^{2^{j-1}-1} u_{2^{j-1}-h}(q) u_{2^{j-1}+1+h}(q)$$

for any *j* satisfying  $2^j + 1 \le n$ .

In [47], Smirnov and Vishik have highlighted the deep relation between subtle Stiefel-Whitney classes and the *J*-invariant of quadrics defined in [56]. More precisely, they proved the following result.

**Theorem 3.5.2.** *Let* q *be an* n*-dimensional quadratic form,* p = q*, for even* n*, and*  $p = q \perp \langle det_{\pm}(q) \rangle$ *, for odd* n*. Then,* 

$$u_{2j+1}(p) \in (u_{2l+1}(p)|0 \le l < j) \Rightarrow j \in J(q)$$

Proof. See [47, Corollary 3.2.22].

From the previous theorem and from Proposition 3.5.1 we immediately deduce the following well known corollary.

**Corollary 3.5.3.** For any *n*-dimensional  $q \in I^3$ ,  $2^{j-1} \in J(q)$  for any *j* satisfying  $2^j + 1 \leq n$ .

#### 3.6 The motivic cohomology of $BG_2$

In this last section, we use the main result of this chapter, namely Theorem 3.4.3, to compute the motivic cohomology ring of the Nisnevich classifying space of  $G_2$ . This enables us to obtain motivic invariants for  $G_2$ -torsors, i.e. octonion algebras.

We start by noticing that there is a fiber sequence

$$A_{q_8} \rightarrow BG_2 \rightarrow BSpin_7$$

(see for example [3]). We can exploit this sequence and previous results to compute the motivic cohomology ring of  $BG_2$ . Before proceeding, note that by the remark just after Theorem 3.4.9 we know the complete description of  $H(BSpin_7)$  over any field of characteristic different from 2 containing  $\sqrt{-1}$ .

**Theorem 3.6.1.** Let k be a field of characteristic different from 2 containing  $\sqrt{-1}$ . Then, the motivic cohomology ring of BG<sub>2</sub> is completely described by

$$H(BG_2) = H[u_4, u_6, u_7]$$

 $\square$ 

*Proof.* Since  $Spin_7/G_2 \cong A_{q_8}$ , by applying Proposition 2.2.5 to the smooth coherent morphism  $\widehat{B}G_2 \to BSpin_7$ , we get a Gysin long exact sequence of  $H(BSpin_7)$ -modules in motivic cohomology

$$\dots \to H^{p-8,q-4}(BSpin_7) \to H^{p,q}(BSpin_7) \to H^{p,q}(BG_2) \to H^{p-7,q-4}(BSpin_7) \to \dots$$

Hence, in order to be able to describe  $H(BG_2)$  we only need to understand where 1 is sent under the morphism  $H^{p-8,q-4}(BSpin_7) \rightarrow H^{p,q}(BSpin_7)$ . Recall that from Theorem 3.4.3 we have that  $H(BSpin_7) = H[u_4, u_6, u_7, v_8]$ .

Note that there is a commutative diagram

where all the vertical maps are induced by the sporadic isomorphisms  $SL_2 \cong Spin_3$ ,  $SL_2 \times SL_2 \cong Spin_4$  and  $SL_4 \cong Spin_6$ . It induces a commutative diagram of motivic cohomology rings

where the first vertical arrow identifies c with  $v_4$ , the last vertical arrow identifies  $c_2$  with  $u_4$  and  $c_3$  with  $u_6$ , c' and c'' are sent both to c and  $c_4$  maps to c'c''. Now, note that  $H(BSpin_6) \rightarrow H(BSpin_4)$  factors through  $H(BSpin_5) = H[u_4, v_8]$ . Since  $\tilde{h}^* : H(BSpin_4) \rightarrow H(BSpin_5)$  is nontrivial, the class w from Theorem 3.4.3 is equal to 1 and, so, by Lemma 3.4.6 we know that  $\lambda_2 = u_4$ . Hence,  $v_8$  maps to  $v_4^2 + u_4v_4$ . Moreover, notice that the second vertical arrow identifies c' with  $v_4$  and c'' with  $v_4 + u_4$ . It follows that c'c'' is identified with  $v_4^2 + u_4v_4$ . Therefore,  $c_4$  is identified with  $v_8$  since they are the only classes in their degrees that restrict to the same element.

Moreover, we can notice that there is a cartesian square of simplicial schemes given by



Recall that  $H(BSL_3) = H[c_2, c_3]$ ,  $H(BSL_4) = H[c_2, c_3, c_4]$  and  $H(BSpin_6) = H[u_4, u_6, v_8]$  with the identifications  $c_2 = u_4$ ,  $c_3 = u_6$  and  $c_4 = v_8$  discussed above. Hence, by Corollary 2.2.8 we easily deduce that the morphism  $H^{p-8,q-4}(BSpin_7) \rightarrow H^{p,q}(BSpin_7)$  is multiplication by  $v_8 + \{a\}u_7$ , from which it immediately follows that  $H(BG_2) = H[u_4, u_6, u_7]$ , which is what we aimed to prove.

# 4

## SUBTLE CHARACTERISTIC CLASSES AND HERMITIAN FORMS

In this chapter we will focus instead on the unitary group  $U_n(E/k)$  associated to the standard split hermitian form of a quadratic extension E/k. In particular, we will compute the motivic cohomology with  $\mathbb{Z}$  /2-coefficients of its Nisnevich classifying space. As in the orthogonal case, this will provide us with *subtle characteristic classes* which allow to approach the classification of  $U_n(E/k)$ -torsors over the point, which are nothing else but *n*-dimensional *hermitian forms* of E/k, which are in one-to-one correspondence with 2n-dimensional quadratic forms over *k* divisible by the norm form of the quadratic extension considered.

In [47], the computation of the motivic cohomology of  $BO_n$  is conducted inductively by using fibrations with motivically Tate fibers. In our situation, new features will appear. In particular, the fibrations in the unitary case, similar to those considered in the orthogonal one, will have reduced fibers which (depending on parity) are not motivically Tate but, anyway, invertible, which will still allow the computation. These invertible motives are, not surprisingly, closely related to the Rost motive of our quadratic extension. As a consequence, we obtain that, unlike the orthogonal case, the classifying space of the unitary group is not cellular, but it becomes one once tensored with the Cech simplicial scheme of the Pfister form of the quadratic extension. Related to this, we observe an interesting interaction between invertible objects and idempotents in Voevodsky category. It is manifested, in particular, by the fact that the cohomology of the tensor product of  $BU_n(E/k)$  with the Čech simplicial scheme above mentioned happens to be a direct limit of the cohomology of  $BU_n(E/k)$  tensored with powers of an invertible motive.

We also note that, although studying hermitian forms is the same as studying quadratic forms divisible by a Pfister form, the understanding of the unitary case allows to trace back information from the hermitian world to the quadratic one. In particular, from the computation of the motivic cohomology of  $BU_n(E/k)$  we get relations among subtle Stiefel-Whitney classes in the cohomology of the Čech simplicial scheme of the respective quadratic form divisible by a binary Pfister form. These relations supply information about the kernel invariant of this particular class of quadratic forms. In this sense, for quadratic forms associated to hermitian forms, the cohomology of  $BU_n(E/k)$  is much closer to one of the Čech simplicial scheme of the torsor than the cohomology of  $BO_{2n}$ .

We will finish the chapter by showing that these subtle invariants see the triviality of hermitian forms, in the same way as subtle Stiefel-Whitney classes do for quadratic forms. Moreover, we will get a description of the motive of the torsor associated to a hermitian form in terms of its subtle classes.

#### 4.1 SOME GENERALITIES ON HERMITIAN FORMS

We will start this section by recalling a few general facts and fixing some conventions about hermitian forms and unitary groups. Everything can be found in some standard reference such as [46].

Fix a base field *k* of characteristic different from 2. Given a quadratic extension  $E = k(\sqrt{\alpha})$  and an *n*-dimensional *E*-vector space *V*, an *n*-dimensional hermitian form is a map  $h : V \times V \rightarrow E$  which is *E*-linear in the first factor and such that  $h(v, w) = \sigma(h(w, v))$  (where  $\sigma$  is the generator of Gal(E/k)). It follows immediately from the definition that the diagonal part of a hermitian form takes values in *k* and is a quadratic form. We will denote by  $\tilde{h}$  this 2*n*-dimensional quadratic form over *k* defined by  $\tilde{h}(v) = h(v, v)$  for any  $v \in V$  considered as a 2*n*-dimensional *k*-vector space. Moreover, notice that the quadratic form  $\tilde{h}$  just defined is divisible by  $\langle\langle\alpha\rangle\rangle$ , the 1-fold Pfister form associated to  $\alpha$ . Indeed, more is true, namely any quadratic form over *k* divisible by  $\langle\langle\alpha\rangle\rangle$  is associated to some hermitian form, and the correspondence is bijective. In fact, given two *n*-dimensional hermitian forms *h* and *h'*, we have that  $h \cong h'$  if and only if  $\tilde{h} \cong \tilde{h'}$  ([26, Corollary 9.2]).

As before, we will express by  $q_n$  the standard split quadratic form  $\perp_{i=1}^n \langle (-1)^{i-1} \rangle$  and by  $\mathbb{H}$  the hyperbolic form  $\langle 1, -1 \rangle$ . Similarly, we will denote by  $h_n$  the standard split hermitian form  $\perp_{i=1}^n \langle (-1)^{i-1} \rangle$ . Notice, in particular, that  $\tilde{h}_n = \langle \langle \alpha \rangle \rangle \otimes q_n$ . By  $U_n(E/k)$  we will mean the unitary group of invertible  $n \times n$ -matrices over E that preserve the standard split hermitian form  $h_n$ . Notice that this is a linear algebraic group over k.

### 4.2 ČECH SIMPLICIAL SCHEME AND ROST MOTIVE OF A QUADRATIC EXTENSION

Let  $E = k(\sqrt{\alpha})$  be a quadratic extension of k. Then, the motive of Spec(E)in  $\mathcal{DM}^-_{eff}(k, \mathbb{Z}/2)$  is the Rost motive  $M_{\alpha}$  of the Pfister form  $\langle \langle \alpha \rangle \rangle$ . It is proven in [45] (see 6.1.4 for more details) that this motive comes endowed with two morphisms  $M_{\alpha} \to T$  and  $T \to M_{\alpha}$  such that the composition  $T \to M_{\alpha} \to T$  is the 0 morphism and becomes a split distinguished triangle in  $\mathcal{DM}^-_{eff}(E, \mathbb{Z}/2)$ .

Moreover, in [62] (see 6.1.6 for more details) it is shown that  $M_{\alpha}$  can be presented as an extension of two motives of Čech simplicial schemes. More precisely, in  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(k, \mathbb{Z}/2)$  there is the following distinguished triangle

$$M_{\alpha} \to \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \to \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}[1] \to M_{\alpha}[1]$$
 (\*)

where  $\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}$  is the motive of the Čech simplicial scheme of the Pfister quadric associated to the Pfister form  $\langle \langle \alpha \rangle \rangle$ .

Let  $N_>$  be  $Cone(T \to M_{\alpha})$  and  $N_<$  be  $Cone(M_{\alpha} \to T)[-1]$ . Since we have that Hom(T, T[j]) = 0 for  $j \neq 0$  and we are working with  $\mathbb{Z}$  /2-coefficients, the morphism  $T \to M_{\alpha}$  is uniquely liftable to  $N_<$  while the morphism  $M_{\alpha} \to T$  is uniquely extendable to  $N_>$ . It immediately follows from the octahedron axiom that  $Cone(N_> \to T)[-1] \cong Cone(T \to N_<)$ . We will denote this motive by  $\widehat{M}_{\alpha}$ .

In this section, we will study the above mentioned motives and their motivic cohomology. We start by establishing relations among them.

**Proposition 4.2.1.** The following isomorphisms hold in  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(k, \mathbb{Z}/2)$ : 1)  $M_{\alpha} \otimes \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \cong M_{\alpha}$  via  $M_{\alpha} \otimes (\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \to T)$ ; 2)  $N_{>} \otimes \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \cong \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}$  via  $(N_{>} \to T) \otimes \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}$ ; 3)  $M_{\alpha} \otimes N_{>} \cong M_{\alpha}$  via  $M_{\alpha} \otimes (N_{>} \to T)$ ; 4)  $N_{<} \otimes N_{>} \cong T$ ; 5)  $\widehat{M_{\alpha}} \otimes N_{>} \cong \widehat{M_{\alpha}}[1]$  via  $\widehat{M_{\alpha}} \otimes (N_{>} \to T[1])$ .

*Proof.* 1) Since  $\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}$  is a projector in  $\mathcal{DM}^{-}_{eff}(k, \mathbb{Z}/2)$  we have that  $\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \cong \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}$ . Hence, by tensoring with  $\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}$  the distinguished triangle

$$M_{\alpha} \to \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \to \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}[1] \to M_{\alpha}[1]$$

we obtain that  $M_{\alpha} \otimes \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \cong M_{\alpha}$ .

2) Therefore, by tensoring with  $\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}$  the distinguished triangle

$$T \to M_{\alpha} \to N_{>} \to T[1]$$

and by recalling that the morphism  $\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \to M_{\alpha}$  from (\*) factors through *T* we get that  $N_{>} \otimes \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \cong \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}$ .

- 3) It follows formally from 1) and 2).
- 4) On the other hand, by tensoring with  $N_>$  the distinguished triangle

$$N_{<} \rightarrow M_{\alpha} \rightarrow T \rightarrow N_{<}[1]$$

and by noticing that  $(M_{\alpha} \to T) \otimes N_{>}$  coincides with  $M_{\alpha} \to N_{>}$  we obtain that  $N_{<} \otimes N_{>} \cong T$ .

5) Finally, by tensoring with  $N_{>}$  the distinguished triangle

$$T \to N_{<} \to \widehat{M_{\alpha}} \to T[1]$$

and by noticing that  $(T \to N_{<}) \otimes N_{>}$  coincides with  $N_{>} \to T$  we have that  $\widehat{M}_{\alpha} \otimes N_{>} \cong \widehat{M}_{\alpha}[1]$ .

From the previous proposition we immediately deduce the following lemma.

**Lemma 4.2.2.** In  $\mathcal{DM}^-_{eff}(k, \mathbb{Z}/2)$  for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  there are the following distinguished triangles:

1)  $N_{\geq}^{\otimes n-1} \to M_{\alpha} \to N_{\geq}^{\otimes n} \to N_{\geq}^{\otimes n-1}[1];$ 2)  $\widehat{M}_{\alpha}[n-1] \to N_{\geq}^{\otimes n} \to N_{\geq}^{\otimes n-1} \to \widehat{M}_{\alpha}[n].$ Here,  $M_{\alpha} \to N_{\geq}^{\otimes n}$  and  $N_{\geq}^{\otimes n} \to N_{\geq}^{\otimes n-1}$  are the unique non-zero morphisms between the respective objects.

*Proof.* 1) It follows immediately from 3) of Proposition 4.2.1 by tensoring the distinguished triangle

$$T \to M_{\alpha} \to N_{>} \to T[1]$$

with the appropriate power of  $N_>$ .

2) It follows immediately from 5) of Proposition 4.2.1 by tensoring the distinguished triangle

$$\widehat{M}_{\alpha} \to N_{>} \to T \to \widehat{M}_{\alpha}[1]$$

with the appropriate power of  $N_>$ .

At this point, we present the motivic cohomology of  $\widehat{M}_{\alpha}$ , which will be used in the main result of this section, namely the computation of the motivic cohomology of tensor powers of  $N_{>}$ .

**Lemma 4.2.3.** There exists a cohomology class  $\mu$  of bidegree (0)[1] such that the motivic cohomology of  $\widehat{M}_{\alpha}$  is given by

$$H(\widehat{M}_{\alpha}) = \frac{K^{M}(k)/2}{Ann(\{\alpha\})} \cdot \mu$$

So, the motivic cohomology of  $\widehat{M}_{\alpha}$  is concentrated on a single diagonal.

*Proof.* After applying the octahedron axiom twice to the distinguished triangle

$$M_{\alpha} o \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} o \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}[1] o M_{\alpha}[1]$$

we get the distinguished triangle

$$\widehat{M}_{\alpha}[-1] \to \widetilde{\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}}[1] \to \widetilde{\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}} \to \widehat{M}_{\alpha}$$

where  $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}}$  is  $Cone(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \to T)[-1]$ .

The motivic cohomology of  $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}_{\alpha}$  has been computed in the original version of [40] and [68] (see Theorem 6.1.3 for more details). It is described by

$$H(\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}}) = \mathbb{Z}/2[\mu] \cdot \mu \otimes \frac{K^{M}(k)/2}{Ann(\{\alpha\})}$$

Therefore, by the long exact sequence in motivic cohomology induced by the previous distinguished triangle and by recalling that the homomorphism  $H^{*,*'}(\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}}) \to H^{*-1,*'}(\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}})$  sends  $\mu^{j}$  to  $\mu^{j-1}$  since  $H(\widehat{M}_{\alpha})$  is trivial above the 1-st diagonal just by definition, we get the description of  $H(\widehat{M}_{\alpha})$ .

We are now ready to compute the motivic cohomology of any tensor power of  $N_>$ . This result will be essential in the next section for the proof of the main result.

**Proposition 4.2.4.** For any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  there exist cohomology classes  $\mu_i$  of bidegree (0)[i] for  $1 \leq i \leq n$  such that the motivic cohomology of the *n*-th tensor power of  $N_>$  as an *H*-module is given by

$$H(N_{>}^{\otimes n}) = H \oplus \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} \frac{K^{M}(k)/2}{Ann(\{\alpha\})} \cdot \mu_{i}$$

where the *H*-module structure is described by the relations  $\tau \mu_i = {\alpha} \mu_{i-1}$  ( $\mu_0 = 1$  by convention).

*Proof.* We will proceed by induction on n. For n = 1 the distinguished triangle

$$\widehat{M}_{\alpha} \to N_{>} \to T \to \widehat{M}_{\alpha}[1]$$

induces the following long exact sequence in motivic cohomology

$$\cdots \to H^{*-1,*'}(\widehat{M}_{\alpha}) \to H^{*,*'} \to H^{*,*'}(N_{>}) \to H^{*,*'}(\widehat{M}_{\alpha}) \to \ldots$$

From Lemma 4.2.3 and the fact that the motivic cohomology of a point is trivial above the main diagonal it follows that

$$H^{*,*'}(N_{>}) = \begin{cases} H^{*,*'}(\widehat{M}_{\alpha}), & * > *' \\ H^{*,*'}, & * \le *' \end{cases}$$

which implies that

$$H(N_{>}) = H \oplus \frac{K^{M}(k)/2}{Ann(\{\alpha\})} \cdot \mu$$

On the other hand, after tensoring with  $\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}$  the distinguished triangle

$$T \to M_{\alpha} \to N_{>} \to T[1]$$

we get a morphism of long exact sequences in motivic cohomology

By a four lemma argument, since the second vertical map is injective (by Beilinson-Lichtenbaum "conjecture"), we deduce that  $H(N_>) \rightarrow H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha})$  is injective. Therefore,  $\tau \mu = \{\alpha\}$  in  $H(N_>)$ , since the same relation holds in  $H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha})$ . That completes the induction basis.

Now, suppose the statement holds for n - 1. Then, by 2) of Lemma 4.2.2 we have the following long exact sequence in motivic cohomology

$$\cdots \to H^{*-n,*'}(\widehat{M}_{\alpha}) \to H^{*,*'}(N^{\otimes n-1}_{>}) \to H^{*,*'}(N^{\otimes n}_{>}) \to H^{*-n+1,*'}(\widehat{M}_{\alpha}) \to \ldots$$

From Lemma 4.2.3 and by induction hypothesis we have

$$H^{*,*'}(N_{>}^{\otimes n}) = \begin{cases} H^{*-n+1,*'}(\widehat{M}_{\alpha}), & * > *'+n-1\\ H^{*,*'}(N_{>}^{\otimes n-1}), & * \le *'+n-1 \end{cases}$$

which implies that there exists  $\mu_n$  in bidegree (0)[n] such that

$$H(N_{>}^{\otimes n}) = H(N_{>}^{\otimes n-1}) \oplus \frac{K^{M}(k)/2}{Ann(\{\alpha\})} \cdot \mu_{n} = H \oplus \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} \frac{K^{M}(k)/2}{Ann(\{\alpha\})} \cdot \mu_{i}$$

From 1) of Lemma 4.2.2 we have the following long exact sequence in motivic cohomology

$$\cdots \to H^{*-1,*'}(N^{\otimes n-1}_{>}) \to H^{*,*'}(N^{\otimes n}_{>}) \to H^{*,*'}(M_{\alpha}) \to H^{*,*'}(N^{\otimes n-1}_{>}) \to \ldots$$

that maps  $\mu_{i-1} \in H^{i-1,0}(N_{>}^{\otimes n-1})$  to  $\mu_i \in H^{i,0}(N_{>}^{\otimes n})$  since  $H^{i,0}(M_{\alpha}) = 0$  for i > 0. Hence, by induction hypothesis,  $\tau \mu_i = \{\alpha\}\mu_{i-1}$  in  $H(N_{>}^{\otimes n})$  and the proof is complete.

By 2) of Lemma 4.2.1 there is a chain of morphisms

$$\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \to \cdots \to N_{>}^{\otimes n} \to N_{>}^{\otimes n-1} \to \cdots \to N_{>} \to T$$

that induces in cohomology the chain of homomorphisms

$$H \to H(N_{>}) \to \cdots \to H(N_{>}^{\otimes n-1}) \to H(N_{>}^{\otimes n}) \to \cdots \to H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha})$$

which sends  $\mu \in H(N_{>})$  to  $\mu \in H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha})$ .

We now highlight an interesting relation between the invertible motive  $N_>$  and the projector  $\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}$ .

**Proposition 4.2.5.** The homomorphisms  $H(N_{>}^{\otimes n}) \to H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha})$  are injective for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Moreover,  $H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}) = \lim H(N_{>}^{\otimes n})$ .

*Proof.* We have already noticed that  $H(N_{>}) \to H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha})$  is injective and maps  $\mu = \mu_1$  to  $\mu$ . Now, suppose by induction hypothesis that the homomorphism  $H(N_{>}^{\otimes n-1}) \to H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha})$  is injective. Notice that there is a commutative diagram

where the bottom horizontal map is the usual cup product in  $H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha})$ . It follows that the right vertical map sends  $\mu_i$  to  $\mu^i$  for any  $i \leq n$ . This completes the proof.

Later on we will need also the following description of the motivic cohomology of  $N_{<}$ .

**Lemma 4.2.6.** The motivic cohomology of  $N_{<}$  is given by

$$H(N_{<}) = Ann(\{\alpha\}) \oplus H \cdot \tau$$

*Proof.* After applying the octahedron axiom to the distinguished triangle

$$M_{\alpha} \to \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \to \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}[1] \to M_{\alpha}[1]$$

we obtain

$$\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \to N_{<} \to \widetilde{\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}} \to \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}[1]$$

which induces in motivic cohomology the following long exact sequence

$$\cdots \to H^{*-1,*'}(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}) \to H^{*,*'}(\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}}) \to H^{*,*'}(N_{<}) \to H^{*,*'}(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}) \to \ldots$$

Hence, the result follows by noticing that  $H^{*,*'}(\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}})$  is the \* > \*' part of  $H^{*,*'}(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha})$ , while  $H^{*,*'}$  is the  $* \leq *'$  part of it, and that  $H^{*-1,*'}(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}) \rightarrow H^{*,*'}(\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}})$  sends  $\mu^{i-1}$  to  $\mu^{i}$ . So, the latter map is surjective everywhere, injective for  $* \geq *' + 2$  and zero for  $* \leq *'$ .

4.3 THE MOTIVIC COHOMOLOGY RING OF  $BU_n(E/k)$ 

Our goal in this section is to compute by using the techniques presented in previous chapters the motivic cohomology of the Nisnevich classifying space of  $U_n(E/k)$ , the unitary group associated to the standard split hermitian form  $h_n$  of the extension E/k.

At first, let us show some preliminary results which will be useful in the proof of the main theorem.

**Proposition 4.3.1.** The homogeneous variety  $U_n(E/k)/U_{n-1}(E/k)$  is isomorphic to the affine quadric  $A_{h_n}$  defined by the equation  $\tilde{h}_n = 1$ .

*Proof.* Let *V* be an *n*-dimensional *E*-vector space and let  $A_{h_n}$  be the subset of *V* defined by the equation  $h_n = 1$ . Then, *V* can be considered as a 2n-dimensional *k*-vector space in which  $A_{h_n}$  is the affine quadric defined by the equation  $\tilde{h}_n = 1$ . The action of  $U_n(E/k)$  on  $A_{h_n}$  is transitive (see for example [46]) and, moreover, the isotropy group of the vector (1, 0, ..., 0) is isomorphic to  $U_{n-1}(E/k)$ . This implies the desired result.

At this point, in order to apply Proposition 2.2.5 to the unitary case, we need to study the motive of the affine quadric  $A_{h_n}$ .

**Proposition 4.3.2.** The motive in  $\mathcal{DM}^-_{eff}(k, \mathbb{Z}/2)$  of the affine quadric  $A_{h_n}$  is given by

$$M(A_{h_n}) = \begin{cases} T \oplus N_>(n)[2n-1], & n \text{ odd} \\ T \oplus T(n)[2n-1], & n \text{ even} \end{cases}$$

*Proof.* We start by noticing that the quadratic form

$$\widetilde{h}_n = \begin{cases} \langle \langle \alpha \rangle \rangle \perp (n-1) \mathbb{H}, & n \text{ odd} \\ n \mathbb{H}, & n \text{ even} \end{cases}$$

For a quadratic form *q* let us denote by *Q* the projective quadric defined by q = 0, by *Q*' the projective quadric defined by  $q = z^2$  and by *A* the affine quadric defined by q = 1. Then, we have in  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^-(k, \mathbb{Z}/2)$  the following Gysin triangle

$$M(A) \rightarrow M(Q') \rightarrow M(Q)(1)[2] \rightarrow M(A)[1]$$

In the case  $q = n \mathbb{H}$  the previous triangle becomes

$$M(A) \rightarrow \bigoplus_{i=0}^{2n-1} T(i)[2i] \rightarrow \bigoplus_{i=1}^{2n-1} T(i)[2i] \oplus T(n)[2n] \rightarrow M(A)[1]$$

which implies that, for *n* even,  $M(A_{h_n}) = M(A) = T \oplus T(n)[2n-1]$ .
In the case  $q = \langle \langle \alpha \rangle \rangle$  we have

$$M(A) \rightarrow T \oplus T(1)[2] \rightarrow M_{\alpha}(1)[2] \rightarrow M(A)[1]$$

from which it follows that  $M(A_{h_1}) = M(A) = T \oplus N_>(1)[1]$ .

The general case *n* odd follows from [5, Lemma 34]. Namely, we have

$$\tilde{M}(A_{h_n}) = \tilde{M}(A_{h_1})(n-1)[2n-2] = N_>(n)[2n-1]$$

that implies  $M(A_{h_n}) = T \oplus N_>(n)[2n-1]$ .

Before going ahead with the main theorem of this section, we notice that  $U_n(E/k)$ -torsors over Spec(k) are in one-to-one correspondence with hermitian forms associated to the quadratic extension E/k or, which is the same, with quadratic forms over k divisible by  $\langle\langle \alpha \rangle\rangle$ . Since Witt cancellation holds for quadratic forms, the previous remark assures that  $U_{n-1}(E/k)$ -torsors inject in  $U_n(E/k)$ -torsors over any field extension of k, which allows us to use Propositions 2.3.6 and 2.3.10 in the unitary case taking into account Theorem 2.3.8.

**Theorem 4.3.3.** For any  $m, n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$  there exist cohomology classes  $c_i$  of bidegree (i)[2i] for  $1 \leq i \leq n$  such that the motivic cohomology of  $\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BU_n(E/k)$  and  $N_{\geq}^{\otimes m} \otimes BU_n(E/k)$  is described respectively by

$$H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BU_n(E/k)) = H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha})[c_1, \ldots, c_n]$$

and

$$H(N_{>}^{\otimes m} \otimes BU_{n}(E/k)) = \bigoplus_{i_{1},\dots,i_{n} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}} H(N_{>}^{\otimes m + \sum_{l \text{ odd } i_{l}}}) \cdot c_{1}^{i_{1}} \cdots c_{n}^{i_{n}}$$

where the obvious homomorphisms of  $H(BU_n(E/k))$ -modules

$$H(N^{\otimes m}_{>} \otimes BU_n(E/k)) \to H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BU_n(E/k))$$

are injective. Moreover,  $H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BU_n(E/k)) = \lim H(N^{\otimes m} \otimes BU_n(E/k)).$ 

*Proof.* We will proceed by induction on *n*. The induction basis follows immediately from the fact that  $BU_0(E/k) \cong Spec(k)$  and by Proposition 4.2.5.

Now, suppose the result holds for n - 1. Then, since  $N_> \otimes \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \cong \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}$  by 2) of Proposition 4.2.1 and applying Propositions 2.2.5, 2.3.6, 2.3.10 and 4.3.2 to the coherent morphism  $\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes \widehat{BU}_{n-1}(E/k) \to \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BU_n(E/k)$ , we obtain the following long exact sequence in motivic cohomology

$$\ldots \to H^{*-1,*'}(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BU_{n-1}(E/k)) \xrightarrow{h^*} H^{*-2n,*'-n}(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BU_n(E/k)) \xrightarrow{f^*}$$

$$H^{*,*'}(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BU_n(E/k)) \xrightarrow{g^*} H^{*,*'}(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BU_{n-1}(E/k)) \to \dots$$

Note that, even after having replaced  $H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes \widehat{B}U_{n-1}(E/k))$  with  $H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BU_{n-1}(E/k))$ , this stays a sequence of  $H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BU_n(E/k))$ -modules by the remark just after Proposition 2.3.10. By induction hypothesis, the cohomology ring  $H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BU_{n-1}(E/k))$  is freely generated as an  $H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha})$ -algebra by  $c_1, \ldots, c_{n-1}$  which are all uniquely liftable to  $H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BU_n(E/k))$ , since  $\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BU_n(E/k)$  is the motive of a smooth simplicial scheme and, so, has no cohomology in negative round degrees. Hence,  $g^*$  is an epimorphism as it is a ring homomorphism,  $h^*$  is trivial and  $f^*$  is a monomorphism. Denoting by  $c_n$  the element  $f^*(1)$  we obtain the result

$$H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BU_n(E/k)) = H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha})[c_1, \ldots, c_n]$$

For the rest of the induction step we will consider separately two cases.

1) *n* even: for any  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  we have the following long exact sequence in motivic cohomology of  $H(BU_n(E/k))$ -modules

$$\cdots \to H^{*-1,*'}(N^{\otimes m}_{>} \otimes BU_{n-1}(E/k)) \xrightarrow{h^*} H^{*-2n,*'-n}(N^{\otimes m}_{>} \otimes BU_n(E/k)) \xrightarrow{f^*} H^{*,*'}(N^{\otimes m}_{>} \otimes BU_n(E/k)) \xrightarrow{g^*} H^{*,*'}(N^{\otimes m}_{>} \otimes BU_{n-1}(E/k)) \to \ldots$$

For m = 0, by induction hypothesis,  $H(BU_{n-1}(E/k))$  is generated as an Halgebra by  $c_1, \ldots, c_{n-1}$  and  $\mu c_l$  for any odd l < n. By degree reasons these cohomology classes are all uniquely liftable to  $H(BU_n(E/k))$ . Therefore,  $g^*$ is an epimorphism since it is a ring homomorphism. This assures that, for any m,  $H(N_{>}^{\otimes m} \otimes BU_{n-1}(E/k))$  is generated as an  $H(BU_n(E/k))$ -module by  $\mu_i$  for all  $i \leq m$ . By degree reasons the  $\mu_i$  are all uniquely liftable to  $H(N_{>}^{\otimes m} \otimes BU_n(E/k))$ . Now  $g^*$  happens to be surjective since it is a homomorphism of  $H(BU_n(E/k))$ -modules. Hence,  $h^*$  is the 0 homomorphism and  $f^*$  is a monomorphism. Then, denoting by  $c_n$  the cohomology class  $f^*(1)$  we have, for any m, the following morphism of short exact sequences of  $H(BU_n(E/k))$ -modules

$$\begin{array}{cccc} 0 \longrightarrow H^{*-2n,*'-n}(N_{>}^{\otimes m} \otimes BU_{n}(E/k)) \xrightarrow{\cdot c_{n}} H^{*,*'}(N_{>}^{\otimes m} \otimes BU_{n}(E/k)) \longrightarrow H^{*,*'}(N_{>}^{\otimes m} \otimes BU_{n-1}(E/k)) \longrightarrow 0 \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ 0 \longrightarrow H^{*-2n,*'-n}(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BU_{n}(E/k)) \xrightarrow{\cdot c_{n}} H^{*,*'}(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BU_{n}(E/k)) \longrightarrow H^{*,*'}(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BU_{n-1}(E/k)) \longrightarrow 0 \end{array}$$

By induction on square degree and by a standard four lemma argument, the central vertical morphism is injective. Moreover, by an induction argument on square degree and looking at the previous upper short exact sequence we get that

$$H(N_{>}^{\otimes m} \otimes BU_{n}(E/k)) = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}} H(N_{>}^{\otimes m} \otimes BU_{n-1}(E/k)) \cdot c_{n}^{i}$$

$$= \bigoplus_{i_1,\dots,i_n \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}} H(N_{>}^{\otimes m + \sum_{l \text{ odd }} i_l}) \cdot c_1^{i_1} \cdots c_n^{i_n}$$

as an  $H(BU_n(E/k))$ -submodule of  $H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BU_n(E/k))$ .

2) *n* odd: as before for any *m* we have the following long exact sequence in motivic cohomology of  $H(BU_n(E/k))$ -modules

$$\cdots \to H^{*-1,*'}(N_{>}^{\otimes m} \otimes BU_{n-1}(E/k)) \xrightarrow{h^{*}} H^{*-2n,*'-n}(N_{>}^{\otimes m+1} \otimes BU_{n}(E/k)) \xrightarrow{f^{*}} H^{*,*'}(N_{>}^{\otimes m} \otimes BU_{n}(E/k)) \xrightarrow{g^{*}} H^{*,*'}(N_{>}^{\otimes m} \otimes BU_{n-1}(E/k)) \to \ldots$$

As in the previous case, for m = 0 the induction hypothesis implies that  $H(BU_{n-1}(E/k))$  is generated as an *H*-algebra by  $c_1, \ldots, c_{n-1}$  and  $\mu c_l$  for any odd l < n. By the same degree reasons they are all uniquely liftable to  $H(BU_n(E/k))$ . Thus,  $g^*$  is an epimorphism since it is a ring homomorphism. This is enough to show that, for any m,  $H(N_{>}^{\otimes m} \otimes BU_{n-1}(E/k))$  is generated as an  $H(BU_n(E/k))$ -module by  $\mu_i$  for all  $i \leq m$ . Again the  $\mu_i$  are uniquely liftable to  $H(N_{>}^{\otimes m} \otimes BU_n(E/k))$ . It follows that  $g^*$  is surjective,  $h^*$  is trivial and  $f^*$  is injective. Then, denoting by  $c_n$  the cohomology class  $f^*(1)$  we have, for any m, the following morphism of short exact sequences of  $H(BU_n(E/k))$ -modules

By the very same arguments of the previous case, the central vertical morphism is injective and

$$H(N_{>}^{\otimes m} \otimes BU_{n}(E/k)) = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}} H(N_{>}^{\otimes m+i} \otimes BU_{n-1}(E/k)) \cdot c_{n}^{i}$$
$$= \bigoplus_{i_{1},\dots,i_{n} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}} H(N_{>}^{\otimes m+\sum_{l \text{ odd } i_{l}}}) \cdot c_{1}^{i_{1}} \cdots c_{n}^{i_{n}}$$

as an  $H(BU_n(E/k))$ -submodule of  $H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BU_n(E/k))$ , which completes the proof.

As a corollary of the previous theorem we obtain the description of the motivic cohomology ring of  $BU_n(E/k)$  as an *H*-algebra.

**Theorem 4.3.4.** For any  $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$  there exist cohomology classes  $c_i$  of bidegree (i)[2i] for  $1 \leq i \leq n$  and  $d_j$  of bidegree (j)[2j+1] for  $1 \leq j$  odd  $\leq n$  such that the motivic cohomology ring of  $BU_n(E/k)$  is given by

$$H(BU_n(E/k)) = \frac{H[c_i, d_j]_{1 \le i \le n, 1 \le j \text{ odd} \le n}}{R}$$

where R is the ideal generated by  $\tau d_j + \{\alpha\}c_j$ ,  $Ann(\{\alpha\}) \cdot d_j$  and  $c_{j'}d_j + c_jd_{j'}$  for any  $1 \leq j, j'$  odd  $\leq n$ .

*Proof.* By Theorem 4.3.3 we have a monomorphism of rings

$$H(BU_n(E/k)) = \bigoplus_{i_1,\dots,i_n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}} H(N_{>}^{\otimes \sum_{l \text{ odd }} i_l}) \cdot c_1^{i_1} \cdots c_n^{i_n} \to H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha})[c_1,\dots,c_n]$$

from which we deduce that  $H(BU_n(E/k))$  is generated as an *H*-algebra by the  $c_i$  and the  $\mu c_j$  for j odd. Let us denote by  $d_j$  these elements. Then, the relations among  $c_i$  and  $d_j$  that generate R follow immediately by Proposition 4.2.4 and by noticing that  $\mu c_j \cdot c_{j'} = c_j \cdot \mu c_{j'}$  for any  $1 \le j, j' \text{ odd } \le n$ . This amounts to say that there is an epimorphism

$$p: \frac{H[c_i, d_j]_{1 \le i \le n, 1 \le j \text{ odd} \le n}}{R} \to H(BU_n(E/k))$$

We can check its injectivity by looking separately at each restriction

$$p: p^{-1}(H(N_{>}^{\otimes \sum_{l \text{ odd }} i_{l}}) \cdot c_{1}^{i_{1}} \cdots c_{n}^{i_{n}}) \to H(N_{>}^{\otimes \sum_{l \text{ odd }} i_{l}}) \cdot c_{1}^{i_{1}} \cdots c_{n}^{i_{n}}$$

Notice that  $H(N_{>}^{\otimes \sum_{l \ odd} i_{l}}) \cdot c_{1}^{i_{1}} \cdots c_{n}^{i_{n}}$  is generated as a  $K^{M}(k)/2$ -module by  $\mu^{m}c_{1}^{i_{1}} \cdots c_{n}^{i_{n}}$  for any  $0 < m \leq \sum_{l \ odd} i_{l}$  and  $\tau^{m'}c_{1}^{i_{1}} \cdots c_{n}^{i_{n}}$  for any  $m' \geq 0$ . Moreover, the elements in  $p^{-1}(H(N_{>}^{\otimes \sum_{l \ odd} i_{l}}) \cdot c_{1}^{i_{1}} \cdots c_{n}^{i_{n}})$  that map to these generators through p are unique. Then, injectivity follows by looking at the restriction of p on each diagonal of  $p^{-1}(H(N_{>}^{\otimes \sum_{l \ odd} i_{l}}) \cdot c_{1}^{i_{1}} \cdots c_{n}^{i_{n}})$  which is an isomorphism to  $\frac{K^{M}(k)/2}{Ann(\{\alpha\})}$  on positive diagonals and to  $K^{M}(k)/2$  on the others.

# 4.4 COMPARISON BETWEEN $BU_n(E/k)$ and $BO(\tilde{h}_n)$

Since there exists an obvious homomorphism of groups  $U_n(E/k) \rightarrow O(\tilde{h}_n)$ , it is reasonable to compare the classifying spaces  $BU_n(E/k)$  and  $BO(\tilde{h}_n)$ and, in particular, the characteristic classes arising from both.

Before proceeding, we highlight that, given a quadratic form q, there is the following isomorphism

$$O(q \perp \langle b \rangle) / O(q) \cong A_{q \perp \langle b \rangle = b}$$

where by  $A_{q\perp\langle b\rangle=b}$  we mean the affine quadric defined by the equation  $q\perp\langle b\rangle=b$ .

For sake of simplicity, we will express by  $p_n$  the quadratic form  $\langle\!\langle \alpha \rangle\!\rangle \perp (n-1) \mathbb{H}$  and by  $p_{n-\frac{1}{2}}$  the quadratic form  $\langle -\alpha \rangle \perp (n-1) \mathbb{H}$ .

In the following theorem we compute the motivic cohomology ring of  $BO(p_n)$ .

**Theorem 4.4.1.** For any  $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$  there exist cohomology classes  $u_i$  of bidegree ([i/2])[i] for  $1 \leq i \leq 2n$  and a class  $v_{2n+1}$  of bidegree (n)[2n+1] such that the motivic cohomology ring of  $BO(p_n)$  is given by

$$H(BO(p_n)) = \frac{H[u_1, \dots, u_{2n}, v_{2n+1}]}{(\tau v_{2n+1} + \{\alpha\} u_{2n}, Ann(\{\alpha\}) \cdot v_{2n+1})}$$

*Proof.* We start by noticing that

$$O(p_n)/O(p_{n-\frac{1}{2}}) \cong A_{p_n=1}$$

From the fact that  $O(p_{n-\frac{1}{2}}) \cong O_{2n-1}$  we obtain by Theorem 2.4.2 that

$$H(BO(p_{n-\frac{1}{2}})) = H[u_1, \dots, u_{2n-1}]$$

Then, from [47, Proposition 3.2.4] it follows that

$$H(N_{>}^{\otimes m} \otimes BO(p_{n-\frac{1}{2}})) = H(N_{>}^{\otimes m}) \otimes_{H} H[u_{1}, \dots, u_{2n-1}]$$

and

$$H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BO(p_{n-\frac{1}{2}})) = H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha})[u_1, \dots, u_{2n-1}]$$

Now, by recalling that  $M(A_{p_n=1}) = T \oplus N_>(n)[2n-1]$  and  $N_> \otimes \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \cong \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}$  and using Propositions 2.2.5, 2.3.6 and 2.3.10, we obtain a long exact sequence in motivic cohomology

$$\dots \to H^{*-1,*'}(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BO(p_{n-\frac{1}{2}})) \xrightarrow{h^*} H^{*-2n,*'-n}(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BO(p_n)) \xrightarrow{f^*} H^{*,*'}(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BO(p_n)) \xrightarrow{g^*} H^{*,*'}(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BO(p_{n-\frac{1}{2}})) \to \dots$$

Hence, by the same arguments of Theorem 4.3.3 and denoting by  $u_{2n}$  the class  $f^*(1)$  we get that

$$H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BO(p_n)) = H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha})[u_1, \dots, u_{2n}]$$

As in the odd case of Theorem 4.3.3, for any *m* we get a long exact sequence of  $H(BO(p_n))$ -modules

$$\dots \to H^{*-1,*'}(N_{>}^{\otimes m} \otimes BO(p_{n-\frac{1}{2}})) \xrightarrow{h^*} H^{*-2n,*'-n}(N_{>}^{\otimes m+1} \otimes BO(p_n)) \xrightarrow{f^*} H^{*,*'}(N_{>}^{\otimes m} \otimes BO(p_n)) \xrightarrow{g^*} H^{*,*'}(N_{>}^{\otimes m} \otimes BO(p_{n-\frac{1}{2}})) \to \dots$$

Hence, by exactly the same arguments of Theorem 4.3.3 and denoting by  $u_{2n}$  the class  $f^*(1)$  we obtain, for any *m*, a morphism of short exact sequences of  $H(BO(p_n))$ -modules

$$\begin{array}{cccc} 0 \longrightarrow H^{*-2n,*'-n}(N_{>}^{\otimes m+1} \otimes BO(p_{n})) \xrightarrow{\cdot u_{2n}} H^{*,*'}(N_{>}^{\otimes m} \otimes BO(p_{n})) \longrightarrow H^{*,*'}(N_{>}^{\otimes m} \otimes BO(p_{n-\frac{1}{2}})) \longrightarrow 0 \\ & & & & & & \\ 0 \longrightarrow H^{*-2n,*'-n}(\mathfrak{X}_{\mathfrak{a}} \otimes BO(p_{n})) \xrightarrow{\cdot u_{2n}} H^{*,*'}(\mathfrak{X}_{\mathfrak{a}} \otimes BO(p_{n})) \longrightarrow H^{*,*'}(\mathfrak{X}_{\mathfrak{a}} \otimes BO(p_{n-\frac{1}{2}})) \longrightarrow 0 \end{array}$$

From this it follows that

$$H(N_{>}^{\otimes m} \otimes BO(p_{n})) = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}} H(N_{>}^{\otimes m+i} \otimes BO(p_{n-\frac{1}{2}})) \cdot u_{2n}^{i}$$
$$= \bigoplus_{i_{1},\dots,i_{2n} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}} H(N_{>}^{\otimes m+i_{2n}}) \cdot u_{1}^{i_{1}} \cdots u_{2n}^{i_{2n}}$$

and, setting m = 0, we obtain

$$H(BO(p_n)) = \bigoplus_{i_1,\dots,i_{2n} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}} H(N^{\otimes i_{2n}}) \cdot u_1^{i_1} \cdots u_{2n}^{i_{2n}}$$

Moreover, we have a monomorphism of *H*-algebras

$$H(BO(p_n)) \to H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BO(p_n))$$

from which we deduce, as in Theorem 4.3.4, that

$$H(BO(p_n)) = \frac{H[u_1, \dots, u_{2n}, v_{2n+1}]}{(\tau v_{2n+1} + \{\alpha\} u_{2n}, Ann(\{\alpha\}) \cdot v_{2n+1})}$$

where  $v_{2n+1}$  is nothing else but the element that maps to  $\mu u_{2n}$  under the monomorphism  $H(BO(p_n)) \rightarrow H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BO(p_n))$ .

At this point, we recall that  $\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BO(p_n) \cong BO_{2n} \otimes \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}$  by Proposition 2.3.14. In the following proposition we describe the isomorphism induced on motivic cohomology by this map.

**Proposition 4.4.2.** The isomorphism in motivic cohomology

$$H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BO(p_n)) \longleftrightarrow H(BO_{2n} \otimes \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha})$$

*induced by the isomorphism*  $\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BO(p_n) \cong BO_{2n} \otimes \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}$  *maps*  $u_{2i}$  *to*  $u_{2i}$  *and*  $u_{2i-1}$  *to*  $u_{2i-1} + \mu u_{2i-2}$  *for any*  $1 \leq i \leq n$ .

*Proof.* We proceed by induction on *n*. For n = 1 we have the following commutative diagram

where the bottom horizontal isomorphism maps  $u_1$  to  $u_1 + \mu$  (that is pronounced in [47] just after Lemma 3.2.6). Then, the result follows from the fact that  $u_1$  and  $u_2$  are uniquely determined both in  $H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BO(\langle \langle \alpha \rangle \rangle))$  and in  $H(BO_2 \otimes \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha})$  by the fact that  $u_1$  restricts to  $u_1$  and  $u_2$  vanishes respectively in  $H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BO(\langle -\alpha \rangle))$  and in  $H(BO(\langle -1 \rangle) \otimes \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha})$ .

Now, suppose the statement is true for n - 1. Then, we have the following commutative diagram

$$H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BO(p_{n})) \longleftrightarrow H(BO_{2n} \otimes \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha})$$

$$\downarrow$$

$$H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BO(p_{n-\frac{1}{2}})) \longleftrightarrow H(BO(-q_{2n-1}) \otimes \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha})$$

$$\downarrow$$

$$H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BO(p_{n-1})) \longleftrightarrow H(BO_{2n-2} \otimes \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha})$$

In this case we need to understand first the homomorphism

 $H(BO(p_{n-\frac{1}{2}})) \to H(BO(p_{n-1}))$ 

In order to do so, we notice that

$$O(p_{n-\frac{1}{2}})/O(p_{n-1}) \cong A_{p_{n-\frac{1}{2}}=-1} \cong A_{\langle \alpha \rangle \perp (n-1) \mathbb{H}=1}$$

From  $\widetilde{M}(A_{\alpha x^2=1}) = N_{<}$  we deduce that

$$\widetilde{M}(A_{\langle \alpha \rangle \perp (n-1) \mathbb{H}=1}) = N_{<}(n-1)[2n-2]$$

Therefore, by Proposition 2.2.5 we have a long exact sequence in motivic cohomology

$$\cdots \to H^{*-1,*'}(BO(p_{n-1})) \xrightarrow{h^*} H^{*-2n+1,*'-n+1}(N_{\leq} \otimes BO(p_{n-\frac{1}{2}})) \xrightarrow{f^*} H^{*,*'}(BO(p_{n-\frac{1}{2}})) \xrightarrow{g^*} H^{*,*'}(BO(p_{n-1})) \to \dots$$

At this point, notice that  $H(N_{\leq} \otimes BO(p_{n-\frac{1}{2}})) = H(N_{\leq}) \otimes_{H} H[u_{1}, \dots, u_{2n-1}]$ which implies that  $u_{i}$  and  $v_{2n-1}$  are all uniquely liftable to  $H(BO(p_{n-\frac{1}{2}}))$ by degree reasons, since  $H^{*,*'}(N_{\leq} \otimes BO(p_{n-\frac{1}{2}}))$  is 0 for \*' < 0 and for (\*')[\*] = (0)[0] and (0)[1], and by Lemma 4.2.6. Hence,  $g^{*}$  is an epimorphism since it is a ring homomorphism. Moreover,  $g^{*}(u_{i}) = u_{i}$  for  $i \leq 2n-2$  since the natural restriction  $H(BO(p_{n-\frac{1}{2}})) \rightarrow H(BO(p_{n-\frac{3}{2}}))$  factors through  $H(BO(p_{n-1}))$  and the classes  $u_{i}$  are uniquely determined, both in  $H(BO(p_{n-\frac{1}{2}}))$  and in  $H(BO(p_{n-1}))$ , by the fact that they restrict to the respective  $u_i$  or vanish for i = 2n - 2 in  $H(BO(p_{n-\frac{3}{2}}))$ . For the same reason, since  $v_{2n-1}$  vanishes in  $H(BO(p_{n-\frac{3}{2}}))$ , the element that covers  $v_{2n-1}$  through  $g^*$  has the shape  $u_{2n-1} + \epsilon u_1 u_{2n-2}$ , where  $\epsilon$  is 0 or 1. Suppose  $\epsilon = 1$ , then by Wu formula we have that  $Sq^1(u_{2n-1} + u_1u_{2n-2}) = Sq^1Sq^1u_{2n-2} = 0$ , so  $Sq^1v_{2n-1} = 0$  as well. But,  $Sq^1v_{2n-1}$  maps to  $Sq^1(\mu u_{2n-2})$  in  $H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BO(p_{n-1}))$ , which again maps to  $Sq^1(\mu u_{2n-2}) = \mu^2 u_{2n-2} + \mu u_1 u_{2n-2} \neq 0$  in  $H(BO_{2n-2} \otimes \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha}) = H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha})[u_1, \ldots, u_{2n-2}]$  by induction hypothesis, and we get a contradiction. Hence,  $\epsilon$  must be 0 and  $g^*(u_{2n-1}) = v_{2n-1}$ .

Therefore, we have that the isomorphism

$$H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BO(p_{n-\frac{1}{2}})) \leftrightarrow H(BO(-q_{2n-1}) \otimes \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha})$$

maps  $u_{2i}$  to  $u_{2i}$  and  $u_{2i-1}$  to  $u_{2i-1} + \mu u_{2i-2}$  for any  $1 \le i \le 2n-2$ . Moreover, since  $H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BO(p_{n-\frac{1}{2}})) \to H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BO(p_{n-1}))$  maps  $u_{2n-1} + \mu u_{2n-2}$  to 0, we have that  $H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BO(p_{n-\frac{1}{2}})) \leftrightarrow H(BO(-q_{2n-1}) \otimes \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha})$  maps  $u_{2n-1}$  to  $u_{2n-1} + \mu u_{2n-2}$ .

Now, the result follows from the fact that the  $u_i$  are uniquely determined both in  $H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BO(p_n))$  and in  $H(BO_{2n} \otimes \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha})$  by the fact that they restrict to  $u_i$  for  $i \leq 2n - 1$  and vanish for i = 2n respectively in  $H(\mathfrak{X}_{\alpha} \otimes BO(p_{n-\frac{1}{2}}))$ and in  $H(BO(-q_{2n-1}) \otimes \mathfrak{X}_{\alpha})$ .

From Theorem 4.4.1 we get immediately the following result which provides the motivic cohomology ring of  $BO(\tilde{h}_n)$ .

**Theorem 4.4.3.** For any  $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$  there exist cohomology classes  $u_i$  of bidegree ([i/2])[i] for  $1 \leq i \leq 2n$  and a class  $v_{2n+1}$  of bidegree (n)[2n+1] only for n odd such that the motivic cohomology ring of  $BO(\tilde{h}_n)$  is given by

$$H(BO(\tilde{h}_n)) = \begin{cases} \frac{H[u_1, \dots, u_{2n}, v_{2n+1}]}{(\tau v_{2n+1} + \{\alpha\} u_{2n}, Ann(\{\alpha\}) \cdot v_{2n+1})}, & n \text{ odd} \\ H[u_1, \dots, u_{2n}], & n \text{ even} \end{cases}$$

*Proof.* It follows from the fact that  $\tilde{h}_n$  is split for *n* even and is isomorphic to  $p_n$  for *n* odd.

Once we know both the motivic cohomology of  $BO(\tilde{h}_n)$  and  $BU_n(E/k)$ , we can relate the subtle classes arising from the orthogonal group and those arising from the unitary group. In particular, we have the following result.

**Proposition 4.4.4.** For any  $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$  the natural embedding  $U_n(E/k) \hookrightarrow O(h_n)$  induces an epimorphism

$$H(BO(\tilde{h}_n)) \to H(BU_n(E/k))$$

sending  $u_{2i}$  to  $c_i$  for any  $1 \le i \le n$ ,  $u_{2l+1}$  to 0 for any  $0 \le l$  even < n,  $u_{2j+1}$  to  $d_j$  for any  $1 \le j$  odd < n and  $v_{2n+1}$  to  $d_n$  only for n odd.

*Proof.* We will proceed by induction. Notice that the induction basis is provided by the isomorphism  $U_0 \cong O_0 \cong Spec(k)$ .

For *n* odd we have the following commutative diagrams

where by  $\tilde{h}_{n-\frac{1}{2}}$  here we mean the quadratic form  $\langle -\alpha \rangle \perp (n-1) \mathbb{H}$ .

By induction hypothesis we have that  $u_{2i}$  goes to  $c_i$  for any  $1 \le i \le n-1$ ,  $u_{2l+1}$  to 0 for any  $0 \le l \operatorname{even} < n-1$  and  $u_{2j+1}$  to  $d_j$  for any  $1 \le j \operatorname{odd} < n-1$ . The class  $u_{2n-1}$  goes to 0 via the map  $H(BO(\tilde{h}_n)) \to H(BU_{n-1}(E/k))$  since this factors through  $H(BO_{2n-2})$ . Hence,  $u_{2n-1}$  maps to 0 in  $H(BU_n(E/k))$ since the morphism  $H(BU_n(E/k)) \to H(BU_{n-1}(E/k))$  is injective in bidegree (n-1)[2n-1]. Moreover, noticing that

$$U_n(E/k)/U_{n-1}(E/k) \cong O(\tilde{h}_n)/O(\tilde{h}_{n-\frac{1}{2}})$$

and by Proposition 2.2.7, we obtain that  $u_{2n}$  goes to  $c_n$  and  $v_{2n+1}$  goes to  $d_n$ .

For *n* even we have similar commutative diagrams

$$\begin{array}{cccc} U_{n-1}(E/k) \longrightarrow U_n(E/k) & H(BU_{n-1}(E/k)) \longleftarrow H(BU_n(E/k)) \\ \downarrow & \downarrow & \downarrow & \uparrow & \uparrow & \uparrow \\ O(\tilde{h}_{n-1}) & \downarrow & I(BO(\tilde{h}_{n-1})) & \uparrow & \uparrow & \uparrow \\ \downarrow & \downarrow & \downarrow & \downarrow & \uparrow & \uparrow & \uparrow \\ O_{2n-1} \longrightarrow O_{2n} & H(BO_{2n-1}) \longleftarrow H(BO_{2n}) \end{array}$$

In this case we need to study the homomorphism

$$H(BO_{2n-1}) \to H(BO(\widetilde{h}_{n-1}))$$

In order to do so, we notice that

$$O_{2n-1}/O(\tilde{h}_{n-1}) \cong A_{\tilde{h}_{n-1}\perp\langle\alpha\rangle=\alpha} \cong A_{\alpha^{-1}\tilde{h}_{n-1}\perp\langle1\rangle=1}$$

From  $\widetilde{M}(A_{x^2=\alpha}) = N_{<}$  and since  $\alpha^{-1}\widetilde{h}_{n-1} \perp \langle 1 \rangle$  is isomorphic to  $\langle \alpha^{-1} \rangle \perp (n-1) \mathbb{H}$ , we deduce that

$$\widetilde{M}(A_{\alpha^{-1}\widetilde{h}_{n-1}\perp\langle 1\rangle=1})=N_{<}(n-1)[2n-2]$$

Hence, by Proposition 2.2.5 we have a long exact sequence in motivic cohomology

$$\dots \to H^{*-1,*'}(BO(\widetilde{h}_{n-1})) \xrightarrow{h^*} H^{*-2n+1,*'-n+1}(N_{<} \otimes BO_{2n-1}) \xrightarrow{f^*} H^{*,*'}(BO_{2n-1}) \xrightarrow{g^*} H^{*,*'}(BO(\widetilde{h}_{n-1})) \to \dots$$

Then, by repeating exactly the same arguments that appear in Proposition 4.4.2 we get that  $g^*(u_i) = u_i$  for  $i \le 2n - 2$  and  $g^*(u_{2n-1}) = v_{2n-1}$ .

Therefore, by induction hypothesis we have that  $u_{2i}$  goes to  $c_i$  for any  $1 \le i \le n-1$ ,  $u_{2l+1}$  to 0 for any  $0 \le l \operatorname{even} \le n-1$  and  $u_{2j+1}$  to  $d_j$  for any  $1 \le j \operatorname{odd} \le n-1$ . Moreover, recalling that

$$U_n(E/k)/U_{n-1}(E/k) \cong O_{2n}/O_{2n-1}$$

and by Proposition 2.2.7, we obtain that  $u_{2n}$  goes to  $c_n$ , as we aimed to show.

As a corollary of the previous proposition and of Theorem 4.3.4 we get a description of  $H(BU_n(E/k))$  as a quotient of  $H(BO(\tilde{h}_n))$ .

**Corollary 4.4.5.** For any  $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$  there is an isomorphism

$$H(BU_n(E/k)) \cong \frac{H(BO(\tilde{h}_n))}{R}$$

where *R* is the ideal in  $H(BO(\tilde{h}_n))$  generated by  $u_{4j+1}$ ,  $u_{4i+3}u_{4j+2} + u_{4j+3}u_{4i+2}$ ,  $\tau u_{4j+3} + \{\alpha\}u_{4j+2}$  and  $Ann(\{\alpha\}) \cdot u_{4j+3}$  for any  $0 \le i, j \le [\frac{n-1}{2}]$ , where  $u_{2n+1}$  is substituted by  $v_{2n+1}$  for *n* odd.

### 4.5 APPLICATIONS TO HERMITIAN FORMS

Throughout this section we exploit previous results to study the kernel invariant of quadratic forms divisible by  $\langle \langle \alpha \rangle \rangle$ . The general idea is that  $H(BU_n(E/k))$  is closer to the cohomology of the Čech simplicial scheme of a quadratic form associated to a hermitian form than  $H(BO_{2n})$ .

We start by noticing that for every hermitian form h of the quadratic extension E/k there exists a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
\check{C}(X_h) & \longrightarrow BU_n(E/k) & \longrightarrow BO(\widetilde{h}_n) \\
& & & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\
& & & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\
Spec(k) & \xrightarrow{h} & B_{\acute{e}t}U_n(E/k) & \longrightarrow B_{\acute{e}t}O(\widetilde{h}_n)
\end{array}$$

where  $\check{C}(X_h)$  is the Čech simplicial scheme of the torsor  $X_h = Iso(h \leftrightarrow h_n)$ . Hence, the computation of the motivic cohomology of  $BU_n(E/k)$  provides us with subtle characteristic classes for hermitian forms and relations among them. More precisely, we have the following proposition.

**Proposition 4.5.1.** For any *n*-dimensional hermitian form *h*, in  $H(\check{C}(X_h))$  the following relations hold for any  $1 \le j, j' \text{ odd } \le n$ : 1)  $c_{j'}(h)d_j(h) + c_j(h)d_{j'}(h) = 0$ ; 2)  $\tau d_j(h) + \{\alpha\}c_j(h) = 0$ ; 3)  $Ann(\{\alpha\}) \cdot d_j(h) = 0$ .

*Proof.* It follows immediately from Theorem 4.3.4.

We now move to consider quadratic forms associated to hermitian ones and their subtle Stiefel-Whitney classes.

Recall that two hermitian forms are isomorphic if and only if the corresponding quadratic forms over k are isomorphic. In particular, for even dimensional hermitian forms we have that they split if and only if the respective quadratic forms split. It follows that  $\check{C}(X_h) \cong \check{C}(X_{\tilde{h}})$ , for even dimensional hermitian forms.

**Proposition 4.5.2.** For *n* even, in  $H(\check{C}(X_{\tilde{h}}))$  the following relations hold for any  $0 \le i, j \le \frac{n}{2} - 1$ : 1)  $u_{4j+1}(\tilde{h}) = 0$ ; 2)  $u_{4i+3}(\tilde{h})u_{4j+2}(\tilde{h}) = u_{4j+3}(\tilde{h})u_{4i+2}(\tilde{h})$ ; 3)  $\tau u_{4j+3}(\tilde{h}) = \{\alpha\}u_{4j+2}(\tilde{h})$ ; 4)  $Ann(\{\alpha\}) \cdot u_{4j+3}(\tilde{h}) = 0$ .

Proof. It follows immediately from Corollary 4.4.5.

On the other hand, if *q* is an odd dimensional quadratic form, then  $\langle \langle \alpha \rangle \rangle \otimes q$  is split over a field extension of *k* if and only if  $\langle \langle \alpha \rangle \rangle$  is split over the same field extension. It follows from this remark that, for odd dimensional hermitian forms,  $\check{C}(X_{\tilde{h}}) \cong \check{C}(X_{\alpha})$ , where  $\check{C}(X_{\alpha})$  stands for the Čech simplicial scheme associated to the Pfister form  $\langle \langle \alpha \rangle \rangle$ .

**Proposition 4.5.3.** For *n* odd, in  $H(\check{C}(X_{\tilde{h}})) = H(\check{C}(X_{\alpha}))$  the following relations hold for any  $0 \le j \le \frac{n-1}{2}$ : 1)  $u_{4j+1}(\tilde{h}) = \mu u_{4j}(\tilde{h})$ ; 2)  $u_{4j-1}(\tilde{h}) = 0$ .

*Proof.* Together with the commutative diagram at the beginning of this section, we have the following one



By Proposition 2.3.14, we know that after tensoring both with  $\check{C}(X_{\alpha})$  they coincide. Therefore, our restriction morphism  $H(BO_{2n}) \rightarrow H(\check{C}(X_{\alpha}))$  factors as

$$H(BO_{2n}) \to H(BO_{2n} \times \check{C}(X_{\alpha})) \leftrightarrow H(\check{C}(X_{\alpha}) \times BO(\check{h}_{n})) \to H(\check{C}(X_{\alpha}) \times BU_{n}(E/k)) \to H(\check{C}(X_{\alpha}))$$

which implies the result by Theorem 4.3.3, Proposition 4.4.2 and Proposition 4.4.4  $\hfill \Box$ 

We now show that the subtle classes arising in the unitary case see the triviality of the torsor of a hermitian form in the same way subtle Stiefel-Whitney classes do for quadratic forms (see Corollary 2.4.8).

**Proposition 4.5.4.**  $h \cong h_n$  if and only if  $c_{2^r}(h) = 0$  for any r.

*Proof.* Let us start from the case *n* even. Then, we have already noticed that *h* splits if and only if  $\tilde{h}$  splits. By Corollary 2.4.8, this is equivalent to say that  $u_{2^{r+1}}(\tilde{h})$  vanishes in  $H(\check{C}(X_{\tilde{h}}))$  for any *r*, which is the same of vanishing of  $c_{2^r}(h)$  in  $H(\check{C}(X_h))$ , since in this case  $\check{C}(X_h) \cong \check{C}(X_{\tilde{h}})$  and by Proposition 4.4.4.

For *n* odd, we have that *h* splits if and only if  $h \perp \langle -1 \rangle$  (which is even dimensional) splits. This amounts to say that  $c_{2^r}(h \perp \langle -1 \rangle) = 0$  in  $H(\check{C}(X_{h \perp \langle -1 \rangle}))$  for any *r*, which is equivalent to say that  $c_{2^r}(h) = 0$  in  $H(\check{C}(X_h))$  for any *r*.

We conclude by presenting an expression of the motive of the torsor associated to a hermitian form. Indeed, by the very same arguments of Proposition 2.4.5 and Theorem 2.4.6 one obtains the description of the motive of the torsor  $X_h$  in terms of motives of Čech simplicial schemes and subtle characteristic classes, where *h* is any hermitian form.

Before stating the results, let us denote by  $\tilde{c}_j$  a morphism  $T \to N_>(j)[2j]$ in  $\mathcal{DM}^-_{eff}(BU_n(E/k))$  which composed with the only non-zero morphism  $N_>(j)[2j] \to T(j)[2j]$  gives  $c_j$  for any j odd. It is actually the unique cohomology class in  $H(N_< \otimes BU_n(E/k))$  that maps to  $c_j$  under the homomorphism induced by the only non-zero morphism  $T \to N_<$ . Then, we have the following two propositions.

**Proposition 4.5.5.** In  $\mathcal{DM}^{-}_{eff}(BU_n(E/k), \mathbb{Z}/2)$  we have that

$$M(EU_n(E/k) \to BU_n(E/k)) = \bigotimes_{1 \le i \text{ even} \le n} Cone[-1](T \xrightarrow{c_i} T(i)[2i]) \otimes$$
$$\bigotimes_{1 \le j \text{ odd} \le n} Cone[-1](T \xrightarrow{\tilde{c}_j} N_>(j)[2j])$$

**Proposition 4.5.6.** In  $\mathcal{DM}^-_{eff}(k, \mathbb{Z}/2)$  we have that

$$M(X_{h}) = \bigotimes_{1 \le i \text{ even} \le n} Cone[-1](\mathfrak{X}_{h} \xrightarrow{c_{i}(h)} \mathfrak{X}_{h}(i)[2i]) \otimes$$
$$\bigotimes_{1 \le j \text{ odd} \le n} Cone[-1](\mathfrak{X}_{h} \xrightarrow{\tilde{c}_{j}(h)} N_{>} \otimes \mathfrak{X}_{h}(j)[2j])$$

# A SPECTRAL SEQUENCE FOR MORPHISMS WITH MOTIVICALLY CELLULAR FIBER

In this chapter, we want to generalise the Gysin long exact sequence for fibrations with motivically Tate reduced fiber to a spectral sequence for fibrations with motivically cellular fiber, i.e. with fiber whose motive is an extension of Tate motives.

First, we will recall basic definitions about Postnikov systems in triangulated categories, and how they naturally generate spectral sequences. Moreover, we will report a few facts about convergence issues of a spectral sequence (see [7]).

Then, we will move to the generalisation of Propositions 2.2.3 and 2.2.5. Indeed, this will provide the aimed spectral sequence for coherent morphisms with motivically cellular fibers. In some sense, this spectral sequence is analogous to the *Serre spectral sequence* associated to a fibration in topology. The main reason is that, as in topology, our spectral sequence reconstructs the cohomology of the total simplicial scheme from the cohomology of the base simplicial scheme and the fiber. However, the filtration inducing the spectral sequence in the motivic case is on the fiber instead of the base.

As an example, the spectral sequence investigated in this chapter could be used, in principle, to study  $PGL_n$ -torsors, which over the point correspond to *Severi-Brauer varieties*. Indeed, by exploiting a fiber sequence involving  $PGL_n$  and  $GL_n$  one could try to get information about the motivic cohomology of the Nisnevich classifying space  $BPGL_n$ , which would in turn provide some subtle classes for Severi-Brauer varieties.

### 5.1 SOME GENERAL FACTS ABOUT SPECTRAL SEQUENCES

Let us start in this section by recalling some well known facts about Postnikov systems in triangulated categories, spectral sequences associated to them and convergence issues.

Throughout this section, C will indicate a triangulated category, A an abelian category and  $H : C \to A$  a cohomological functor.

**Definition 5.1.1.** An unrolled exact couple in A is a triangle



which is exact at each vertex.

First, notice that the morphism *d* defined as the composition *jk* is a differential, i.e.  $d^2 = 0$ . Set E' = Ker(d)/Im(d) and D' = Im(i). By some standard arguments there exist morphisms  $j' : D' \to E'$  and  $k' : E' \to D'$ , defined respectively by j'(i(x)) = j(x) and k'([y]) = k(y) for any  $x \in D$  and  $y \in Ker(d)$ , such that the following triangle



is again an exact couple, called the derived couple. Reiterating this construction one gets a sequence of objects  $E_r$  endowed with differentials  $d_r$  each of which is the homology of the previous one. More precisely, we can give the following definition.

**Definition 5.1.2.** *The sequence*  $\{(E_r, d_r)\}$  *constructed inductively by* 

$$E_r = Ker(d_{r-1}) / Im(d_{r-1})$$

is called the spectral sequence associated to the derived couple.

In practical situations, one often encounters bigraded exact couples, which naturally give rise to bigraded spectral sequences  $\{(E_r^{s,t}, d_r^{s,t})\}$ . In the next definition we remind what is the limit page of a bigraded spectral sequence.

**Definition 5.1.3.** Let  $\{(E_r^{s,t}, d_r^{s,t})\}$  be a bigraded spectral sequence and suppose for any couple (s,t) there is an integer r(s,t) such that  $E_r^{s,t} \cong E_{r(s,t)}^{s,t}$  for any  $r \ge r(s,t)$ , then we say that the spectral sequence abuts to  $E_{\infty}^{s,t} = E_{r(s,t)}^{s,t}$ .

We resume now some notions about filtrations taken from [7] which are advantageous to deal with convergence of spectral sequences.

An increasing filtration of an object *G* in A is a diagram of the following shape

 $\cdots \hookrightarrow F^1 \hookrightarrow F^2 \hookrightarrow \cdots \hookrightarrow F^m \hookrightarrow F^{m+1} \hookrightarrow \cdots \hookrightarrow G$ 

**Definition 5.1.4.** The increasing filtration  $\{F^m\}_{m \in \mathbb{Z}}$  of G is said to be: 1) exhaustive if  $G = \varinjlim_m F^m$ ; 2) Hausdorff if  $\varprojlim_m \overline{F^m} = 0$ ; 3) complete  $\varprojlim_m^1 \overline{F^m} = 0$ .

In practice, one often studies filtrations of graded objects. At this point, we are ready to mention the types of convergence for spectral sequences, which are in turn related to the different types of filtrations of the target object.

**Definition 5.1.5.** A spectral sequence associated to an exact couple is called:

1) weakly convergent to G if there exists an increasing filtration of G which is exhaustive and such that  $E_{\infty}^{s,t} \cong F^{s,t}/F^{s-1,t}$  for any s, where s is the parameter of the filtration;

2) convergent to G if it is weakly convergent and the filtration of G is Hausdorff;
3) strongly convergent to G if it is weakly convergent and the filtration of G is complete Hausdorff.

We now recall what Postnikov systems in triangulated categories are. Indeed, there are left and right Postnikov systems, but since we will use only one type, we will not put any adjective and simply call Postnikov system the type we need.

**Definition 5.1.6.** A Postnikov system for an object X in C is a diagram



where all the triangles are distinguished triangles in *C*.

Associated to a Postnikov system in a triangulated category one can always construct an exact couple by applying a cohomological functor *H*. More precisely, we have the following unrolled bigraded exact couple



where  $D^{s,t} = H(X_s[-t])$ ,  $E^{s,t} = H(Y_s[-t])$  and the morphisms  $i : D^{s,t} \to D^{s+1,t}$ ,  $j : D^{s,t} \to E^{s-1,t+1}$  and  $k : E^{s,t} \to D^{s,t}$  are induced by the morphisms in the Postnikov system.

Notice that we can obtain an increasing filtration of the object H(X) in  $\mathcal{A}$  given by

 $F^1 \hookrightarrow F^2 \hookrightarrow \cdots \hookrightarrow F^m \hookrightarrow F^{m+1} \hookrightarrow \cdots \hookrightarrow H(X)$ 

where  $F^m = Ker(H(X) \rightarrow H(X_m))$  and the morphism  $H(X) \rightarrow H(X_m)$ is the one induced by the Postnikov system. Moreover, observe that the filtration  $\{F^m\}$  just introduced is obviously complete Hausdorff, since it is bounded from below, but not necessarily exhaustive. Anyway, we have the following result which guarantees the strong convergence of the spectral sequence provided a certain condition is met.

**Theorem 5.1.7.** If  $\varinjlim_m H(X_m) = 0$ , then the spectral sequence associated to the above Postnikov system is strongly convergent to H(X).

Proof. See [7, Theorem 6.1].

### 5.2 A SERRE SPECTRAL SEQUENCE FOR MOTIVIC COHOMOLOGY

We begin this section by recalling a result from [47] about coherent motives that we will use later on.

**Proposition 5.2.1.** For any motive N in  $\mathcal{DM}^-_{coh}(Y_{\bullet}, R)$  there exists a functorial increasing filtration

$$(N)_{\leq 0} \to (N)_{\leq 1} \to \dots \to (N)_{\leq n-1} \to (N)_{\leq n} \to \dots \to N$$

with graded pieces  $(N)_n = Cone((N)_{\leq n-1} \rightarrow (N)_{\leq n}) \cong Lr_{n,\#}r_n^*(N)[n]$  which converges in the sense that

$$\bigoplus_n (N)_{\leq n} \xrightarrow{id-sh} \bigoplus_n (N)_{\leq n} \to N$$

*extends to a distinguished triangle, where*  $sh : (N)_{\leq n-1} \to (N)_{\leq n}$  *is the map from the filtration.* 

*Proof.* See [47, Proposition 3.1.8].

The next proposition is a generalisation of Proposition 2.2.3. Indeed, it allows to construct Postnikov systems for coherent motives with simplicial components which are direct sums of Tate motives satisfying some specific conditions. The proof is essentially the same of Proposition 2.2.3 with some minor adjustments, but we will report it for completeness. Before proceeding, we need to define an order on the bidegrees (q)[p].

**Definition 5.2.2.** We set  $(q)[p] \prec (q')[p']$  if and only if one of the following two conditions is satisfied:

q < q';</li>
 q = q' and p < p'.</li>
 This is clearly a strict order relation.

For any  $j \ge 1$ , let  $T_j$  be the possibly infinite direct sum  $\bigoplus_{I_j} T(q_j)[p_j]$  in  $\mathcal{DM}^-_{eff}(k, R)$  such that  $(q_j)[p_j] \prec (q_{j+1})[p_{j+1}]$  and let  $N \in \mathcal{DM}^-_{coh}(Y_{\bullet}, R)$  be such a motive that its simplicial components  $N_i \in \mathcal{DM}^-_{eff}(Y_i, R)$  are isomorphic to the direct sum  $\bigoplus_{j>1} T_j$ .

Note that in  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_1, R)$  the automorphism group  $Aut(\bigoplus_{j\geq 1} T_j)$  consists of invertible upper triangular matrices, since

$$Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_1,R)}(T,T(q)[p]) = H^{p,q}(Y_1,R) = 0$$

for any  $(q)[p] \prec (0)[0]$ .

Recall that, since *N* is coherent, for any simplicial map  $\theta$  :  $[i] \rightarrow [j]$ , the structural map  $N_{\theta} : LY^*_{\theta}(N_i) \rightarrow N_j$  is an isomorphism. Then, for any connected component of  $Y_1$ , fix the automorphism of  $\bigoplus_{j>1} T_j$  given by

$$N_{\partial_0}: LY^*_{\partial_0}(N_0) \cong \bigoplus_{j \ge 1} T_j \to N_1 \cong \bigoplus_{j \ge 1} T_j$$

to be the identity 1. This way, to each connected component of  $Y_1$  one can associate the automorphism of  $\bigoplus_{j\geq 1} T_j$  induced by the other face map, namely

$$N_{\partial_1}: LY^*_{\partial_1}(N_0) \cong \bigoplus_{j \ge 1} T_j \to N_1 \cong \bigoplus_{j \ge 1} T_j$$

Hence, we have produced a morphism of groupoids  $\omega^N$  from  $\pi_1(CC(Y_{\bullet}))$  to  $Aut(\bigoplus_{j\geq 1} T_j)$ . Now, for any  $j\geq 1$ , we can compose  $\omega^N$  with the morphism  $Aut(\bigoplus_{j\geq 1} T_j) \rightarrow Aut(T_j)$  that sends each invertible upper triangular matrix to its *j*-th diagonal entry. We will denote these morphisms by  $\omega_i^N$ .

**Proposition 5.2.3.** Using the notations just introduced, if  $\omega_j^N$  is trivial for any  $j \ge 1$ , then there exists a Postnikov system in  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^-(Y_{\bullet}, R)$ 



such that the simplicial components  $N_i^j$  are isomorphic to the direct sum  $\bigoplus_{k\geq j} T_k$ and the morphisms  $r_i^*(N^j \to T_j)$  are the natural projections  $\bigoplus_{k\geq j} T_k \to T_j$  in  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^-(Y_i, R)$ .

*Proof.* To construct the aimed Postnikov system we just need to produce morphisms  $N^j \to T_j$  where each  $N^j$  is defined as the cone of the previous

morphism, namely  $N^j = Cone(N^{j-1} \rightarrow T_{j-1})[-1]$ . We will do so by induction.

Notice that each simplicial component of N is isomorphic to  $\bigoplus_{j\geq 1} T_j$  and  $T_1$  is the direct sum of possibly infinite  $T(q_1)[p_1]$  such that  $(q_1)[p_1] \prec (q_j)[p_j]$  for any  $j \geq 2$  by hypothesis. By applying the triangulated functor  $Lc_{\#}$  introduced at the end of Section 2.1 to the filtration of the previous proposition one gets a filtration  $(Lc_{\#}N)_{\leq n}$  for  $Lc_{\#}N$  with graded pieces  $(Lc_{\#}N)_n \cong \bigoplus_{j\geq 1} \bigoplus_{I_j} M(Y_n)(q_j)[p_j + n]$ . Following the lines of the proof of Proposition 2.2.3, we will denote by  $(Lc_{\#}N)_{>n}$  the cone  $Cone((Lc_{\#}N)_{\leq n} \rightarrow (Lc_{\#}N)_n)$  and by  $(Lc_{\#}N)_{m\geq *>n}$  the cone  $Cone((Lc_{\#}N)_{\leq m})$  for any m > n. Now, note that

$$(Lc_{\#}N)_{>n} \cong Cone(\bigoplus_{m>n} (Lc_{\#}N)_{m \ge *>n} \xrightarrow{id-sh} (Lc_{\#}N)_{m \ge *>n})$$

and moreover  $(Lc_{\#}N)_{m \ge *>n}$  is an extension of  $(Lc_{\#}N)_k$  for  $n < k \le m$ . Therefore, we have that

$$Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(k,R)}((Lc_{\#}N)_{>0}, T_{1}) = 0$$
$$Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(k,R)}((Lc_{\#}N)_{>1}, T_{1}) = 0$$
$$Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(k,R)}((Lc_{\#}N)_{>1}, T_{1}[1]) = 0$$

since  $Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(k,R)}(M(Y_n), T(q)[p]) = 0$  for any  $n \ge 0$  and any  $(q)[p] \prec (0)[0]$ . We deduce from these remarks and by applying the cohomological functor  $Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(k,R)}(-,T_1)$  to the distinguished triangle

$$(Lc_{\#}N)_{0} \rightarrow (Lc_{\#}N) \rightarrow (Lc_{\#}N)_{>0} \rightarrow (Lc_{\#}N)_{0}[1]$$

that there exists an exact sequence

$$0 \to Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(k,R)}(Lc_{\#}(N),T_{1}) \to Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(k,R)}(Lc_{\#,0}(N_{0}),T_{1})$$
$$\to Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(k,R)}(Lc_{\#,1}(N_{1}),T_{1})$$

Repeating the same arguments for  $T_1$  in  $\mathcal{DM}^-_{coh}(Y_{\bullet}, R)$  one gets a similar sequence

$$0 \to Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(k,R)}(Lc_{\#}(T_{1}),T_{1}) \to Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(k,R)}(Lc_{\#,0}(T_{1}),T_{1})$$
$$\to Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(k,R)}(Lc_{\#,1}(T_{1}),T_{1})$$

In order to produce an isomorphism between  $Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(k,R)}(Lc_{\#}(N),T_{1})$ and  $Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(k,R)}(Lc_{\#}(T_{1}),T_{1})$  we need to identify the last morphisms of the two exact sequences. Since in the exact sequences only the 0th and the 1st simplicial components appear, it is enough to get a compatibility between the coherent system  $(N_i, N_\theta)$  and the one of  $T_1$  for i = 0, 1 and simplicial maps  $\theta : [0] \rightarrow [1]$ , where  $N_\theta$  is the structural isomorphism  $LY^*_{\theta}(N_0) \rightarrow N_1$ . In other words, we want a commutative diagram

having fixed the automorphism of  $Aut(\bigoplus_{j\geq 1} T_j)$  given by  $N_{\partial_0}$  to be the identity 1 for any connected component of  $Y_1$ . Indeed, we have such a commutative diagram since by hypothesis  $\omega_1^N$  is trivial. Hence, the two exact sequences above coincide. Then, we have that

$$Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_{\bullet},R)}(N,T_{1}) \cong Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(k,R)}(Lc_{\#}(N),T_{1}) \cong Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(k,R)}(Lc_{\#}(T_{1}),T_{1}) \cong Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_{\bullet},R)}(T_{1},T_{1})$$

by adjunctions and the identity of  $T_1$  provides the pursued morphism  $N \rightarrow T_1$  whose restriction on each simplicial component is given by the natural projection  $\bigoplus_{k\geq 1} T_k \rightarrow T_1$ . It follows that  $N_i^2$  is isomorphic to  $\bigoplus_{k\geq 2} T_k$  for any *i*. This proves the induction basis.

Now, suppose we have a morphism from  $N^k$  to  $T_k$  for any  $1 \le k \le j-1$ , where each  $N^k$  is defined as  $Cone(N^{k-1} \to T_{k-1})[-1]$ . We denote by  $N^j$ the cone  $Cone(N^{j-1} \to T_{j-1})[-1]$ . Notice that the simplicial components of  $N^j$  are all isomorphic to  $\bigoplus_{l\ge j} T_l$  and  $T_j$  is the direct sum of possibly infinite  $T(q_j)[p_j]$  such that  $(q_j)[p_j] \prec (q_l)[p_l]$  for any  $l \ge j+1$  by hypothesis. Therefore, by applying the same arguments of the induction basis, using the fact that  $\omega_1^{N^j} = \omega_j^N$  is trivial by hypothesis, there exists a morphism  $N^j \to T_j$ . This completes the proof.

We just want to point out that the proof of the previous proposition works in the same way if each simplicial component of *N* is a finite direct sum of Tates. In this case, we would obtain a finite Postnikov system for *N* in  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_{\bullet}, R)$ .

We next apply the previous proposition to produce a spectral sequence for fibrations which have motivically cellular fibers, i.e. fibers whose motives are sum of Tates satisfying certain conditions.

**Proposition 5.2.4.** Let  $\pi : X_{\bullet,\bullet} \to Y_{\bullet}$  be a smooth coherent morphism from a smooth bisimplicial scheme to a smooth simplicial scheme over k,  $A_{\bullet}$  a smooth simplicial k-scheme and, for any  $j \ge 1$ ,  $T_j$  the possibly infinite direct sum of Tate

motives  $\bigoplus_{I_j} T(q_j)[p_j]$  in  $\mathcal{DM}^-_{eff}(k, R)$  such that  $(q_j)[p_j] \prec (q_{j+1})[p_{j+1}]$ . Moreover, suppose the following conditions hold: 1) over the 0th simplicial component  $\pi$  is isomorphic to the projection  $Y_0 \times A_{\bullet} \rightarrow Y_0$ ; 2)  $\omega_j^{M(X_{\bullet,\bullet} \to Y_{\bullet})}$  is trivial for any  $j \ge 1$ ; 3)  $M(A_{\bullet}) = \bigoplus_{j \ge 1} T_j \in \mathcal{DM}^-_{eff}(k, R)$ .

Then, there exists a Postnikov system in  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_{\bullet}, R)$ 

such that the simplicial components  $N_i^j$  are isomorphic to the direct sum  $\bigoplus_{k\geq j} T_k$ and the morphisms  $r_i^*(N^j \to T_j)$  are the natural projections  $\bigoplus_{k\geq j} T_k \to T_j$  in  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^-(Y_i, R)$ .

*Proof.* This follows essentially the steps of the proof of Proposition 2.2.5. Indeed, by coherence of  $\pi$  we have that  $\pi_i : Y_i \times A_{\bullet} \cong X_{i,\bullet} \to Y_i$  is the projection onto the first factor for any *i*. It follows that the coherent motive  $N^1$  has simplicial components given by  $N_i^1 \cong M(A_{\bullet})$  in  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^-(Y_i, R)$  for any *i*. Therefore, Proposition 5.2.4 implies the existence of the aimed Postnikov system in  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^-(Y_{\bullet}, R)$ , and the proof is complete.  $\Box$ 

As reported in the previous section, once constructed a Postnikov system in a triangulated category and considered a suitable cohomological functor, one can obtain a spectral sequence which may converge if some extra requirements are met. The following theorem just states the existence of a strongly convergent spectral sequence related to the Postnikov system of the previous proposition.

**Theorem 5.2.5.** Let  $\pi : X_{\bullet,\bullet} \to Y_{\bullet}$  be a smooth coherent morphism from a smooth bisimplicial scheme to a smooth simplicial scheme over k and  $A_{\bullet}$  a smooth simplicial k-scheme satisfying all conditions of the previous proposition. Moreover, for any bidegree (q)[p], suppose there is an integer l such that  $(q)[p] \prec (q_l)[p_l]$ . Then, there exists a strongly convergent spectral sequence

$$E_1^{p,q,s} = \bigoplus_{I_s} H^{p-p_s,q-q_s}(Y_{\bullet},R) \Rightarrow H^{p,q}(X_{\bullet,\bullet},R)$$

*Proof.* We start by applying the construction of the exact couple associated to a Postnikov system of the previous section to the cohomological functor  $Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_{\bullet},R)}(-,T(q))$ , for any q. This way, we get a spectral sequence with  $E_1$ -page given by

$$E_1^{p,q,s} = Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^-(Y_{\bullet},R)}(T_s, T(q)[p]) = \bigoplus_{I_s} H^{p-p_s,q-q_s}(Y_{\bullet},R)$$

The filtration we are considering is defined by  $F^m = ker(H(X_{\bullet,\bullet}) \to H(N^m))$ . We have already noticed that this filtration is complete Hausdorff. In order to get the strong convergence we need to study  $\varinjlim_m H(N^m) = 0$ . Since all the  $N^m$  are coherent motives, by Proposition 5.2.1 we have filtrations  $(N^m)_{\leq n}$  with graded pieces  $(N^m)_n \cong Lr_{n,\#}r_n^*(N^m)[n]$ . Hence, we have filtrations  $(Lc_\#N^m)_{\leq n}$  with graded pieces

$$(Lc_{\#}N^m)_n \cong \bigoplus_{k \ge m} \bigoplus_{I_k} M(Y_n)(q_k)[p_k + n]$$

Now, fix a bidegree (q)[p], then by hypothesis there exists an integer *l* such that  $(q)[p] \prec (q_l)[p_l]$ , from which it follows that

$$Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(k,R)}((Lc_{\#}N^{l})_{n},T(q)[p])=0$$

for any n. Therefore,

$$Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(k,R)}(Lc_{\#}(N^{l}),T(q)[p])=0$$

from which we deduce by adjunction that  $H^{p,q}(N^l) = 0$  that implies, in particular, the triviality of  $\varinjlim_m H(N^m)$ . Hence, by Theorem 5.1.7 we obtain the result.

In the same fashion of Proposition 2.2.7, the next result assures that the spectral sequence just constructed is indeed functorial.

**Proposition 5.2.6.** Let  $\pi : X_{\bullet,\bullet} \to Y_{\bullet}$  and  $\pi' : X'_{\bullet,\bullet} \to Y'_{\bullet}$  be smooth coherent morphisms from smooth bisimplicial schemes to smooth simplicial schemes over k and  $A_{\bullet}$  a smooth simplicial k-scheme that satisfies all conditions from Proposition 5.2.4 with respect to  $\pi'$  and such that the following diagram is cartesian with all morphisms smooth

$$\begin{array}{c|c} X_{\bullet,\bullet} \xrightarrow{\pi} Y_{\bullet} \\ p_X & & p_Y \\ X'_{\bullet,\bullet} \xrightarrow{\pi'} Y'_{\bullet} \end{array}$$

Then, the induced square of motives in the category  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y'_{\bullet}, R)$  extends uniquely to a morphism of Postnikov systems where, for any  $j \ge 1$ ,  $Lp_{Y\#}T_j \rightarrow T_j$  is given by  $\bigoplus_{l_i} M(p_Y)(q_j)[p_j]$ .

*Proof.* The proof follows the lines of Proposition 2.2.7. We will denote by  $N^{j}$  the objects from the Postnikov system of  $\pi$  and by  $N'^{j}$  the ones from the Postnikov system of  $\pi'$ .

First, recall that by Proposition 5.2.1 there is a filtration of  $Lc_{\#}N^{j}$  with graded pieces

$$(Lc_{\#}N^{j})_{n} \cong \bigoplus_{k \ge j} \bigoplus_{I_{k}} M(Y_{n})(q_{k})[p_{k}+n]$$

It follows that  $Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(k,R)}((Lc_{\#}N^{j})_{n}, T_{j-1}) = 0$  for any *n* since, for any  $k \ge j$ , we have that  $(q_{j-1})[p_{j-1}] \prec (q_{k})[p_{k}]$  by hypothesis. Therefore,

$$Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_{\bullet}^{\prime},R)}(Lp_{Y\#}N^{j},T_{j-1}) \cong Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_{\bullet},R)}(N^{j},T_{j-1}) \cong$$
$$Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(k,R)}(Lc_{\#}N^{j},T_{j-1}) = 0$$

from which we deduce that there are no non-trivial maps from  $Lp_{Y\#}N^j$  to  $T_{j-1}$ . It follows that there exist unique morphisms  $Lp_{Y\#}N^j \to N'^j$  fitting into a morphism of Postnikov systems in  $\mathcal{DM}^-_{eff}(Y'_{\bullet}, R)$ 



If we restrict our previous diagram to the 0th simplicial component we obtain in  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y'_{0}, R)$  the following Postnikov system



where each triangle is split. By hypothesis, the morphism  $Lp_{Y_0\#}T_{j-1} \to T_{j-1}$ in the previous diagram is basically given by  $\bigoplus_{I_{j-1}} M(p_{Y_0})(q_{j-1})[p_{j-1}]$  while the map  $Lp_{Y_0\#}N_0^{j-1} \to N_0'^{j-1}$  is given by  $\bigoplus_{k \ge j-1} \bigoplus_{I_k} M(p_{Y_0})(q_k)[p_k]$ .

Now, recall that the morphisms  $Lp_{Y\#}T_j \rightarrow T_j$  and  $\bigoplus_{I_j} M(p_Y)(q_j)[p_j]$  are both in

$$Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_{\bullet}^{\prime},R)}(Lp_{Y\#}T_{j},T_{j}) \cong Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_{\bullet},R)}(T_{j},p_{Y}^{*}T_{j}) \cong$$

$$Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_{\bullet},R)}(T_{j},T_{j})\cong\bigoplus H^{0,0}(Y_{\bullet},R)$$

and, for the same reason,  $(Lp_{Y\#}T_j \to T_j) = \bigoplus_{I_j} M(p_{Y_0})(q_j)[p_j]$  is in

$$Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_{0}^{\prime},R)}(Lp_{Y_{0}}\#T_{j},T_{j}) \cong Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_{0},R)}(T_{j},p_{Y_{0}}^{*}T_{j}) \cong$$
$$Hom_{\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(Y_{0},R)}(T_{j},T_{j}) \cong \bigoplus H^{0,0}(Y_{0},R)$$

Recall that  $H^{0,0}(Y_{\bullet}, R)$  is the free *R*-module with rank equal to the number of connected components of  $Y_{\bullet}$  and, analogously,  $H^{0,0}(Y_0, R)$  is the free *R*-module with rank equal to the number of connected components of  $Y_0$ . Since, as we have already noticed at the end of Proposition 2.2.7, the homomorphism

$$r_0^*: \bigoplus H^{0,0}(Y_{\bullet}, R) \to \bigoplus H^{0,0}(Y_0, R)$$

is injective, we deduce that  $Lp_{Y\#}T_j \to T_j$  and  $\bigoplus_{I_j} M(p_Y)(q_j)[p_j]$  are identified, which completes the proof.

We would like to finish this section by establishing a comparison between this spectral sequence and the Serre spectral sequence associated to a fiber bundle in topology. Recall that in topology for a fibre sequence

$$F \to E \to B$$

with  $\pi_1(B)$  acting trivially on H(F) one has a spectral sequence converging to  $H^*(E)$ 

$$E_2^{s,t} = H^s(B, H^t(F)) \Rightarrow H^*(E)$$

called Serre spectral sequence (see for example [50, Theorem 15.27]).

Analogously, the spectral sequence of our last theorem allows to reconstruct somehow the cohomology of the total simplicial scheme from the cohomology of the base and of the fiber, provided that the fiber is motivically cellular, which shows a certain similarity with the topological Serre spectral sequence. Moreover, the triviality condition on the morphisms

$$\omega_j^{M(X_{\bullet,\bullet} \to Y_{\bullet})} : \pi_1(CC(Y_{\bullet})) \to Aut(T_j)$$

for any  $j \ge 1$  is analogous to the topological condition on the triviality of the action of  $\pi_1(B)$  on H(F). On the other hand, the main difference resides in how the spectral sequences are obtained. In fact, while the topological Serre spectral sequence is achieved by filtering the base, our spectral sequence is instead realised by filtering the fiber.

5.3 THE CASE OF  $PGL_n$ 

The spectral sequence in the previous section has been constructed in the attempt of finding a possible way to study subtle characteristic classes for Severi-Brauer varieties, which are in one-to-one correspondence with  $PGL_n$ -torsors over the point.

From the short exact sequence of algebraic groups

$$1 \to G_m \to GL_n \to PGL_n \to 1$$

and by noticing that all  $GL_n$ -torsors over a field are trivial we get the following fiber sequence (see [4, Lemma 3.4])

$$BG_m \to BGL_n \to BPGL_n$$

Indeed, we can consider  $\widetilde{B}GL_n = (EGL_n \times EPGL_n)/GL_n$  as a model for  $BGL_n$ . Then, over any simplicial component, the map  $\widetilde{B}GL_n \rightarrow BPGL_n$  looks like

 $(EGL_n \times PGL_n^{m+1})/GL_n \to PGL_n^{m+1}/PGL_n$ 

which is equivalent to the projection

$$(EGL_n \times PGL_n)/GL_n \times PGL_n^m \to PGL_n^m$$

By recalling that  $PGL_n \cong GL_n/G_m$  via a central extension, we obtain that  $(EGL_n \times PGL_n)/GL_n \cong EGL_n/G_m = \widehat{B}G_m \cong BG_m$ , since  $G_m$  is a special algebraic group. It follows that the morphism  $\widetilde{B}GL_n \to BPGL_n$  is smooth coherent and, over each simplicial component, is isomorphic to the projection  $BG_m \times PGL_n^m \to PGL_n^m$ .

Now, the main point is that the cohomology of  $BGL_n$  is known to be the polynomial algebra over H generated by Chern classes, i.e.

$$H(BGL_n) = H[c_1,\ldots,c_n]$$

and  $BG_m \cong P^{\infty}$  whose motive is cellular. Indeed, we have that  $M(P^{\infty}) = \bigoplus_{j=0}^{\infty} T(j)[2j]$ . Therefore, our spectral sequence can be constructed for this particular case, which leads to the following result.

**Corollary 5.3.1.** There exists a strongly convergent spectral sequence

$$E_1^{p,q,s} = H^{p-2s,q-s}(BPGL_n, R) \Rightarrow H^{p,q}(BGL_n, R)$$

*Proof.* Just apply Theorem 5.2.5 to the coherent morphism  $\widetilde{B}GL_n \rightarrow BPGL_n$ .

# 5.3 The case of $PGL_n$

The hope is to get in future some computational advantages from this spectral sequence in order to produce some invariants for Severi-Brauer varieties. The natural path to follow would be first to enrich the structure of this spectral sequence, for example with multiplicative structure or compatibility with Steenrod operations, then to produce computations for the motivic cohomology of  $BPGL_n$ , at least in some cases. This part of the research is still at an early stage and will not be performed in this thesis.

# 6

# THE ACTION OF THE MOTIVIC STEENROD ALGEBRA ON ROST MOTIVES

As we have already pointed out, a really interesting and important part of motivic homotopy theory is the study of cohomology operations. As an example, the proof of the *Milnor conjecture* requires a considerable use of the motivic Steenrod algebra, namely the algebra of bistable cohomology operations in motivic cohomology, and in particular of the Milnor operations and of the Margolis homology. The mod p motivic Steenrod algebra has been constructed in [61] and has been shown to be the algebra of bistable cohomology operations for fields of characteristic zero in [64] by Voevodsky and for all fields of characteristic different from *p* in [22] by Hoyois, Kelly and Østvær. In [31], Milnor constructed Milnor operations and proved some very useful inductive formulas for them in the classical Steenrod algebra, which are the same in the motivic case when -1 is a square in the base field. These operations have been studied in the general case by Kylling in [28]. We will use these results throughout this chapter in order to understand the action of the motivic Steenrod algebra on the motivic cohomology of Cech simplicial schemes of norm quadrics.

Norm quadrics, which are quadrics associated to Pfister quadratic forms, are the mod 2 case of norm varieties. These extremely interesting objects and their motives have been deeply studied by several authors and constitute one of the pillars of the proof of the Milnor conjecture (Bloch-Kato in the general case). In particular, Rost has proved in [45] that motives of Pfister quadrics are direct sums of particular motives, called *Rost motives*, suitably shifted. A Rost motive has the property that it splits into two Tate motives over the algebraic closure. Moreover, a Rost motive can be represented in a suitable category as the extension of two simpler objects, namely two copies of the Čech simplicial scheme associated to the corresponding quadric appropriately shifted.

The aim of this chapter is to go a bit further in the understanding of Čech simplicial schemes of norm quadrics and, in particular, in their relations with the motivic Steenrod algebra. More precisely, we will give a complete description of the action of the motivic Steenrod algebra over the motivic

cohomology of the reduced Čech simplicial scheme of a Pfister quadric in the case -1 is a square in k. This result will be used to describe the cyclic left module over the motivic Steenrod algebra generated by a certain element in the motivic cohomology of the Čech simplicial scheme of the Pfister quadric. We will show that this is the quotient of the motivic Steenrod algebra by its left ideal generated by the operations  $Sq^{2^r}Sq^{2^{r-1}}\cdots Sq^2Sq^1$ ,  $Sq^{2^i}$  for any i > 0,  $\tau$  and Ann(a). Moreover, we will relate this module to the motivic cohomology of the reduced Rost motive, presenting it in turn as a quotient of the Steenrod algebra.

# 6.1 PFISTER QUADRICS AND ROST MOTIVES

We will start with a recollection on Pfister quadrics and Rost motives.

**Definition 6.1.1.** We denote by  $Q_a$  the small Pfister quadric over the field k associated to the pure symbol  $a = \{a_1, \ldots, a_r\}$  in  $K_r^M(k)/2$ , i.e. the quadric described by the equation  $\langle\langle a_1, \ldots, a_{r-1} \rangle\rangle = a_r t^2$ , and by  $P_a$  the big Pfister quadric ssociated to a, i.e. the quadric defined by  $\langle\langle a_1, \ldots, a_r \rangle\rangle = 0$ .

We know from [62] that  $Q_a$  is a 2-splitting variety, which means that the symbol *a* is 0 in the Milnor K-theory of  $k(Q_a)$  modulo 2.

**Proposition 6.1.2.** The symbol  $a = \{a_1, \ldots, a_r\}$  is divisible by 2 in  $K_r^M(k(Q_a))$ .

Proof. See [62, Proposition 4.1].

Essentially,  $Q_a$  splits over a field extension E of k if and only if a is zero in  $K_r^M(E)/2$ .

Let  $\check{C}(Q_a)$  be the Čech simplicial scheme associated to  $Q_a$  and  $\mathfrak{X}_a$  its motive in  $\mathcal{DM}^-_{eff}(k, \mathbb{Z}/2)$ . We denote by  $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}_a}$  the reduced motive of  $\check{C}(Q_a)$ , i.e. the object in  $\mathcal{DM}^-_{eff}(k, \mathbb{Z}/2)$  defined by the distinguished triangle

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}_a} \to \mathfrak{X}_a \to T \to \widetilde{\mathfrak{X}_a}[1]$$

In the preliminary version of [40] and later in [68], it has been computed the motivic cohomology of  $\mathfrak{X}_a$  and  $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}_a$ .

Theorem 6.1.3. There exists an isomorphism of H-modules

$$H(\mathfrak{X}_a) \cong H \oplus \left( \mathbb{Z} / 2[\mu] \otimes \Lambda(Q_0, \dots, Q_{r-2})(\gamma) \otimes \frac{K^M(k) / 2}{Ann(a)} \right)$$

where  $Q_j$  are the Milnor operations,  $\gamma$  is the only element in bidegree (r-1)[r]which maps to the symbol *a* once multiplied by  $\tau$  and  $\mu$  is the element in bidegree  $(2^{r-1}-1)[2^r-1]$  corresponding to  $Q_{r-2}Q_{r-3}\cdots Q_1Q_0\gamma$ . Moreover, there exists an isomorphism of H-modules

$$H(\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}_a}) \cong \mathbb{Z}/2[\mu] \otimes \Lambda(Q_0, \dots, Q_{r-2})(\gamma) \otimes \frac{K^M(k)/2}{Ann(a)}$$

Proof. See [68, Theorem 5.8].

Rost has computed the motive of the Pfister quadric  $P_a$  that is reported in the following result.

**Theorem 6.1.4.** There exists an object  $M_a$  in  $\mathcal{DM}^-_{eff}(k, \mathbb{Z}/2)$  such that

$$M(P_a) \cong M_a \otimes M(P^{2^{r-1}-1})$$

Moreover,  $M_a$  is endowed with two morphisms  $T(2^{r-1}-1)[2^r-2] \rightarrow M_a$  and  $M_a \rightarrow T$  such that the sequence

$$T(2^{r-1}-1)[2^r-2] \to M_a \to T$$

is a split distinguished triangle in  $\mathcal{DM}_{eff}^{-}(E, \mathbb{Z}/2)$ , for any field extension E/k where  $Q_a$  has a point.

*Proof.* See [45, Theorem 17] and [62, Theorem 4.3].

The previous result allows to define Rost motives.

**Definition 6.1.5.** *The motive*  $M_a$  *appearing in the previous theorem is called Rost motive of the pure symbol a.* 

Besides, we denote by  $\widehat{M}_a$  the reduced Rost motive obtained from  $M_a$  by removing both the cells  $M_a \to T$  and  $T(2^{r-1}-1)[2^r-2] \to M_a$ . The Rost motive  $M_a$  is the extension of two simpler objects, in fact the following theorem holds.

**Theorem 6.1.6.** There exists a distinguished triangle in  $\mathcal{DM}^{-}_{eff}(k, \mathbb{Z}/2)$ 

$$M_a \to \mathfrak{X}_a \to \mathfrak{X}_a(2^{r-1}-1)[2^r-1] \to M_a[1]$$

where the second arrow represents  $\mu$ .

*Proof.* See [62, Theorem 4.4 and Lemma 4.7].

As a corollary to the previous result, we get that even  $\widehat{M}_a$  is defined by a distinguished triangle involving Čech simplicial schemes. More precisely, we have the following result.

**Corollary 6.1.7.** There exists a distinguished triangle in  $\mathcal{DM}^{-}_{eff}(k, \mathbb{Z}/2)$ 

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}_a}(2^{r-1}-1)[2^r-1] \to \widetilde{\mathfrak{X}_a} \to \widehat{M_a} \to \widetilde{\mathfrak{X}_a}(2^{r-1}-1)[2^r]$$

*Proof.* It follows immediately from the previous theorem by applying the octahedron axiom.  $\Box$ 

Then, we deduce that the motivic cohomology of  $\widehat{M}_a$  consists of the diagonals from  $\gamma$  to  $\mu$ . Indeed, one can easily get the following corollary.

Corollary 6.1.8. The motivic cohomology of the reduced Rost motive is given by

$$H(\widehat{M}_a) = \Lambda(Q_0, \dots, Q_{r-2})(\gamma) \otimes \frac{K^M(k)/2}{Ann(a)}$$

*Proof.* The proof is basically the same as Lemma 4.2.3.

## 6.2 The action of steenrod operations on $\gamma$

We begin this section by showing how Steenrod squares corresponding to powers of 2 act on the element  $\gamma$ .

**Lemma 6.2.1.** 
$$Sq^2\gamma = \rho Q_0\gamma$$
 and  $Sq^{2j}\gamma = 0$  for any  $1 < j < r$ .

*Proof.* First, recall that Milnor operations generate an exterior subalgebra of the motivic Steenrod algebra and that Steenrod operations respect the  $K^M(k)/2$ -module structure. From [28, Remark 5] we know that

$$Q_j = Sq^{2^j}Q_{j-1} + Q_{j-1}Sq^{2^j} + \rho Sq^{2^{j-1}}Q_{j-1}Q_{j-2}$$

First, we notice that by degree reasons  $Sq^{2^{j}}\gamma = xQ_{j-1}\gamma$  with  $x \in K_{1}^{M}(k)/2$ . Hence, evaluating the previous recursive formula in  $Sq^{2^{j}}\gamma$ , by Adem relations, we obtain that

$$Q_{j}Sq^{2^{j}}\gamma = Q_{j-1}Sq^{2^{j}}Sq^{2^{j}}\gamma =$$
$$Q_{j-1}(Sq^{2^{j+1}-2^{j-1}}Sq^{2^{j-1}}\gamma + \dots + Sq^{2^{j+1}-2}Sq^{2}\gamma + \tau Sq^{2^{j+1}-1}Sq^{1}\gamma)$$

At this point, we notice that for j = 1

$$Q_1 Sq^2 \gamma = Q_0(\tau Sq^3 Sq^1 \gamma) = \rho Sq^3 Sq^1 \gamma = \rho Q_0 Sq^2 Q_0 \gamma = \rho Q_1 Q_0 \gamma$$

Therefore, by injectivity of  $Q_1$  on the target, we get that  $Sq^2\gamma = \rho Q_0\gamma$ . In order to prove that  $Sq^{2j}\gamma = 0$  for any j > 1 we proceed by induction. For j = 2, we obtain from the previous formula that  $Q_2Sq^4\gamma = Q_1(Sq^6Sq^2\gamma + \tau Sq^7Sq^1\gamma)$ . Hence,

$$Q_0 Q_2 Sq^4 \gamma = Q_0 Q_1 (Sq^6 Sq^2 \gamma + \tau Sq^7 Sq^1 \gamma) = Q_1 (\rho Sq^7 Q_0 \gamma + \rho Sq^7 Q_0 \gamma) = 0$$

On the other hand, we already know that  $Sq^4\gamma = xQ_1\gamma$ , so  $xQ_0Q_1Q_2\gamma = 0$ which implies that x = 0 and  $Sq^4\gamma = 0$ . Now, suppose that  $Sq^{2i}\gamma = 0$  for any 1 < i < j. Then,  $Q_j Sq^{2^j} \gamma = Q_{j-1}(Sq^{2^{j+1}-2}Sq^2\gamma + \tau Sq^{2^{j+1}-1}Sq^1\gamma)$ . Applying  $Q_0$  we obtain, as before, that

$$Q_0 Q_j Sq^{2^j} \gamma = Q_0 Q_{j-1} (Sq^{2^{j+1}-2} Sq^2 \gamma + \tau Sq^{2^{j+1}-1} Sq^1 \gamma) =$$
$$Q_{j-1} (\rho Sq^{2^{j+1}-1} Q_0 \gamma + \rho Sq^{2^{j+1}-1} Q_0 \gamma) = 0$$

But we already know that  $Sq^{2^{j}}\gamma = xQ_{j-1}\gamma$ , so  $xQ_{0}Q_{j-1}Q_{j}\gamma = 0$  which implies that x = 0 and  $Sq^{2^{j}}\gamma = 0$ , which is what we wanted to prove.

From the previous lemma we get the description of the action of any Steenrod square on  $\gamma$ .

# **Proposition 6.2.2.** $Sq^1\gamma = Q_0\gamma$ , $Sq^2\gamma = \rho Q_0\gamma$ and $Sq^m\gamma = 0$ for any m > 2.

*Proof.* We need to prove only the last part of the statement. First, we notice that  $Sq^3\gamma = Sq^1Sq^2\gamma = 0$ . If r = 1, 2 or 3 we know from Lemma 1.6.7 that  $Sq^m\gamma = 0$  for any  $m \ge 4$ , so we can suppose from now on that r > 3. We proceed by induction and restrict to the case m even, since the odd case immediately follows from the relation  $Sq^{2n+1} = Sq^1Sq^{2n}$ . Suppose now that  $Sq^t\gamma = 0$  for any 2 < t < m with  $2^j < m < 2^{j+1}$  and j < r. At first, let us consider the case  $m \equiv 0 \pmod{4}$ . Then, we have the following Adem relations

$$Sq^{m-2^{j}}Sq^{2^{j}} = Sq^{m} + \sum_{t=1}^{\frac{m}{2}-2^{j-1}} {2^{j}-1-t \choose m-2^{j}-2t} \tau^{t} \mod {}^{2}Sq^{m-t}Sq^{t}$$

since  $\binom{2^{j}-1}{m-2^{j}}$  is odd. Evaluating in  $\gamma$  we get

$$Sq^{m}\gamma = {\binom{2^{j}-2}{m-2^{j}-2}}\tau Sq^{m-1}Sq^{1}\gamma + {\binom{2^{j}-3}{m-2}}Sq^{m-2}Sq^{2}\gamma$$

At this point, we notice that

$$\binom{2^{j}-2}{m-2^{j}-2} = \binom{2^{j}-3}{m-2^{j}-4} \frac{(2^{j}-2)(2^{j+1}-m+1)}{(m-2^{j}-2)(m-2^{j}-3)}$$

Since  $m \equiv 0 \pmod{4}$ , then  $\frac{2^{j}-2}{m-2^{j}-2}$  is odd and  $\binom{2^{j}-2}{m-2^{j}-2} \equiv \binom{2^{j}-3}{m-2^{j}-4} \pmod{2}$ . If they are both even, then we immediately get that  $Sq^m\gamma = 0$ . Otherwise, we have  $Sq^m\gamma = \tau Sq^{m-1}Sq^1\gamma + Sq^{m-2}Sq^2\gamma$ . Applying  $Q_0$  we obtain  $Q_0Sq^m\gamma = \rho Sq^{m-1}Q_0\gamma + \rho Sq^{m-1}Q_0\gamma = 0$ . But  $Q_0$  is a monomorphism on odd diagonals, hence  $Sq^m\gamma = 0$ . It remains to consider the case  $m \equiv 2 \pmod{4}$ . In this case we can use the Adem relations

$$Sq^2Sq^{m-2} = Sq^m + \tau Sq^{m-1}Sq^1$$

Evaluating in  $\gamma$  we get

$$Sq^m\gamma = \tau Sq^{m-1}Sq^1\gamma = \tau Q_0 Sq^{m-2}Q_0\gamma = 0$$

since  $Q_0$  is the 0 homomorphism on even diagonals. If  $m \ge 2^r$ , from Lemma 1.6.7 we have that  $Sq^m\gamma = 0$  since  $2^{r-1} \ge r-1$ , which completes the proof.

The following result shows how Milnor operations act on  $\gamma$ .

**Corollary 6.2.3.**  $Q_j \gamma = Sq^{2^j}Sq^{2^{j-1}}\cdots Sq^2Sq^1\gamma$  for any *j*.

*Proof.* We proceed by induction. Notice that the equalities  $Q_0\gamma = Sq^1\gamma$  and  $Q_1\gamma = Sq^2Q_0\gamma + Q_0Sq^2\gamma = Sq^2Sq^1\gamma$  provide us with the induction basis. Now, suppose the statement is true for values less than j > 1. Then, we have from the recursive formulas (see [28, Corollary 4]) that

$$Q_{j}\gamma = Sq^{2j}Q_{j-1}\gamma + Q_{j-1}Sq^{2j}\gamma + \rho Q_{j-1}Sq^{2j-1}Q_{j-2}\gamma = Sq^{2j}Q_{j-1}\gamma$$

since  $Sq^{2^{j-1}}Q_{j-2}\gamma = Q_{j-1}\gamma$  by induction hypothesis. Therefore, the statement holds for any *j*.

At this point we recall that  $\mu$  denotes the element  $Q_{r-2}Q_{r-3}\cdots Q_1Q_0\gamma$  in bidegree  $(2^{r-1}-1)[2^r-1]$ .

**Lemma 6.2.4.**  $Sq^{2^{r+k}}(\mu^{2^k}) = \rho^{2^k}\mu^{2^{k+1}}$  for any  $k \ge 0$ .

*Proof.* We proceed by induction. So, let us at first examine the case k = 0. In order to simplify the notation, we call  $\nu$  the element  $Q_{r-2}Q_{r-3}\cdots Q_2Q_1\gamma$  of bidegree  $(2^{r-1}-2)[2^r-1]$ . The element  $\nu$  belongs to the slope 2 line and we know from Lemmas 1.6.6 and 1.6.7 that  $Sq^{2^r-2}\nu = \nu^2$  and  $Sq^m\nu = 0$  for  $m > 2^r - 2$ . From an easy computation and from the formula  $[Q_0, Sq^{2^r}] = Q_1Sq^{2^r-2}$ , we deduce that

$$Sq^{2^{r}}\mu = Sq^{2^{r}}Q_{r-2}Q_{r-3}\cdots Q_{1}Q_{0}\gamma$$
  
=  $Q_{0}Sq^{2^{r}}Q_{r-2}Q_{r-3}\cdots Q_{2}Q_{1}\gamma + Q_{1}Sq^{2^{r}-2}Q_{r-2}Q_{r-3}\cdots Q_{2}Q_{1}\gamma$   
=  $Sq^{2^{r}+1}\nu + Q_{1}Sq^{2^{r}-2}\nu = Q_{1}(\nu^{2}) = Sq^{1}Sq^{2}(\nu^{2}) + Sq^{2}Sq^{1}(\nu^{2})$   
=  $Sq^{1}(\tau Sq^{1}\nu Sq^{1}\nu) = \rho\mu^{2}$ 

which provides the induction basis. Now, suppose the statement is true for *k*. Then, from Cartan formula we get

$$Sq^{2^{r+k+1}}(\mu^{2^{k+1}}) = \sum_{s=0}^{2^{r+k}} (Sq^{2s}(\mu^{2^k})Sq^{2^{r+k+1}-2s}(\mu^{2^k}) + \tau Sq^{2s+1}(\mu^{2^k})Sq^{2^{r+k+1}-2s-1}(\mu^{2^k})) = Sq^{2^{r+k}}(\mu^{2^k})Sq^{2^{r+k}}(\mu^{2^k}) = (\rho^{2^k}\mu^{2^{k+1}})(\rho^{2^k}\mu^{2^{k+1}}) = \rho^{2^{k+1}}\mu^{2^{k+2}}$$

that is exactly what we aimed to prove.

**Proposition 6.2.5.**  $Q_{r+k}\gamma = \rho^{2^{k+1}-1}\mu^{2^{k+1}}\gamma$  for any  $k \ge -1$ .

*Proof.* We proceed by induction. First, notice that  $Q_{r-1}\gamma = \mu\gamma$  which provides the induction basis for k = -1. Suppose the statement holds for k. Then,

$$Q_{r+k+1}\gamma = Sq^{2^{r+k+1}}Q_{r+k}\gamma = Sq^{2^{r+k+1}}(\rho^{2^{k+1}-1}\mu^{2^{k+1}}\gamma)$$
  
=  $\rho^{2^{k+1}-1}(Sq^{2^{r+k+1}}(\mu^{2^{k+1}})\gamma + \tau Sq^{2^{r+k+1}-1}(\mu^{2^{k+1}})Sq^{1}\gamma$   
+  $Sq^{2^{r+k+1}-2}(\mu^{2^{k+1}})Sq^{2}\gamma) = \rho^{2^{k+1}-1}\rho^{2^{k+1}}\mu^{2^{k+2}}\gamma = \rho^{2^{k+2}-1}\mu^{2^{k+2}}\gamma$ 

since  $Q_0$  is a monomorphism on odd diagonals and

$$Q_{0}(\tau Sq^{2^{r+k+1}-1}(\mu^{2^{k+1}})Sq^{1}\gamma + Sq^{2^{r+k+1}-2}(\mu^{2^{k+1}})Sq^{2}\gamma) =$$

$$Q_{0}(\tau Sq^{2^{r+k+1}-1}(\mu^{2^{k+1}})Q_{0}\gamma + \rho Sq^{2^{r+k+1}-2}(\mu^{2^{k+1}})Q_{0}\gamma) =$$

$$\rho Sq^{2^{r+k+1}-1}(\mu^{2^{k+1}})Q_{0}\gamma + \rho Sq^{2^{r+k+1}-1}(\mu^{2^{k+1}})Q_{0}\gamma = 0$$

This completes the proof.

The previous proposition tells us that  $Q_j \gamma = \rho^{2^{j-r+1}-1} \mu^{2^{j-r+1}} \gamma$  when  $j \ge r-1$ , which implies immediately the following corollary.

**Corollary 6.2.6.** When  $\rho = 0$ , i.e. -1 is a square in k,  $Q_i \gamma = 0$  for any j > r - 1.

Indeed, we notice that the previous corollary holds also for the more general case  $\rho \in Ann(a)$ .

### 6.3 THE ACTION OF THE MOTIVIC STEENROD ALGEBRA

Here, we compute the complete action of the motivic Steenrod algebra on Čech simplicial schemes of Pfister quadrics and, therefore, on Rost motives.

We start by proving some relations in the motivic Steenrod algebra involving Milnor operations. It is proven in [28, Remark 5] that  $[Q_j, Sq^{2^i}] = 0$  for any i < j. In the following lemma we extend this result.

**Lemma 6.3.1.**  $[Q_i, Sq^m] = 0$  for any  $m < 2^j$ .

*Proof.* Our intention is to proceed by induction. We clearly have the induction basis for m = 1, 2, 3, 4. Now, consider an even number m such that  $2^i < m < 2^{i+1}$  with i < j and suppose that the statement is true for any t < m. Then, we have the following Adem relations

$$Sq^{m-2^{i}}Sq^{2^{i}} = Sq^{m} + \sum_{t=1}^{\frac{m}{2}-2^{i-1}} {2^{i}-1-t \choose m-2^{i}-2t} \tau^{t \ mod2}Sq^{m-t}Sq^{t}$$

from which it follows that

$$[Q_j, Sq^{m-2^i}Sq^{2^i}] = [Q_j, Sq^m] + \sum_{t=1}^{\frac{m}{2}-2^{i-1}} {2^i - 1 - t \choose m - 2^i - 2t} \tau^{t \ mod2}[Q_j, Sq^{m-t}Sq^t]$$

Hence,  $[Q_j, Sq^m] = 0$  since all the other commutators in the previous formula are 0 by induction hypothesis, and the lemma is proved.

Also, from [28, Remark 5], we know that  $[Q_j, Sq^{2^j}] = \rho Q_j Q_{j-1}$ . Therefore, when  $\rho = 0$  the previous commutator is 0. This remark and the fact that Steenrod operations are expressible in terms of  $Sq^{2^i}$  allow us to extend the previous lemma in the following way.

**Lemma 6.3.2.** When  $\rho = 0$ ,  $[Q_j, Sq^m] = 0$  for any  $m < 2^{j+1}$ .

From now on, we consider only the case  $\rho = 0$ . In order to simplify the notation we write  $\gamma_j$  for the generic nonzero element  $Q_{i_1} \cdots Q_{i_n} \gamma$  with  $0 \le i_n < \cdots < i_1 < r$  and  $j = 2^{i_1} + \cdots + 2^{i_n} + 1$ . From this notation, we have naturally that  $2 \le j \le 2^r$  and we agree that  $\gamma = \gamma_1$ . We notice that clearly  $\gamma_j = Q_{r-1}\gamma_{j-2^{r-1}} = \mu\gamma_{j-2^{r-1}}$  for any  $j > 2^{r-1}$ . Our aim is to prove that every Steenrod square that, acting on some  $\gamma_j$ , hits something above the diagonal of  $\mu^2$  acts indeed trivially. We start with the following lemma.

**Lemma 6.3.3.** When  $\rho = 0$ ,  $[Q_{r-1}, Sq^m]\gamma_j = 0$  for any  $m < 2^{r+1} + 2$  and any  $j \le 2^{r-1}$ .

*Proof.* From the previous lemma, we already know that the statement holds for any  $m < 2^r$ . Since  $[Q_{r-1}, Sq^{2^r}] = Q_r$  and  $Q_r\gamma = 0$ , we get  $[Q_{r-1}, Sq^{2^r}]\gamma_j = Q_r\gamma_j = 0$ . Let *m* be an even integer such that  $2^r < m < 2^{r+1}$  and suppose the statement is true for t < m. As before, we have the Adem relations

$$Sq^{m-2^{r}}Sq^{2^{r}} = Sq^{m} + \sum_{t=1}^{\frac{m}{2}-2^{r-1}} {2^{r}-1-t \choose m-2^{r}-2t} \tau^{t \ mod2}Sq^{m-t}Sq^{t}$$

from which it follows that

$$[Q_{r-1}, Sq^{m-2^r}Sq^{2^r}]\gamma_j =$$

$$[Q_{r-1}, Sq^m]\gamma_j + \sum_{t=1}^{\frac{m}{2}-2^{r-1}} {2^r - 1 - t \choose m - 2^r - 2t} \tau^{t \mod 2} [Q_{r-1}, Sq^{m-t}Sq^t]\gamma_j$$

First, we notice that  $[Q_{r-1}, Sq^{m-2^r}] = 0$  since  $m - 2^r < 2^r$ . Hence, we get that  $[Q_{r-1}, Sq^{m-2^r}Sq^{2^r}]\gamma_j = 0$ . Similarly, since  $t \leq \frac{m}{2} - 2^{r-1} < 2^{r-1}$ , we get that  $Sq^{m-t}Sq^tQ_{r-1}\gamma_j = Sq^{m-t}Q_{r-1}Sq^t\gamma_j$ . Now, let us examine two cases:  $Sq^t\gamma_j$  is an element below the diagonal of  $\mu\gamma$ ;  $Sq^t\gamma_j$  is an element above the diagonal of  $\mu$ . In the first case,  $Sq^t\gamma_j$  is a generic element of the

form  $x\gamma_h$  where x in an element of the Milnor K-theory and  $h \leq 2^{r-1}$ , so  $Sq^{m-t}Q_{r-1}Sq^t\gamma_j = Q_{r-1}Sq^{m-t}Sq^t\gamma_j$  by induction hypothesis. In the second case,  $Sq^t\gamma_j = x\mu\gamma_h = xQ_{r-1}\gamma_h$  where x is an element of the Milnor K-theory and  $h \leq 2^{r-1}$ . Hence,

$$Sq^{m-t}Q_{r-1}Sq^t\gamma_j = xSq^{m-t}Q_{r-1}Q_{r-1}\gamma_h = 0$$

and

$$Q_{r-1}Sq^{m-t}Sq^{t}\gamma_{j} = xQ_{r-1}Sq^{m-t}Q_{r-1}\gamma_{h} = xQ_{r-1}Q_{r-1}Sq^{m-t}\gamma_{h} = 0$$

by induction hypothesis. In any case, we get that  $[Q_{r-1}, Sq^m]\gamma_j = 0$ . We finish the proof by noticing that the formula  $[Q_{r-1}, Sq^{2^{r+1}}] = Q_r Sq^{2^r}$  from [28] implies

$$[Q_{r-1}, Sq^{2^{r+1}}]\gamma_j = Q_r Sq^{2^r}\gamma_j = Sq^{2^r}Q_r\gamma_j = 0$$

since  $Q_r \gamma = 0$ .

**Proposition 6.3.4.** Considering the case  $\rho = 0$  and using the same notation as before, we have that  $Sq^m\gamma_j = 0$  when  $\frac{m}{2} + j > 2^r$ .

*Proof.* We write  $(q_j)[p_j]$  for the bidegree of  $\gamma_j$ . From Lemma 1.6.7 we know that  $Sq^m\gamma_j = 0$  for any  $m \ge 2 \max\{j+1, q_j\}$ . Clearly, the last inequality is satisfied when  $m \ge 2^{r+1} + 2$ , so we can restrict to the case  $m < 2^{r+1} + 2$ . First, we consider the case  $j \le 2^{r-1}$  and  $q_j \le 2^{r-1} - 1$ . Then, the condition  $\frac{m}{2} + j \ge 2^r + 1$  implies that

$$m \ge 2^{r+1} + 2 - 2j \ge 2^{r+1} + 2 - 2^r = 2^r + 2 \ge 2 \max\{j+1, q_j\}$$

At this point, let us study the case  $j > 2^{r-1}$ . Therefore, we have the following equality

$$Sq^m\gamma_j = Sq^mQ_{r-1}\gamma_{j-2^{r-1}} = Q_{r-1}Sq^m\gamma_{j-2^{r-1}}.$$

When  $\frac{m}{2} + j - 2^{r-1} > 2^r$ , from the first case we know that  $Sq^m\gamma_{j-2^{r-1}} = 0$  which implies that  $Sq^m\gamma_j = 0$ . Hence, we can restrict again to the case  $2^{r-1} < \frac{m}{2} + j - 2^{r-1} \le 2^r$ . In this case,  $Sq^m\gamma_{j-2^{r-1}} = xQ_{r-1}\gamma_h$ , from which it follows that

$$Sq^{m}\gamma_{j} = Q_{r-1}Sq^{m}\gamma_{j-2^{r-1}} = xQ_{r-1}Q_{r-1}\gamma_{h} = 0$$

And the proof is complete.

We already know that the relations given by  $Sq^{2^r}Sq^{2^{r-1}}\cdots Sq^2Sq^1\gamma = 0$ and  $Sq^{2^i}\gamma = 0$  for i > 0 hold when  $\rho = 0$ . Moreover, we notice that  $\tau\gamma$  is 0 since there is nothing below the diagonal of  $\gamma$  in the motivic cohomology of  $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}_a$  and  $x\gamma = 0$  for any  $x \in Ann(a)$  since multiplication by  $\tau$  is a monomorphism from the 1st to the 0th diagonal of the motivic cohomology of  $\mathfrak{X}_a$ . On the other hand, we can consider the epimorphism  $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{M}$  defined by  $\phi(\theta) = \theta \gamma$ , where  $\mathcal{A}$  is the motivic Steenrod algebra and  $\mathcal{M}$  is the left  $\mathcal{A}$ -module generated by  $\gamma$ . Let  $\mathcal{I}$  be the left ideal of  $\mathcal{A}$  corresponding to the kernel of the morphism  $\phi$ , i.e. the left ideal such that  $\mathcal{M} = \frac{\mathcal{A}}{\mathcal{I}}$ . Our aim is to prove that  $\mathcal{I}$  is generated by the previous relations. Before proceeding, we recall that, by Corollary 1.6.4,  $\mathcal{A}$  is generated as an algebra over the motivic cohomology of H by the operations  $Sq^{2^i}$  for  $i \geq 0$ .

In the following preliminary result we will denote by  $\overline{A}$  the subring of A generated by  $\tau$  and  $Sq^{2^i}$  for  $i \ge 0$ .

# **Lemma 6.3.5.** When $\rho = 0$ , for every $\theta \in \overline{A}$ , $\theta \gamma$ is either 0 or $\gamma_i$ for some j.

*Proof.* We want to proceed by induction on the square degree of  $\theta$ . The induction basis has already been proven, as we know that  $Sq^1\gamma = \gamma_2$  and  $\tau^m Sq^1\gamma = 0$  for any m > 0 since  $\tau$  commutes with Steenrod operations. Now, fix a square degree l and suppose the statement is true for cohomology operations of square degree less than l. Note that, by the remark just before this lemma, it is enough to prove the statement for monomials  $Sq^{2t_1} \cdots Sq^{2t_m}$  of square degree l since  $\tau$  commutes with every operation. Hence, by induction hypothesis, we know that  $Sq^{2t_1} \cdots Sq^{2t_m}\gamma = Sq^{2t_1}\gamma_h$ , where  $\gamma_h = Q_{i_1} \cdots Q_{i_n}\gamma$ , whether it is non-trivial. From well known recursive formulas and by induction hypothesis, we deduce the following: if  $t_1 \leq i_1$ , then

$$Sq^{2^{i_1}}\gamma_h = Q_{i_1}Sq^{2^{i_1}}\gamma_{h-2^{i_1}} = Q_{i_1}\gamma_{j-2^{i_1}} = \gamma_j$$

whether it is not 0; if  $t_1 > i_1$ , then

$$Sq^{2^{t_1}}\gamma_h = Q_{i_1}Sq^{2^{t_1}}\gamma_{h-2^{i_1}} + Q_{i_1+1}Sq^{2^{t_1}-2^{i_1+1}}\gamma_{h-2^{i_1}} = \gamma_j$$

whether it is not 0. This finishes the proof.

Now we describe the complete action of A on the motivic cohomology of the reduced Čech simplicial scheme of a Pfister quadric.

**Proposition 6.3.6.** When  $\rho = 0$ ,  $Sq^1\gamma_i = j\gamma_{i+1}$  and

$$Sq^{2^k}\gamma_j = {2j-2 \choose 2^k} {j+2^k \choose 2^k} \gamma_{j+2^{k-1}}$$

for any k > 0 and  $j + 2^{k-1} \le 2^r$ .

*Proof.* The first formula is obvious once noticed that  $Sq^1 = Q_0$  acts trivially from even to odd diagonals. In order to prove the second formula, we use an induction argument on *j*. Clearly,  $Sq^{2^k}\gamma_1 = Sq^{2^k}\gamma = 0$  which agrees
with the fact that  $\binom{0}{2^k}$  is always zero. Now suppose the claim holds for any  $h < j = 2^{i_1} + \cdots + 2^{i_n} + 1$ . If  $k \le i_1$ , then

$$Sq^{2^{k}}\gamma_{j} = Q_{i_{1}}Sq^{2^{k}}\gamma_{j-2^{i_{1}}} =$$

$$Q_{i_{1}}\binom{2j-2^{i_{1}+1}-2}{2^{k}}\binom{j-2^{i_{1}}+2^{k}}{2^{k}}\gamma_{j-2^{i_{1}}+2^{k-1}} = \binom{2j-2}{2^{k}}\binom{j+2^{k}}{2^{k}}\gamma_{j+2^{k-1}}$$

In fact,  $\binom{2j-2^{i_1+1}-2}{2^k} \equiv \binom{2j-2}{2^k} \pmod{2}$  and, when  $k < i_1$ ,  $\binom{j-2^{i_1}+2^k}{2^k} \equiv \binom{j+2^k}{2^k} \pmod{2}$  (mod 2). On the other hand, we have either  $\binom{2j-2}{2^{i_1}} \equiv 0 \pmod{2}$  or  $i_1 = i_2 + 1$ . In the second case,  $\gamma_{j-2^{i_1-1}}$  contains  $Q_{i_1}$  which implies that the element  $Q_{i_1}\binom{2j-2^{i_1+1}-2}{2^{i_1}}\binom{j}{2^{i_1}}\gamma_{j-2^{i_1-1}}$  is zero as  $\binom{2j-2}{2^{i_1}}\binom{j+2^{i_1}}{2^{i_1}}\gamma_{j+2^{i_1-1}}$ . In the case  $k = i_1 + 1$ , we get that

$$Sq^{2^{i_1+1}}\gamma_j = Q_{i_1}Sq^{2^{i_1+1}}\gamma_{j-2^{i_1}} + \gamma_{j+2^{i_1}}$$
  
=  $Q_{i_1} \binom{2j-2^{i_1+1}-2}{2^{i_1+1}} \binom{j+2^{i_1}}{2^{i_1+1}}\gamma_j + \gamma_{j+2^{i_1}}$   
=  $\gamma_{j+2^{i_1}} = \binom{2j-2}{2^{i_1+1}} \binom{j+2^{i_1+1}}{2^{i_1+1}}\gamma_{j+2^{i_1}}$ 

If  $k > i_1 + 1$ , then we notice that  $Sq^{2^k}\gamma_j$  is on the diagonal of  $\gamma_{j+2^{k-1}}$  but does not hit it. Hence, by the previous lemma we deduce that  $Sq^{2^k}\gamma_j$  is zero as  $\binom{2j-2}{2^k}\binom{j+2^k}{2^k}\gamma_{j+2^{k-1}}$  since  $2^k \ge 2^{i_1+2} \ge 2j$ . And the claim is proved.

Let us call by  $\mathcal{J}$  the left ideal of  $\mathcal{A}$  generated by  $Sq^{2^r}Sq^{2^{r-1}}\cdots Sq^2Sq^1$ ,  $Sq^{2^i}$  for any i > 0,  $\tau$  and Ann(a). We already know that  $\mathcal{J} \subseteq \mathcal{I}$ . Our aim is to prove the other side inclusion. Before starting the proof of the main theorem, we prove the following lemma.

# **Lemma 6.3.7.** When $\rho = 0$ , $Q_r \in \mathcal{J}$ .

*Proof.* What we want to prove is that it is possible to write  $Q_j$  as the sum of  $Sq^{2^j}Sq^{2^{j-1}}\cdots Sq^2Sq^1$  and  $\theta_j$ , where  $\theta_j$  belongs to the left ideal generated only by the Steenrod squares  $Sq^{2^k}$  for any k > 0. At fist we notice that  $Q_0 = Sq^1$  satisfies the previous condition. Therefore, it provides us with an induction basis. Now, suppose the condition we are considering is satisfied by  $Q_{j-1}$ . Then,

$$Q_{j} = Sq^{2^{j}}Q_{j-1} + Q_{j-1}Sq^{2^{j}} = Sq^{2^{j}}Sq^{2^{j-1}} \cdots Sq^{2}Sq^{1} + Sq^{2^{j}}\theta_{j-1} + Q_{j-1}Sq^{2^{j}}$$
$$= Sq^{2^{j}}Sq^{2^{j-1}} \cdots Sq^{2}Sq^{1} + \theta_{j}$$

where  $\theta_j = Sq^{2j}\theta_{j-1} + Q_{j-1}Sq^{2j}$ . So, the statement is true and for j = r we get that  $Q_r \in \mathcal{J}$ .

At this point we are ready to demonstrate the main result.

**Theorem 6.3.8.** When  $\rho = 0$ ,  $\mathcal{I} = \mathcal{J}$ , *i.e.*  $\mathcal{I}$  is generated as a left  $\mathcal{A}$ -module by  $Sq^{2^r}Sq^{2^{r-1}}\cdots Sq^2Sq^1$ ,  $Sq^{2^i}$  for any i > 0,  $\tau$  and Ann(a).

*Proof.* Before starting, we notice that it is enough to consider only monomials  $Sq^{2^{t_1}} \cdots Sq^{2^{t_m}}$  since  $\tau$  and elements in the Milnor K-theory commute with all Steenrod operations. We proceed by induction on the number of the hit diagonal. The induction basis is provided by the fact that the only non zero operation which hits the second diagonal acting trivially on  $\gamma$ is  $Sq^2$  that clearly belongs to  $\mathcal{J}$ . Now, suppose the statement is true for each operation that hits a diagonal below  $j + 2^{k-1}$ . Besides, suppose that  $Sq^{2^{t_1}} \cdots Sq^{2^{t_m}} \gamma = \gamma_j$  and  $Sq^{2^k}Sq^{2^{t_1}} \cdots Sq^{2^{t_m}} \gamma = 0$ . We want to prove that  $Sq^{2^k}Sq^{2^{t_1}} \cdots Sq^{2^{t_m}}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{J}$ . From our assumptions, we deduce that  $Sq^{2^{t_1}} \cdots Sq^{2^{t_m}} + Q_{i_1} \cdots Q_{i_n} \in \mathcal{I}$  which implies by induction hypothesis that  $Sq^{2^{t_1}} \cdots Sq^{2^{t_m}} + Q_{i_1} \cdots Q_{i_n} \in \mathcal{J}$ . Therefore,

$$Sq^{2^k}Sq^{2^{t_1}}\cdots Sq^{2^{t_m}}+Sq^{2^k}Q_{i_1}\cdots Q_{i_n}\in\mathcal{J}$$

So, it is enough to prove that  $Sq^{2^k}Q_{i_1}\cdots Q_{i_n} \in \mathcal{J}$ . For j = 1, there is nothing to prove. Hence, suppose from now on that j > 1. If  $k \leq i_1$ , then

$$Sq^{2^k}Q_{i_1}\cdots Q_{i_n}=Q_{i_1}Sq^{2^k}Q_{i_2}\cdots Q_{i_n}$$

At this point, we distinguish two cases. When  $k < i_1$  or  $i_1 > i_2 + 1$ , we get that  $Sq^{2^k}\gamma_{j-2^{i_1}} = 0$ . Therefore, by induction hypothesis,  $Sq^{2^k}Q_{i_2}\cdots Q_{i_n} \in \mathcal{J}$ , from which we deduce that  $Sq^{2^k}Q_{i_1}\cdots Q_{i_n} \in \mathcal{J}$ . On the other hand, the condition  $k = i_1 = i_2 + 1$  implies that

$$Q_{i_1} S q^{2^k} Q_{i_2} \cdots Q_{i_n} = Q_{i_1} Q_{i_1} Q_{i_3} \cdots Q_{i_n} + Q_{i_1} Q_{i_2} S q^{2^k} Q_{i_3} \cdots Q_{i_n}$$
$$= Q_{i_1} Q_{i_2} S q^{2^k} Q_{i_3} \cdots Q_{i_n}$$

which belongs to  $\mathcal{J}$  by induction hypothesis, since  $Sq^{2^k}\gamma_{j-2^{i_1}-2^{i_2}} = 0$ . If  $k > i_1 + 1$ , then we have that

$$Sq^{2^{k}}Q_{i_{1}}\cdots Q_{i_{n}} = Q_{i_{1}}Sq^{2^{k}}Q_{i_{2}}\cdots Q_{i_{n}} + Q_{i_{1}+1}Sq^{2^{k}-2^{i_{1}+1}}Q_{i_{2}}\cdots Q_{i_{n}}$$

Now, we recall that  $Sq^{2^k}\gamma_{j-2^{i_1}} = 0$  and  $Sq^{2^k-2^{i_1+1}}\gamma_{j-2^{i_1}} = 0$  since they both fail to hit their respective generators. Then, by induction hypothesis,  $Sq^{2^k}Q_{i_2}\cdots Q_{i_n} \in \mathcal{J}$  and  $Sq^{2^k-2^{i_1+1}}Q_{i_2}\cdots Q_{i_n} \in \mathcal{J}$ , from which we deduce that  $Sq^{2^k}Q_{i_1}\cdots Q_{i_n} \in \mathcal{J}$ . If  $k = i_1 + 1$ , then  $Sq^{2^k}\gamma_j = 0$  implies that  $i_1 = r - 1$ . In this case the formula

$$Sq^{2^r}Q_{r-1}\cdots Q_{i_n}=Q_{r-1}Sq^{2^r}Q_{i_2}\cdots Q_{i_n}+Q_rQ_{i_2}\cdots Q_{i_n}$$

implies that  $Sq^{2^r}Q_{r-1}\cdots Q_{i_n} \in \mathcal{J}$  by the previous lemma and by induction hypothesis, since  $Sq^{2^r}\gamma_{j-2^{r-1}} = 0$ . At the end, suppose that

$$Sq^{2^{k}}Sq^{2^{t_{1}}}\cdots Sq^{2^{t_{m}}}\gamma + Sq^{2^{k'}}Sq^{2^{t_{1}'}}\cdots Sq^{2^{t_{m'}'}}\gamma = 0$$

where both addends are non-trivial. Using the same trick as before we can limit ourselves to consider the sum  $Sq^{2^k}Q_{i_1}\cdots Q_{i_n} + Sq^{2^{k'}}Q_{i'_1}\cdots Q_{i'_{n'}}$ . Then,

$$Sq^{2^{k}}Q_{i_{1}}\cdots Q_{k-1}\cdots Q_{i_{n}} + Sq^{2^{k'}}Q_{i'_{1}}\cdots Q_{k'-1}\cdots Q_{i'_{n'}} =$$

$$Q_{i_{1}}\cdots Q_{k-1}Sq^{2^{k}}\cdots Q_{i_{n}} + Q_{i_{1}}\cdots Q_{k}\cdots Q_{i_{n}} +$$

$$Q_{i'_{1}}\cdots Q_{k'-1}Sq^{2^{k'}}\cdots Q_{i'_{n'}} + Q_{i'_{1}}\cdots Q_{k'}\cdots Q_{i'_{n'}} =$$

$$Q_{i_{1}}\cdots Q_{k-1}Sq^{2^{k}}\cdots Q_{i_{n}} + Q_{i'_{1}}\cdots Q_{k'-1}Sq^{2^{k'}}\cdots Q_{i'_{n'}}$$

since  $Q_{i_1} \cdots Q_k \cdots Q_{i_n} = Q_{i'_1} \cdots Q_{k'} \cdots Q_{i'_{n'}}$ . At this point we notice that both the elements  $Sq^{2^k} \cdots Q_{i_n}\gamma$  and  $Sq^{2^{k'}} \cdots Q_{i'_{n'}}\gamma$  are zero, from which we deduce that  $Sq^{2^k} \cdots Q_{i_n}$  and  $Sq^{2^{k'}} \cdots Q_{i'_{n'}}$  belong to  $\mathcal{J}$ , which shows that

$$Sq^{2^k}Q_{i_1}\cdots Q_{i_n}+Sq^{2^{k'}}Q_{i'_1}\cdots Q_{i'_{n'}}\in \mathcal{J}$$

Since the Steenrod squares  $Sq^{2^k}$  generate A as an algebra over the motivic cohomology of the point, the proof is complete.

At the end, we notice that the module we have studied consists of all the diagonals from  $\gamma$  to  $\mu^2$ , while the motivic cohomology of  $\widehat{M}_a$  consists of the diagonals from  $\gamma$  to  $\mu$ . Hence, we deduce immediately the following corollary.

**Corollary 6.3.9.** When  $\rho = 0$ , the motivic cohomology of  $\widehat{M}_a$  is the quotient of  $\mathcal{A}$  by its left ideal generated by the elements  $Sq^{2^{r-1}} \cdots Sq^2Sq^1$ ,  $Sq^{2^i}$  for any i > 0,  $\tau$  and Ann(a).

## BIBLIOGRAPHY

- J. F. Adams, Stable homotopy and generalised homology, Chicago Lectures in Mathematics. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Ill.-London, 1974.
- [2] A. Asok, M. Hoyois, M. Wendt, Affine representability results in A<sup>1</sup>homotopy theory, II: Principal bundles and homogeneous spaces, Geom. Topol. 22 (2018), no. 2, 1181-1225.
- [3] A. Asok, M. Hoyois, M. Wendt, *Generically split octonion algebras and* A<sup>1</sup>-homotopy theory, Algebra Number Theory 13 (2019), no. 3, 695-747.
- [4] A. Asok, S. Kebekus, M. Wendt, Comparing A<sup>1</sup>-h-cobordism and A<sup>1</sup>-weak equivalence, Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. (5) 17 (2017), no. 2, 531-572.
- [5] T. Bachmann, *On the invertibility of motives of affine quadrics*, Doc. Math. 22 (2017), 363-395.
- [6] T. Bachmann, A. Vishik, *Motivic equivalence of affine quadrics*, Math. Ann. 371 (2018), no. 1-2, 741-751.
- [7] J. M. Boardman, *Conditionally convergent spectral sequences*, Homotopy invariant algebraic structures (Baltimore, MD, 1998), 49-84, Contemp. Math., 239, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1999.
- [8] D.-C. Cisinski, F. Déglise, *Triangulated categories of mixed motives*, Preprint (2009), arXiv:0912.2110.
- [9] B. I. Dundas, M. Levine, P. A. Østvær, O. Röndigs, V. Voevodsky, Motivic homotopy theory, Lectures from the Summer School held in Nordfjordeid, August 2002. Universitext. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2007.
- [10] W. G. Dwyer, J. Spaliński, Homotopy theories and model categories, Handbook of algebraic topology, 73-126, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1995.
- [11] R. Elman, N. Karpenko, A. Merkurjev, *The algebraic and geometric theory of quadratic forms*, American Mathematical Society Colloquium Publications, 56. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2008.
- [12] R. Fedorov, I. Panin, A proof of the Grothendieck-Serre conjecture on principal bundles over regular local rings containing infinite fields, Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. 122 (2015), 169-193.

- [13] R. E. Field, The Chow ring of the classifying space BSO(2n, C), J. Algebra 350 (2012), 330-339.
- [14] R. Fino, *J-invariant of hermitian forms over quadratic extensions*, Pacific J. Math. 300 (2019), no. 2, 375-404.
- [15] W. Fulton, *Intersection theory*, Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete (3) [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas (3)], 2. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1984.
- [16] S. I. Gelfand, Y. I. Manin, *Methods of homological algebra*, Translated from the 1988 Russian original. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1996.
- [17] P. G. Goerss, J. F. Jardine, *Simplicial homotopy theory*, Progress in Mathematics, 174. Birkhauser Verlag, Basel, 1999.
- [18] P. Guillot, Steenrod operations on the Chow ring of a classifying space, Adv. Math. 196 (2005), no. 2, 276-309.
- [19] P. Guillot, *The Chow rings of G<sub>2</sub> and Spin*(7), J. Reine Angew. Math. 604 (2007), 137-158.
- [20] M. Harada, M. Nakada, *The motivic cohomology of BSO<sub>n</sub>*, Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 164 (2018), no. 3, 461-471.
- [21] J. Hornbostel, M. Wendt, *Chow-Witt rings of classifying spaces for symplectic and special linear groups*, J. Topol. 12 (2019), no. 3, 915-965.
- [22] M. Hoyois, S. Kelly, P. A. Østvær, The motivic Steenrod algebra in positive characteristic, J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS) 19 (2017), no. 12, 3813-3849.
- [23] J. F. Jardine, Stable homotopy theory of simplicial presheaves, Canad. J. Math. 39 (1987), no. 3, 733-747.
- [24] J. F. Jardine, *Simplicial presheaves*, J. Pure Appl. Algebra 47 (1987), no. 1, 35-87.
- [25] J. F. Jardine, Motivic symmetric spectra, Doc. Math. 5 (2000), 445-552.
- [26] N. A. Karpenko, Unitary Grassmannians, J. Pure Appl. Algebra 216 (2012), no. 12, 2586-2600.
- [27] M.-A. Knus, A. Merkurjev, M. Rost, J.-P. Tignol, *The book of involutions*, American Mathematical Society Colloquium Publications, 44. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1998.
- [28] J. I. Kylling, Recursive formulas for the motivic Milnor basis, New York J. Math. 23 (2017) 49-58.

- [29] M. Levine, F. Morel, *Algebraic cobordism*, Springer Monographs in Mathematics. Springer, Berlin, 2007.
- [30] C. Mazza, V. Voevodsky, C. Weibel, *Lecture notes on motivic cohomology*, Clay Mathematics Monographs, 2. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI; Clay Mathematics Institute, Cambridge, MA, 2006.
- [31] J. Milnor, *The Steenrod algebra and its dual*, Ann. of Math. (2) 67 (1958), 150-171.
- [32] L. A. Molina Rojas, *The Chow ring of the classifying space of Spin*<sub>8</sub>, PhD thesis (2006).
- [33] L. A. Molina Rojas, A. Vistoli, *On the Chow rings of classifying spaces for classical groups*, Rend. Sem. Mat. Univ. Padova 116 (2006), 271-298.
- [34] F. Morel, *An introduction to A<sup>1</sup>-homotopy theory*, Contemporary developments in algebraic K-theory, 357-441, ICTP Lect. Notes, XV, Abdus Salam Int. Cent. Theoret. Phys., Trieste, 2004.
- [35] F. Morel, *A*<sup>1</sup>-algebraic topology over a field, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, 2052. Springer, Heidelberg, 2012.
- [36] F. Morel, V. Voevodsky, *A*<sup>1</sup>-homotopy theory of schemes, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. No. 90 (1999), 45-143 (2001).
- [37] R. E. Mosher, M. C. Tangora, *Cohomology operations and applications in homotopy theory*, Harper & Row, Publishers, New York-London, 1968.
- [38] M. Ojanguren, Quadratic forms over regular rings, J. Indian Math. Soc. (N.S.) 44 (1980), no. 1-4, 109-116 (1982).
- [39] M. Ojanguren, I. Panin, *Rationally trivial Hermitian spaces are locally trivial*, Math. Z. 237 (2001), no. 1, 181-198.
- [40] D. Orlov, A. Vishik, V. Voevodsky, An exact sequence for K<sup>M</sup><sub>\*</sub>/2 with applications to quadratic forms, Ann. of Math. (2) 165 (2007), no. 1, 1-13.
- [41] R. Pandharipande, Equivariant Chow rings of O(k), SO(2k + 1), and SO(4), J. Reine Angew. Math. 496 (1998), 131-148.
- [42] I. Panin, *Proof of Grothendieck-Serre conjecture on principal bundles over regular local rings containing a finite field*, Preprint (2017), arXiv:1707.01767.
- [43] D. Quillen, *The mod 2 cohomology rings of extra-special 2-groups and the spinor groups*, Math. Ann. 194 (1971), 197-212.
- [44] D. Quillen, *Higher algebraic K-theory I*, Algebraic K-theory, I: Higher K-theories (Proc. Conf., Battelle Memorial Inst., Seattle, Wash., 1972), pp. 85-147. Lecture Notes in Math., Vol. 341, Springer, Berlin, 1973.

- [45] M. Rost, *The motive of a Pfister form*, Preprint (1998), https://www.math.uni-bielefeld.de/~rost/motive.html
- [46] W. Scharlau, *Quadratic and Hermitian forms*, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences], 270. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1985.
- [47] A. Smirnov, A. Vishik, *Subtle Characteristic Classes*, Preprint (2014), arXiv:1401.6661.
- [48] N. E. Steenrod, *Cohomology operations*, Lectures by N. E. Steenrod written and revised by D. B. A. Epstein. Annals of Mathematics Studies, No. 50 Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1962.
- [49] A. Suslin, V. Voevodsky, Bloch-Kato conjecture and motivic cohomology with finite coefficients, The arithmetic and geometry of algebraic cycles (Banff, AB, 1998), 117-189, NATO Sci. Ser. C Math. Phys. Sci., 548, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 2000.
- [50] R. M. Switzer, Algebraic topology homotopy and homology, Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 212. Springer-Verlag, New York-Heidelberg, 1975.
- [51] F. Tanania, *Subtle characteristic classes for Spin-torsors*, Preprint (2019), arXiv:1904.01907.
- [52] F. Tanania, *Subtle characteristic classes and Hermitian forms*, Preprint (2019), arXiv:1903.05579.
- [53] B. Totaro, *The Chow ring of a classifying space*, Algebraic K-theory (Seattle, WA, 1997), 249-281, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., 67, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1999.
- [54] G. Vezzosi, On the Chow ring of the classifying stack of PGL<sub>3,C</sub>, J. Reine Angew. Math. 523 (2000), 1-54.
- [55] A. Vishik, Motives of quadrics with applications to the theory of quadratic forms, Geometric methods in the algebraic theory of quadratic forms, 25-101, Lecture Notes in Math., 1835, Springer, Berlin, 2004.
- [56] A. Vishik, On the Chow groups of quadratic Grassmannians, Doc. Math. 10 (2005), 111-130.
- [57] A. Vistoli, On the cohomology and the Chow ring of the classifying space of *PGL*<sub>p</sub>, J. Reine Angew. Math. 610 (2007), 181-227.
- [58] V. Voevodsky, *The Milnor Conjecture*, Preprint (1996), http://www.math.uiuc.edu/K-theory/170.

- [59] V. Voevodsky, A<sup>1</sup>-homotopy theory, Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians, Vol. I (Berlin, 1998). Doc. Math. 1998, Extra Vol. I, 579-604.
- [60] V. Voevodsky, *Triangulated categories of motives over a field*, Cycles, transfers, and motivic homology theories, 188-238, Ann. of Math. Stud., 143, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, NJ, 2000.
- [61] V. Voevodsky, Reduced power operations in motivic cohomology, Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. No. 98 (2003), 1-57.
- [62] V. Voevodsky, Motivic cohomology with Z/2-coefficients, Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. No. 98 (2003), 59-104.
- [63] V. Voevodsky, *Motives over simplicial schemes*, J. K-Theory 5 (2010), no. 1, 1-38.
- [64] V. Voevodsky, *Motivic Eilenberg-Maclane spaces*, Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. No. 112 (2010), 1-99.
- [65] V. Voevodsky, *Motivic cohomology with Z/l-coefficients*, Ann. of Math. (2) 174 (2011), no. 1, 401-438.
- [66] M. Wendt, On stably trivial spin torsors over low-dimensional schemes, Q. J. Math. 69 (2018), no. 4, 1221-1251.
- [67] N. Yagita, *Chow rings of classifying spaces of extraspecial p-groups*, Recent progress in homotopy theory (Baltimore, MD, 2000), 397-409, Contemp. Math., 293, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2002.
- [68] N. Yagita, Applications of Atiah-Hirzebruch spectral sequences for motivic cobordisms, Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) 90 (2005), no. 3, 783-816.
- [69] N. Yagita, Coniveau filtration of cohomology of groups, Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3) 101 (2010), no. 1, 179-206.